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UNITED STATES  

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  
Washington, D.C. 20549  

   

FORM 8-K  
   

CURRENT REPORT  
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934  

   
Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported):  

March 23, 2015  
   

Commission file number: 001-35653  
   

Sunoco LP  
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)  

   

   
555 East Airtex Drive  
Houston, TX 77073  

(Address of principal executive offices, including zip code)  
   

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (832) 234-3600  
   

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of 
the following provisions:  
   
�             Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)  
   
�             Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)  
   
�             Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))  
   
�             Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))  
   
   
   

 

Delaware  
   30-0740483  

(State or other jurisdiction of  
   (IRS Employer  

Incorporation or organization)  
   Identification No.)  



   
Item 1.01. Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement  
   
Contribution Agreement for Acquisition of Membership Interests in Sunoco, LLC  
   

On March 23, 2015, Sunoco LP (the “Partnership”) entered into a Contribution Agreement (the “Contribution Agreement”) with 
Sunoco, LLC (the “Company”), ETP Retail Holdings, LLC (“ETP Retail”) and Energy Transfer Partners, L.P. (“ETP”). Pursuant to the terms 
of the Contribution Agreement, the Partnership agreed to acquire from ETP Retail 31.58% of the issued and outstanding membership interests 
in the Company (the “Membership Interests”) (the “Transaction”). Pursuant to the terms of the Contribution Agreement, ETP has agreed to 
guarantee all of the obligations of ETP Retail under the Contribution Agreement.  

   
The Company is primarily engaged in the wholesale distribution of motor fuels across more than 26 states throughout the East Coast 

and Southeast regions of the United States from Maine to Florida and from Florida to Louisiana. The Company purchases motor fuel through 
its supply and trading group primarily from independent refiners and major oil companies, along with other major market participants, and 
distributes it to (i) Sunoco Inc. for resale at its approximately 440 company-operated Sunoco and APlus branded convenience stores and other 
retail fuel outlets, primarily in the East Coast and Southeast regions of the United States; (ii) 882 Sunoco branded dealer locations pursuant to 
long-term fuel supply agreements; (iii) other wholesale distributors of Sunoco branded fuel to an additional 3,640 independently operated third-
party retail fuel outlets; and (iv) approximately 400 other commercial customers on a spot or short-term contract basis. The Company also 
receives rental income from approximately 425 properties that it leases or subleases to third-party operators and receives income from the 
manufacture and sale of race fuels from its Marcus Hook, Pennsylvania manufacturing plant.  

   
Subject to the terms and conditions of the Contribution Agreement, at the closing of the Transaction, the Partnership will pay ETP 

Retail approximately $775.0 million in cash (the “Cash Consideration”) and issue to ETP Retail approximately $40.8 million of common units 
(“Common Units”) representing limited partner interests of the Partnership, based on the five day volume weighted average price of the 
Partnership’s common units as of March 20, 2015 (collectively with the Cash Consideration, the “Contribution Consideration”). The Common 
Units to be issued to ETP Retail as part of the Contribution Consideration will be issued and sold in a private transaction exempt from 
registration under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”).  

   
Under the Contribution Agreement, it is a condition to the closing of the Transaction that the Partnership incur a new and separate 

borrowing (the “Contribution Debt”) that will be used by the Partnership to fund the Cash Consideration under the Contribution Agreement and 
pay certain other expenses or disbursements directly related to the closing of the Contribution Agreement. The Contribution Agreement 
provides that at the closing of the Transaction, (i) ETP Retail will enter into a guarantee of collection (the “Guarantee of Collection”) with the 
Partnership, pursuant to which ETP Retail will provide a guarantee of collection to the Partnership with respect to the payment of the principal 
amount of the Contribution Debt and (ii) each of Sunoco, Inc. (R&M) (“Sunoco R&M”) and Atlantic Refining & Marketing Corp. (“Atlantic 
Refining” and, together with Sunoco R&M, the “Support Providers”), each an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of ETP, will enter into a 
separate support agreement (the “Support Agreements”) with ETP Retail and the Partnership, pursuant to which the applicable Support 
Provider will agree to provide contingent residual support to ETP Retail with respect to ETP Retail’s obligations under the Guarantee of 
Collection to support the payment of the Contribution Debt, subject to a cap equal, in the case of each of the Support Providers, to the amount 
of Cash Consideration distributed to such Support Provider by ETP Retail.  

   
The Contribution Agreement contains customary representations and warranties, indemnification obligations and covenants by the 

parties. The Contribution Agreement may be terminated by the Partnership or ETP Retail if the Transactions shall not have been consummated 
on or prior to July 23, 2015, which such date may be extended by ETP Retail by up to 90 days in certain circumstances. Consummation of the 
Transaction is expected to occur in April 2015 and is subject to customary closing conditions. There can be no assurance that all of the closing 
conditions will be satisfied or that anticipated benefits of the Transaction will be realized.  
   

Sunoco GP LLC, the general partner of the Partnership (the “General Partner”), holds a non-economic general partner interest in the 
Partnership. ETP (i) indirectly owns Common Units and subordinated units representing an approximately 42.8% limited partner interest in the 
Partnership, (ii) indirectly owns the general partner interest in the Partnership through ETP’s ownership of the General Partner and (iii) directly 
owns 100% of the outstanding incentive distribution rights in the Partnership. ETP Retail is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of ETP.  
   

The Contribution Agreement and the above descriptions have been included to provide investors and security holders with information 
regarding the terms of the Contribution Agreement. They are not intended to provide any other factual information about the Partnership, the 
Company, ETP Retail, ETP or their respective subsidiaries, affiliates or equity holders. The representations, warranties and covenants 
contained in the Contribution Agreement were made only for purposes of that agreement and as of specific dates; were solely for the benefit of 
the parties to the Contribution Agreement; and may be subject to limitations agreed upon by the parties, including being qualified by 
confidential disclosures made by each contracting party to the other as a  
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way of allocating contractual risk between them that differ from those applicable to investors. Moreover, the subject matter of the 
representations and warranties are subject to more recent developments. Accordingly, investors should be aware that these representations, 
warranties and covenants or any description thereof alone may not describe the actual state of affairs of the Partnership, the Company, ETP 
Retail, ETP or their respective subsidiaries, affiliates or equity holders as of the date they were made or at any other time.  

   
The foregoing description is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Contribution Agreement, 

which is filed as Exhibit 2.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated in this Item 1.01 by reference.  
   

Item 3.02. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities.  
   

On March 23, 2015, the Partnership entered into the Contribution Agreement pursuant to which it will issue 795,482 Common Units 
to ETP Retail as partial consideration for the Transaction as described above.  The information relating to the Contribution Agreement set forth 
under the heading “Contribution Agreement for Acquisition of Membership Interest in Sunoco, LLC” under Item 1.01 is incorporated by 
reference into this Item 3.02.  
   

The 795,482 Common Units to be issued to ETP Retail will be issued and sold in a private transaction exempt from registration under 
Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.  
   
Item 7.01. Regulation FD Disclosure.  
   

On March 23, 2015, the Partnership issued a press release announcing entry into the Contribution Agreement.  A copy of the press 
release is furnished as Exhibit 99.1 hereto and is incorporated by reference herein.  
   

Certain information regarding the Company and its assets and operations and the Partnership are set forth in Exhibit 99.2 hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference.  
   

The information furnished pursuant to this Item 7.01, including Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2 hereto, shall not be deemed “filed” for the 
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that Section. The 
information in Item 7.01 of this Current Report shall not be incorporated by reference into any registration statement or other document 
pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except as otherwise expressly stated in such filing.  

   
Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.  
   

(a)  Financial Statements of Businesses Acquired.  
   
The audited financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2013 and 2014 and for each of the two years in the period ended 

December 31, 2014 are filed as Exhibit 99.3 hereto and incorporated by reference into this Item 9.01(a).  
   

(b)  Pro Forma Financial Information.  
   
The following pro forma financial statements of the Partnership reflecting (i) the consummation of our acquisitions of Mid-Atlantic 

Convenience Stores, LLC in October 2014 and Aloha Petroleum, Ltd. in December 2014 and the related financings and (ii) the consummation 
of the Transaction and the related financing with a combination of debt and the issuance to ETP Retail of 795,482 Common Units, have been 
prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation S-X, are filed as Exhibit 99.4 hereto and are incorporated herein by reference:  
   

•                   Unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of December 31, 2014;  
   
•                   Unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2014; and  
   
•                   Notes to unaudited pro forma combined financial statements.  
   
(d)         Exhibits.  

   

   

Exhibit  
Number  

   Description  
2.1*  

   
Contribution Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2015, by and among Sunoco, LLC, ETP Retail Holdings, LLC, Sunoco LP and 
Energy Transfer Partners, L.P.  

         
23.1  

   Consent of Grant Thornton LLP.  
         

99.1  
   Press Release issued by Sunoco LP on March 23, 2015.  

         
99.2  

   Sunoco, LLC Business.  
         

99.3  
   

Audited Financial Statements as of December 31, 2013 and 2014 and for each of the two years in the period ended 
December 31, 2014 of Sunoco, LLC.  
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*                                    The registrant has omitted the schedules to this exhibit pursuant to the provisions of Regulation S-K, Item 601(b)(2). The registrant 
shall supplementary furnish a copy of the omitted schedules to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.  
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99.4  
   Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Financial Statements of Sunoco LP.  



   
SIGNATURES  

   
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 

behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.  
   
   

   
5  

 

   
SUNOCO LP  

      
   

By:  SUNOCO GP LLC,  
      

its General Partner  
      
      
  Date: March 23, 2015  By:  /s/ Mary E. Sullivan  
   

Name:  Mary E. Sullivan  
   

Title:  Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and 
Treasurer  



   
SUNOCO LP  

   
EXHIBIT INDEX  

   

   

*                                          The registrant has omitted the schedules to this exhibit pursuant to the provisions of Regulation S-K, Item 601(b)(2). The registrant 
shall supplementary furnish a copy of the omitted schedules to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.  
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Exhibit 2.1 
  

EXECUTION VERSION 
   

CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT  
   

BY AND AMONG  
   

SUNOCO, LLC,  
   

AS THE COMPANY,  
   

ETP RETAIL HOLDINGS, LLC,  
   

AS CONTRIBUTOR,  
   

SUNOCO LP,  
   

AS ACQUIROR,  
   

AND SOLELY WITH RESPECT TO SECTION 10.19 AND THE OT HER PROVISIONS  
   

RELATED THERETO,  
   

ENERGY TRANSFER PARTNERS, L.P.,  
   

AS CONTRIBUTOR GUARANTOR  
   

DATED AS OF MARCH 23, 2015  
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CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT  

   
This CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”), dated as of March 23, 2015, is made by and among Sunoco, 

LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “ Company ”), ETP Retail Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ Contributor 
”), Sunoco LP, a Delaware limited partnership (“ Acquiror ”), and solely with respect to Section 10.19 and the other provisions related thereto, 
Energy Transfer Partners, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“ Contributor Guarantor ”).  The Company, Contributor, Acquiror and 
Contributor Guarantor shall be referred to herein from time to time collectively as the “ Parties ”.  Capitalized terms used but not otherwise 
defined herein have the meanings set forth in Section 1.1 .  

   
WHEREAS, Contributor is the sole member of the Company and owns beneficially and of record all of the issued and 

outstanding membership interests of the Company (referred to herein as the “ Membership Interests ”); and  
   
WHEREAS, the Parties desire that, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, Contributor will contribute, transfer, assign 

and convey to Acquiror, thirty-one and fifty-eight one hundredths percent (31.58%) of the Membership Interests (the “ Acquired Interests ”), 
which Acquired Interests would be subsequently contributed, transferred, assigned and conveyed by Acquiror to Susser Petroleum Operating 
Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ SPOC ”).  

   
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual promises contained herein and for other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as 
follows:  

   
ARTICLE 1  

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS  
   

Section 1.1                                     Definitions .  As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the respective meanings set forth below.  
   
“ A&R Company LLC Agreement ” means the Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of the Company, in the form attached as 

Exhibit A hereto.  
   
“ Acquired Interests ” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.  
   
“ Acquiror ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.  
   
“ Acquiror Certificate ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(b)(v) .  
   
“ Acquiror Common Units ” means common units representing limited partner interests in Acquiror.  
   
“ Acquiror Debt ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4 .  
   
“ Acquiror Fundamental Representations ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.4(c) .  

   

 



   
“ Acquiror Group ” means, collectively, Acquiror and each of its Subsidiaries.  
   
“ Acquiror Indemnitees ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2 .  
   
“ Acquiror Material Adverse Effect ” means any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change that has, or would reasonably be 

expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on (a) the financial condition, business, properties or results of 
operations of the Acquiror Group, taken as a whole, or (b) the ability of the Acquiror to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby; 
provided , however , that any adverse change, event, occurrence, fact, condition or effect arising from or related to (i) conditions affecting the 
United States economy generally, (ii) any national or international political or social conditions, including the engagement by the United States 
in hostilities, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national emergency or war, or the occurrence of any military or terrorist attack 
upon the United States, or any of its territories, possessions, or diplomatic or consular offices or upon any military installation, equipment or 
personnel of the United States, (iii) financial, banking or securities markets (including any disruption thereof and any decline in the price of any 
security or any market index), (iv) changes in GAAP, (v) any changes in the cost of products, supplies and materials purchased from third party 
suppliers (including any changes in fuel or commodity prices), (vi) any failure, in and of itself, by any Acquiror Group to meet any internal or 
published projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions for any period ending on or after the date of this Agreement ( provided that 
the underlying causes of any failure to meet such internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions, to the extent 
not otherwise excluded from the definition of “Acquiror Material Adverse Effect”, shall not be disregarded and may be considered in 
determining whether a “Acquiror Material Adverse Effect” has occurred), (vii) changes in any Laws, rules, regulations, orders, or other binding 
directives issued by any Governmental Entity, (viii) any change that is generally applicable to the industries or markets in which the Acquiror 
Group operate unless such change disproportionately affects (relative to other participants in the industry) the Acquiror Group taken as a 
whole, (ix) the public announcement of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (x) the taking of any action required by this 
Agreement and the other agreements contemplated hereby, shall not be taken into account in determining whether a “Acquiror Material 
Adverse Effect” has occurred or would reasonably be expected to occur.  

   
“ Acquiror Partnership Agreement ” means the First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Acquiror, as 

amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto.  
   
“ Acquiror SEC Documents ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.5(a) .  
   
“ Affiliate ” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person who directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, 

controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person.  The term “control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the 
power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by 
contract or otherwise, and the terms “controlled” and “controlling” have meanings correlative thereto.  

   
“ Aggregate Cap ” means an amount equal to the Consideration.  
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“ Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.  
   
“ Alternative Arrangements ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.4(i) .  
   
“ Ancillary Documents ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3 .  
   
“ Assignment ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a)(i) .  
   
“ Atlantic Refining ” means Atlantic Refining & Marketing Corp., a Delaware corporation.  
   
“ Business Day ” means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which commercial banks in New York City and Dallas, Texas are 

open for the general transaction of business.  
   
“ Cap ” means an amount equal to ten percent (10%) of the Consideration.  
   
“ Cash Consideration ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(b) .  
   
“ Chancery Court ” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.15 .  
   
“ Closing ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2 .  
   
“ Closing Date ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2 .  
   
“ COBRA ” means Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA and Section 4980B of the Code.  
   
“ Code ” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations and administrative guidance promulgated 

thereunder.  
   
“ Company ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.  
   
“ Company Certificate ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a)(iii) .  
   
“ Company Financial Statements ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4 .  
   
“ Company Material Adverse Effect ” means any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change that has, or would reasonably be 

expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on (a) the financial condition, business, properties or results of 
operations of the Company, or (b) the ability of Contributor or the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby; provided , 
however , that any adverse change, event, occurrence, fact, condition or effect arising from or related to (i) conditions affecting the United 
States economy generally, (ii) any national or international political or social conditions, including the engagement by the United States in 
hostilities, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of a national emergency or war, or the occurrence of any military or terrorist attack upon 
the United States, or any of its territories, possessions, or diplomatic or consular offices or upon any military installation, equipment or 
personnel of the United States, (iii) financial, banking or securities markets (including any disruption thereof and any decline in the price of any 
security or any market index), (iv) changes in GAAP, (v) any changes in the cost of products, supplies and materials purchased from third party 
suppliers (including any changes in fuel or commodity  
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prices), (vi) any failure, in and of itself, by the Company to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings 
predictions for any period ending on or after the date of this Agreement ( provided that the underlying causes of any failure to meet such 
internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions, to the extent not otherwise excluded from the definition of 
“Company Material Adverse Effect”, shall not be disregarded and may be considered in determining whether a “Company Material Adverse 
Effect” has occurred), (vii) changes in any Laws, rules, regulations, orders, or other binding directives issued by any Governmental Entity, 
(viii) any change that is generally applicable to the industries or markets in which the Company operates unless such change disproportionately 
affects (relative to other participants in the industry) the Company, (ix) the public announcement of the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement (including by reason of the identity of Acquiror or any public communication by Acquiror or any of its Affiliates regarding its plans 
or intentions with respect to the business of the Company, and including the impact thereof on relationships with customers, suppliers, 
distributors, partners, dealers or employees of the Company) or (x) the taking of any action required by this Agreement and the other 
agreements contemplated hereby, shall not be taken into account in determining whether a “Company Material Adverse Effect” has occurred or 
would reasonably be expected to occur.  
   

“ Company Material Contracts ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.6(a) .  
   
“ Consideration ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(b) .  
   
“ Contracts ” means all contracts, leases, deeds, licenses, notes, commitments, undertakings, indentures, and all other agreements, 

commitments and legally binding arrangements, whether written or oral.  
   
“ Contributor ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.  
   
“ Contributor Fundamental Representations ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.4(a) .  
   
“ Contributor Guarantees ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.7(a).  
   
“ Contributor Guarantor ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.  
   
“ Contributor Indemnitees ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.3 .  
   
“ Contributor Taxes ” means, without duplication, (a) all Taxes due and owing, by or with respect to, and all Taxes imposed on or 

incurred by or with respect to, the Company or its assets or operations for any Pre-Closing Tax Period (determined in accordance with the 
definition of Pre-Closing Tax Period); (b) all Taxes of any affiliated, combined, consolidated, unitary or similar group of which the Company 
(or any predecessor of the Company) is or was a member on or prior to the Closing Date by reason of Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6
(a) or any analogous or similar foreign, state or local Law; (c) Taxes of any other Person for which the Company is or has been liable as a 
transferee or successor, by Contract or otherwise, by reason of a transaction or a relationship occurring or existing prior to the Closing; (d) any 
Transfer Taxes that Contributor is obligated to pay as set forth in Section 6.2(f) ; and (e) Transfer Taxes  
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paid by the Company with respect to transfers or assignments under any of the Existing Contribution Agreements that occur on or after the 
Closing Date.  
   

“ Controlled Group Liabilities ” means any and all liabilities and obligations of a Person arising under ERISA, the provisions of the 
Code relating to or affecting Employee Benefit Plans or corresponding or similar provisions of any foreign Laws of a character that if unpaid or 
unperformed could result in the imposition of a Lien or encumbrance against the assets, or a liability or obligation, of another Person, including 
(a) under Title IV of ERISA, (b) under Sections 206(g), 302 or 303 of ERISA, (c) under Sections 412, 430, 431, 436 or 4971 of the Code, 
(d) as a result of the failure to comply with the continuation of coverage requirements of COBRA or similar state Law or (e) under 
corresponding or similar provisions of any foreign Laws.  

   
“ Cut-Off Date ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1 .  
   
“ Dealer ” means a Person who operates one or more facilities of the Company as a gasoline fueling and service station and/or 

convenience store with gasoline fueling operations.  
   
“ Debt Financing ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.10(a) .  
   
“ Deductible ” means an amount equal to one-half of one percent (0.5%) of the Consideration.  
   
“ Delaware LLC Act ” means the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act, as amended.  
   
“ Delaware LP Act ” means the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act, as amended.  
   
“ Direct Claim ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5(c) .  
   
“ Employee Benefit Plan ” means each (i) “employee benefit plan,” as such term is defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA (including 

employee benefit plans, such as foreign plans or plans for directors, which are not subject to the provisions of ERISA) or (ii) personnel policy, 
equity option plan, equity appreciation rights plan, restricted equity plan, phantom equity plan, or other equity-based compensation 
arrangement, simple retirement account plan or arrangement, bonus plan or arrangement, incentive award plan or arrangement, vacation policy, 
severance pay plan, policy or agreement, deferred compensation agreement or arrangement, executive compensation or supplemental income 
arrangement, retention plan or agreement, change in control plan or agreement, consulting agreement, employment agreement, or any other 
employee or service provider compensation or benefit plan, program, policy, practice or agreement that is not described in clause (i).  

   
“ Environmental Laws ” means all federal, state and local Laws concerning pollution or protection of the environment, as such of the 

foregoing are promulgated and in effect on or prior to the Closing Date.  
   
“ Equity Percentage ” means the percentage of the total Membership Interests represented by the Acquired Interests.  
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“ ERISA ” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the regulations and administrative 

guidance promulgated thereunder.  
   
“ Exchange Act ” means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated 

thereunder.  
   
“ Existing Contribution Agreements ” means that certain Contribution Agreement between Sunoco R&M and the Company dated 

June 1, 2014 and the documents executed in connection therewith, that certain Contribution Agreement between Atlantic Refining and the 
Company dated June 1, 2014, and that certain Refinery Units Contribution Agreement between Sunoco R&M and PES Equity Holdings, LLC 
dated June 1, 2014.  

   
“ Financing Agreements ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.10(a) .  
   
“ GAAP ” means United States generally accepted accounting principles.  
   
“ Governing Documents ” means the legal document(s) by which any Person (other than an individual) establishes its legal existence 

or which govern its internal affairs.  For example, the “Governing Documents” of a corporation are its certificate of incorporation and by-laws, 
the “Governing Documents” of a limited partnership are its limited partnership agreement and certificate of limited partnership and the 
“Governing Documents” of a limited liability company are its operating agreement and certificate of formation.  

   
“ Governmental Entity ” means any (i) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other government or political subdivision thereof, or 

any agency or instrumentality of such government or political subdivision, (ii) governmental or quasi-governmental entity of any nature 
(including any governmental agency, branch, department, official, or entity and any court or other tribunal) or (iii) body exercising or entitled 
to exercise any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory, or Taxing Authority or power of any nature, including any 
arbitral tribunal.  

   
“ Guarantee of Collection ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a)(vii) .  
   
“ Guaranteed Obligations ” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.19(a) .  
   
“ Hazardous Substances ” means (a) those substances, materials or wastes defined as “toxic”, “hazardous”, “acutely hazardous”, 

“pollutants”, “contaminants”, or otherwise regulated under Environmental Laws due to their dangerous or deleterious properties and 
characteristics; (b) petroleum and petroleum products, including crude oil and any fractions thereof; and (c) polychlorinated biphenyls, asbestos 
(and asbestos containing materials).  

   
“ Indemnified Party ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5 .  
   
“ Indemnifying Party ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5 .  
   
“ Issue Price ” means $51.28 per Acquiror Common Unit.  
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“ Latest Acquiror Balance Sheet ” means the consolidated balance sheet of Acquiror included in the most recently filed Form 10-K 

included among the Acquiror SEC Documents, as of the date of this Agreement.  
   
“ Latest Company Balance Sheet ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4(b) .  
   
“ Law ” means all Laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, regulations, rules and similar mandates of any Governmental Entity, including all 

applicable Orders.  
   
“ Leased Real Property ” means all real property of which the Company is a tenant pursuant to a Material Real Property Lease.  
   
“ Lien ” means any mortgage, pledge, security interest, encumbrance, lien (statutory or otherwise), priority, charge, right of first 

refusal, deed of trust, option, proxy, voting trust, encroachment, easement, right-of-way, license to a third party, lease to a third party, or other 
right of others or restriction on transfer, or any agreement to give any of the foregoing.  

   
“ Losses ” means losses, damages, liabilities, judgments, interest, awards, penalties, fines, costs or expenses, including reasonable 

attorneys’ fees; provided , however , that, except as provided below, “Losses” shall in no event include any consequential damages or punitive, 
special, exemplary or indirect damages; provided , further , that any consequential damages or punitive, special, exemplary or indirect damages 
shall be deemed to be “Losses” solely to the extent such damages were actually awarded pursuant to a Third Party Claim.  

   
“ Material Company Permits ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.9 .  
   
“ Material Real Property Lease ” means each lease listed on Schedule 1.1(a) .  
   
“ Membership Interests ” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.  
   
“ Order ” means any judgment, order, decision, writ, injunction, ruling, award or decree of, or any settlement under the jurisdiction of, 

any Governmental Entity.  
   
“ Owned Real Property ” means all land, together with all buildings, structures, improvements and fixtures located thereon, and all 

easements and other rights and interests appurtenant thereto, owned by the Company.  
   
“ Parties ” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.  
   
“ Per Claim Deductible ” means $50,000.  
   
“ Per Diem Taxes ” means the real, personal and intangible property Taxes and any other Taxes of the Company for any Pre-Closing 

Tax Period that are levied on a per diem basis.  
   
“ Permitted Liens ” means (i) mechanic’s, materialmen’s, carriers’, repairers’ and other Liens arising or incurred in the ordinary 

course of business for amounts that are not yet delinquent or are being contested in good faith, (ii) Liens for Taxes, assessments or other 
governmental charges not yet due and payable as of the Closing Date or which are being  
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contested in good faith and for which adequate reserves have been provided in accordance with GAAP, (iii) encumbrances and restrictions on 
real property (including easements, covenants, conditions, rights of way and similar restrictions) that do not materially interfere with the 
Company’s present uses or occupancy of such real property, (iv) Liens granted to any lender at the Closing in connection with any financing by 
Acquiror of the transactions contemplated hereby, (v) zoning, building codes and other land use Laws regulating the use or occupancy of real 
property or the activities conducted thereon which are imposed by any Governmental Entity having jurisdiction over such real property and 
which are not violated by the current use or occupancy of such real property or the operation of the businesses of the Company or any violation 
of which would not have had or reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (vi) matters that would be disclosed by an 
accurate survey or inspection of the real property, (vii) Liens described on Schedule 1.1(b)  and (viii) any right, interest, Lien or title of a 
licensor, sublicensor, licensee, sublicensee, lessor or sublessor under any license or lease agreement or in the property being leased or licensed, 
which has been disclosed to Acquiror.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Lien or encumbrance arising under or with respect to an Employee 
Benefit Plan shall be a Permitted Lien.  
   

“ Person ” means an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, joint stock company, unincorporated organization 
or association, Governmental Entity, trust, joint venture, association or other similar entity, whether or not a legal entity.  

   
“ Pre-Closing Tax Period ” means any taxable year or period that ends on or before the Closing Date and, with respect to any taxable 

year or period beginning before and ending after the Closing Date, the portion of such taxable year or period ending on but excluding the 
Closing Date.  For purposes of this Agreement, in the case of any taxable year or period of the Company which includes the Closing Date (but 
does not end on that day), (i) Per Diem Taxes allocable to the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be equal to the amount of such Per Diem Taxes for 
the entire taxable year or period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days during the taxable year or period that 
are in the Pre-Closing Tax Period and the denominator of which is the number of days in the entire taxable year or period, and (ii) Taxes (other 
than Per Diem Taxes) of the Company for the Pre-Closing Tax Period shall be computed as if such taxable year or period (and the taxable year 
or period of any entity taxable as a partnership in which the Company owns a direct or indirect interest) ended as of the open of business on the 
Closing Date.  

   
“ Pre-Closing Tax Refund ” means (i) any refund of Taxes for a taxable period ending on or before the Closing Date received by the 

Company after the Closing Date and (ii) the amount of any refund of Taxes that would have been received by the Company had any taxable 
period that includes but does not end on the Closing Date ended on the Closing Date.  

   
“ Proceeding ” means any action, suit, claim, hearing, proceeding, arbitration, investigation, audit, inquiry, or mediation by or before 

any Governmental Entity or other Person.  
   
“ Real Property ” means Owned Real Property and Leased Real Property.  
   
“ Schedules ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.8(b) .  
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“ SEC ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.5(a) .  
   
“ Secondment Agreement ” means that certain Employee Secondment Agreement between the Company and Sunoco R&M dated 

June 1, 2014.  
   
“ Securities Act ” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.  
   
“ SPOC ” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.  
   
“ Straddle Periods ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(b) .  
   
“ Subsidiary ” means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association, or other 

business entity of which (i) if a corporation, a majority of the total voting power of shares of stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of 
any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers, or trustees thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by 
such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof or (ii) if a limited liability company, partnership, 
association, or other business entity (other than a corporation), a majority of the partnership or other similar ownership interests thereof is at the 
time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof and for 
this purpose, a Person or Persons own a majority ownership interest in such a business entity (other than a corporation) if such Person or 
Persons shall be allocated a majority of such business entity’s gains or losses or shall be a, or control any, managing director or general partner 
of such business entity (other than a corporation).  The term “Subsidiary” shall include all Subsidiaries of such Subsidiary.  

   
“ Sunoco Finance ” means Sunoco Finance Corp., a Delaware corporation.  
   
“ Sunoco R&M ” means Sunoco, Inc. (R&M), a Pennsylvania corporation.  
   
“ Support Agreements ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a)(viii) .  
   
“ Tax ” means any federal, state, local or foreign income, gross receipts, franchise, estimated, alternative minimum, add-on minimum, 

sales, use, transfer, real property gains, registration, value added, excise, natural resources, severance, stamp, occupation, windfall profits, 
environmental (under Section 59A of the Code), customs, duties, real property, personal property, capital stock, social security (or similar), 
unemployment, disability, payroll, license, employee or other withholding, or other tax, of any kind whatsoever and any interest, penalties or 
additions to tax in respect of the foregoing (whether disputed or not).  

   
“ Taxing Authority ” means, with respect to any Tax, the Governmental Entity that imposes such Tax and the agency (if any) charged 

with the collection or administration of such Tax for such entity.  
   
“ Tax Proceeding ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(d) .  
   
“ Tax Return ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.11(a) .  
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“ Termination Date ” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.1(d) .  
   
“ Third Party Claim ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.5(a) .  
   
“ Transfer Taxes ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(f) .  
   
“ Unit Consideration ” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(b).  
   
“ Update ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.8(b) .  
   

ARTICLE 2  
CONTRIBUTION  

   
Section 2.1                                     Contribution of the Acquired Interests .  
   

(a)                                  Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing, Contributor shall 
contribute, transfer, assign and convey to Acquiror the Acquired Interests, free and clear of all Liens (other than restrictions on transfer 
imposed by applicable federal, state and other securities Laws), in exchange for the Consideration. Immediately thereafter, Acquiror shall 
contribute, transfer, assign and convey to SPOC the Acquired Interests.  

   
(b)                                  The consideration to be delivered by Acquiror to Contributor in exchange for the contribution of the Acquired 

Interests at the Closing shall be an amount equal to $815,789,470.00 (the “ Consideration ”), which amount shall be payable by cash in the 
amount of $775,000,013.00 (the “ Cash Consideration ”) and the issuance by Acquiror of 795,482 Acquiror Common Units, valued at the Issue 
Price (the “ Unit Consideration ”).  The issuance by Acquiror of the Unit Consideration to Contributor shall be free and clear of all Liens (other 
than restrictions on transfer imposed by applicable federal, state and other securities Laws).  

   
(c)                                   Concurrently with the contribution by Acquiror to SPOC of the Acquired Interests, SPOC shall be admitted as a 

member of the Company for all purposes under the A&R Company LLC Agreement.  
   

Section 2.2                                     Closing of the Transactions Contemplated by this Agreement .  The closing of the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement (the “ Closing ”) shall take place at 10:00 a.m., Houston time, on the third (3 ) Business Day after satisfaction (or waiver) of the 
conditions set forth in Article 7 (other than those conditions to be satisfied by the delivery of documents or taking of any other action at the 
Closing by any Party, but subject to the satisfaction thereof) (the “ Closing Date ”) at the offices of Vinson & Elkins, L.L.P., 1001 Fannin 
Street, Suite 2500, Houston, Texas 77002, unless another time, date or place is agreed to in writing by Acquiror and Contributor.  In lieu of a 
physical Closing, the parties agree that all requisite Closing documents may be exchanged electronically at the Closing, and that documents so 
exchanged shall be binding for all purposes.  

   
Section 2.3                                     Deliveries at the Closing .  
   

(a)                                  Deliveries by Contributor .  At the Closing, Contributor shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Acquiror, each of 
the following:  
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(i)                                      a counterpart of an Assignment of Membership Interests, in the form attached as Exhibit B hereto (the “ 

Assignment ”), duly executed by Contributor;  
   
(ii)                                   a counterpart of the A&R Company LLC Agreement, duly executed by Contributor;  
   
(iii)                                a certificate of an authorized officer of the Company and Contributor, dated as of the Closing Date, to the 

effect that the conditions specified in Section 7.2(a) , Section 7.2(b)  and Section 7.2(c)  have been satisfied by the Company and Contributor 
(the “ Company Certificate ”);  

   
(iv)                               a certified copy of the resolutions of the Company’s and Contributor’s board of managers (or other 

governing body) authorizing the execution and delivery of the Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby;  
   
(v)                                  a certificate that meets the requirements of Treasury Regulation Section 1.1445-2(b)(2) stating that 

Contributor is not a foreign person as defined in said Section 1445 and applicable regulations thereunder;  
   
(vi)                               a certificate of good standing of the Company as of a recent date certified by the Secretary of State of the 

State of Delaware;  
   
(vii)                            a counterpart of the Guarantee of Collection, in the form attached as Exhibit C hereto (the “ Guarantee of 

Collection ”), duly executed by Contributor; and  
   
(viii)                         a counterpart of each of the Support Agreements, in the form attached as Exhibit D-1 and Exhibit D-2 

hereto (the “ Support Agreements ”), duly executed by Contributor and Sunoco R&M or Atlantic Refining, as applicable.  
   

(b)                                  Deliveries by Acquiror .  At the Closing, Acquiror shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Contributor, each of the 
following:  

   
(i)                                      the Unit Consideration, in book entry form, together with any reasonably requested evidence of issuance 

thereof;  
   
(ii)                                   the Cash Consideration, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account or accounts 

specified by Contributor (including, to the extent specified by Contributor, accounts of Sunoco R&M or Atlantic Refining) no later than one 
(1) Business Day prior to the Closing Date;  

   
(iii)                                a counterpart of the Assignment, duly executed by Acquiror, and a counterpart of the assignment 

agreement providing for the assignment of the Membership Interests from Acquiror to SPOC, duly executed by Acquiror and SPOC;  
   
(iv)                               a counterpart of the A&R Company LLC Agreement, duly executed by SPOC;  
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(v)                                  a certificate of an authorized officer of Acquiror, dated as of the Closing Date, to the effect that the 

conditions specified in Section 7.3(a) , Section 7.3(b) , Section 7.3(c)  and Section 7.3(d)  have been satisfied by Acquiror (the “ Acquiror 
Certificate ”);  

   
(vi)                               a certified copy of the resolutions of the board of directors of Acquiror’s general partner (or other 

governing body) authorizing the execution and delivery of the Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby;  
   
(vii)                            a counterpart of the Guarantee of Collection, duly executed by Acquiror and Sunoco Finance; and  
   
(viii)                         a counterpart of each of the Support Agreements, duly executed by Acquiror and Sunoco Finance.  
   

Section 2.4                                     Borrowing by Acquiror; Tax Treatment of Consideration .  Prior to the Closing, but no more than ninety (90) days 
prior to the Closing, Acquiror shall incur a new and separate borrowing (which may be in the form of a new credit facility, senior debt or any 
combination thereof) that will be used by Acquiror exclusively to pay the Cash Consideration and other expenses or disbursements directly 
related to the Closing (the “ Acquiror Debt ”). At the Closing, Contributor shall execute and deliver to the lenders of the Acquiror Debt the 
Guarantee of Collection. In the event Acquiror receives the proceeds from the Acquiror Debt prior to the Closing, such proceeds shall be 
deposited and held separate from other cash items of Acquiror until distributed to Contributor at the time of the Closing. The Parties intend that 
for United States federal income tax purposes (i) the contribution of the Acquired Interests will result in the Company becoming a partnership, 
as described in Rev. Rul. 99-5, Situation 1, and shall be treated as a contribution by Contributor to Acquiror of an undivided interest in each of 
the Company’s assets in a transaction consistent with the requirements of Section 721(a) of the Code; (ii) the receipt by Contributor of the Cash 
Consideration shall be treated as a distribution to Contributor by Acquiror under Section 731 of the Code; (iii) the distribution of the Cash 
Consideration to Contributor shall be made out of the proceeds of the Acquiror Debt and shall qualify as a “debt-financed transfer” under 
Section 1.707-5(b) of the Treasury Regulations; and (iv) Contributor’s allocable share of the Acquiror Debt under Sections 1.752-2 and 1.707-5
(a)(2)(i) of the Treasury Regulations shall be the allocable amount of the Acquiror Debt as determined under Section 1.707-5(b)(2) of the 
Treasury Regulations. Accordingly, such consideration is not expected to be taken into account in determining whether Contributor received 
money or other consideration for disguised sale purposes. Any Cash Consideration in excess of the amount treated as a “debt-financed transfer” 
shall be treated (i) as a reimbursement of Contributor’s preformation expenditures with respect to the undivided interest in each asset 
contributed within the meaning of Section 1.707-4(d) of the Treasury Regulations to the extent applicable (accordingly, such cash is not 
expected to be taken into account in determining whether Contributor received money or other consideration for disguised sale purposes), and 
(ii) in a transaction subject to treatment under Section 707(a) of the Code, and its implementing Treasury Regulations, as in part a sale, and in 
part a contribution, by Contributor of the assets of the Company (and the assets of the Subsidiaries of the Company) to the extent 
Section 1.707-4(d) of the Treasury Regulations is inapplicable. The Parties agree to file all Tax Returns and otherwise act at all times in a 
manner consistent with this intended treatment of the contribution  
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of the Acquired Interests, the Cash Consideration, and the Acquiror Debt, including disclosing the distribution of the Cash Consideration in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 1.707-3(c)(2) of the Treasury Regulations; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, Acquiror 
shall not be required to take any position in any taxable year to the extent Acquiror determines in good faith after consulting with tax counsel 
that such position is not supported by current law or actual facts and circumstances. Contributor shall reimburse Acquiror and its Affiliates for 
all of their costs and expenses (including legal fees) relating to a new debt offering as contemplated by this Section 2.4. Contributor agrees that 
it shall be solely liable for any Taxes attributable to the receipt by Contributor of the Cash Consideration and the Unit Consideration.  
   

ARTICLE 3  
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES REGARDING THE COMPAN Y  

   
Contributor represents and warrants to Acquiror, as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as follows:  
   
Section 3.1                                     Organization and Qualification .  
   

(a)                                  The Company is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws 
of its jurisdiction of formation.  The Company has all requisite limited liability company power and authority to own, lease and operate its 
properties and to carry on its businesses as presently, and as it has been since December 31, 2014, conducted.  The Company has made 
available to Acquiror copies of the Company’s Governing Documents in effect as of the date of this Agreement.  

   
(b)                                  The Company is duly qualified or licensed to transact business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which 

the property and assets owned, leased or operated by it, or the nature of the business conducted by it, makes such qualification or licensing 
necessary, except in such jurisdictions where the failure to be so duly qualified or licensed and in good standing would not reasonably be 
expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.  

   
Section 3.2                                     Capitalization of the Company; Subsidiaries .  
   

(a)                                  The Membership Interests comprise all of the Company’s limited liability company interests that are issued and 
outstanding, the Membership Interests have been duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid (to the extent required by the Governing 
Documents of the Company) and nonassessable (except as such nonassessability may be affected by matters described in Sections 18-607 and 
18-804 of the Delaware LLC Act) and free of preemptive rights, and no holder of Membership Interests has any obligation to make capital 
contributions to the Company by virtue of its ownership of such Membership Interests.  There are no outstanding (i) other equity securities of 
the Company, (ii) securities of the Company convertible into or exchangeable for, at any time, equity securities of the Company, (iii) Contracts 
defining the rights of security holders of the Company or any Contract relating to the voting of any membership interests or other ownership 
interests of the Company, other than pursuant to its Governing Documents, or (iv) options, subscriptions, warrants, conversion rights or 
Contracts of any kind outstanding or other rights to acquire from the Company or obligations of the Company to issue, any equity securities or 
securities convertible into or exchangeable for equity securities  
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of the Company.  At the Closing, Contributor will deliver to Acquiror the Acquired Interests, free and clear of all Liens (other than restrictions 
on transfer imposed by applicable federal, state and other securities Laws), and no Person has any right to acquire any other equity securities of 
the Company or the right to payment in respect of the value of any equity security of the Company.  
   

(b)                                  The Company does not directly or indirectly own any equity or similar interest in, or any interest convertible into or 
exchangeable or exercisable for, at any time, any equity or similar interest in, any Person.  The Company has no Subsidiaries and does not own 
and has not owned at any time, either directly or indirectly, equity or similar interest in, any Person.  

   
Section 3.3                                     Authority .   The Company has the requisite limited liability company power and authority to execute and deliver 

this Agreement and each other agreement, document, instrument and/or certificate contemplated by this Agreement to be executed in 
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby (the “ Ancillary Documents ”) to which the Company is a party and to consummate the 
transactions contemplated hereby.  The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which the Company is a 
party and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been (and the Ancillary Documents to which the Company is a party 
will be) duly authorized by all necessary limited liability company action on the part of the Company and no other proceeding (including by its 
equityholders) on the part of the Company is necessary to authorize this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which the Company is a 
party or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.  No vote of the Company’s member is required to approve this Agreement or for 
the Company to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.  This Agreement has been (and the execution and delivery of each of the 
Ancillary Documents to which the Company is a party will be) duly and validly executed and delivered by the Company and constitute a valid, 
legal and binding agreement of the Company (assuming that this Agreement has been and the Ancillary Documents to which the Company is a 
party will be duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by Acquiror), enforceable against the Company in accordance with their 
terms, except (i) to the extent that enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other 
Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and (ii) that the availability of equitable remedies, including specific performance, 
is subject to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding thereof may be brought.  

   
Section 3.4                                     Financial Statements .   Attached hereto as Schedule 3.4 are true and complete copies of the following financial 

statements (such financial statements, the “ Company Financial Statements ”):  
   

(a)                                  the audited consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2013, and the related audited 
consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the fiscal year then ended; and  

   
(b)                                  the audited consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2014 (the “ Latest Company Balance 

Sheet ”), and the related audited consolidated statements of income and cash flows for the fiscal year then ended.  
   

14  

 



   
(c)                                   Except as set forth on Schedule 3.4 , the Company Financial Statements (i) have been prepared in accordance with 

GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods covered thereby, except as may be indicated in the notes thereto, and (ii) fairly 
present, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of the dates thereof and its consolidated results of 
operations for the periods then ended.  

   
(d)                                  Except (i) as set forth set forth on Schedule 3.4(d) , (ii) as and to the extent set forth on the Latest Company 

Balance Sheet and (iii) for liabilities and obligations (x) under this Agreement, (y) incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with 
past practice since the date of the Latest Company Balance Sheet or (z) that will be paid at Closing, the Company does not have any liability or 
obligation of any nature (whether accrued, absolute, contingent, determined, determinable or otherwise) that is required by GAAP to be 
reflected or reserved against in a balance sheet of the Company (or in the notes thereto).  

   
Section 3.5                                     Consents and Approvals; No Violations .   No material notices to, filings with, or authorizations, consents or 

approvals of any Person or Governmental Entity are necessary for the execution, delivery or performance by the Company of this Agreement or 
the Ancillary Documents to which the Company is a party or the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby.  
Neither the execution, delivery or performance by the Company of this Agreement or the Ancillary Documents to which the Company is a 
party nor the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby will (a) conflict with or result in any breach of any 
provision of the Company’s Governing Documents, (b)  result in a violation or breach of, or cause acceleration, or constitute (with or without 
due notice or lapse of time or both) a default (or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration) under any of the terms, 
conditions or provisions of any Company Material Contract, Material Real Property Lease or Material Company Permit, (c) violate any Law 
applicable to the Company or Order of any Governmental Entity having jurisdiction over the Company or any of its properties or assets or 
(d) except as contemplated by this Agreement or with respect to Permitted Liens, result in the creation of any Lien upon any of the assets of the 
Company, except in the case of clauses (b)  through (c)  above for those items which, individually or in the aggregate, would not have (or be 
reasonably expected to have) a Company Material Adverse Effect.  

   
Section 3.6                                     Company Material Contracts .  
   

(a)                                  Except as set forth on Schedule 3.6(a)  (all Contracts listed on Schedule 3.6(a)  together with any other Contracts 
entered into in the ordinary course of business involving payments or receipts in excess of $1,500,000, collectively, the “ Company Material 
Contracts ”) and except for this Agreement and except for any Material Real Property Lease, the Company is not a party to or bound by, nor are 
its properties or assets bound by, any:  

   
(i)                                      Contract that provides non-compete arrangements with any individual or employee;  
   
(ii)                                   Contract under which the Company is a lessee of or holds or operates any tangible property (other than 

real property), owned by any other Person, except for any Contract under which the aggregate annual rental payments do not exceed 
$1,500,000;  
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(iii)                                Contract under which the Company is a lessor of or permits any third party to hold or operate any tangible 

property (other than real property), owned or controlled by the Company, except for any Contract under which the annual rental payments do 
not exceed $1,500,000;  

   
(iv)                               partnership agreements and joint venture agreements relating to the Company;  
   
(v)                                  Contract of indemnification or guaranty of any obligation for borrowed money or other material guaranty 

of any Person, including between the Company and any of their officers, directors or employees, in each case, other than any such agreements 
or guarantees that are entered into in the ordinary course of business;  

   
(vi)                               Contract prohibiting the Company from freely engaging in any material business, including restrictions on 

the Company’s ability to compete;  
   
(vii)                            collective bargaining agreement;  
   
(viii)                         Contract or group of related Contracts with the same party for the purchase of product, services, marketing 

or advertising, involving payments in excess of $1,500,000, except for agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business;  
   
(ix)                               Contract or group of related Contracts with the same party for the sale of products, services, marketing or 

advertising, under which the undelivered balance of such products or services has a sales price in excess of $1,500,000, except for agreements 
entered into in the ordinary course of business;  

   
(x)                                  Contract evidencing or relating to any obligations of the Company with respect to the issuance, sale, 

repurchase or redemption of any equity securities;  
   
(xi)                               Contract defining the rights of security holders or any Contract relating to the voting of any membership 

interests or other ownership interests of the Company;  
   
(xii)                            Contract pursuant to which any Affiliate of the Company has given any guaranty of payment or 

performance in favor of the Company or provided any other credit support for the benefit of the Company;  
   
(xiii)                         Contract with any Affiliate of the Company;  
   
(xiv)                        Contract that relates to the disposition or acquisition of assets or properties by the Company outside of the 

ordinary course of business, or any merger or business combination with respect to the Company, in each case, since December 31, 2014; or  
   
(xv)                           other Contract that involves the expenditure, payment or receipt of more than $1,500,000 in the aggregate 

and is not terminable by the Company without penalty on notice of 90 days or less, except for agreements entered into in the ordinary course of 
business.  

   
16  

 



   
(b)                                  Schedule 3.6(b)  sets forth a true, correct and complete list of the top ten (i) suppliers, (ii) dealers, (iii) wholesalers, 

and (iv) distributors of the Company, in each case by volume for the year ended December 31, 2014.  
   
(c)                                   Except as set forth on Schedule 3.6(c) , each Company Material Contract is valid and binding on the Company and 

enforceable in accordance with its terms against the Company and, to the knowledge of Contributor, each other party thereto (subject, in each 
case, to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other Laws affecting generally the enforcement of creditors’ rights 
and subject to general principles of equity).  Except as set forth on Schedule 3.6(c) , since January 1, 2014, the Company has not received 
written notice of any default under any Company Material Contract which has not been cured.  The Company is not in breach or violation of or 
default under any Company Material Contract, and, to Contributor’s knowledge, no other party to any Company Material Contract is in breach 
or violation of or default under any such Contract.  There does not exist any event which (with or without notice, passage of time, or both) 
would constitute a breach, violation of or default under any Company Material Contract (i) by the Company or (ii) to Contributor’s knowledge, 
by any counterparty thereto, in each case, which breach, violation or default has had, or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or 
in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.  

   
Section 3.7                                     Absence of Changes.   Except as set forth on Schedule 3.7 , since the date of the Latest Company Balance Sheet, 

(i) there has not been any Company Material Adverse Effect and (ii) the Company has conducted its business in the ordinary course 
substantially consistent with past practices.  Since the date of the Latest Company Balance Sheet, the Company has not:  

   
(a)                                  suffered any material damage, destruction or loss (whether or not covered by insurance) from fire or other casualty 

to its tangible property;  
   
(b)                                  revalued any of their respective assets, including writing off notes or accounts receivable other than in the ordinary 

course of business in amounts that are not, individually or in the aggregate, material to the business of the Company, taken as a whole;  
   
(c)                                   made any capital expenditures or commitments therefor involving amounts that exceed $1,500,000 in the aggregate, 

except for capital expenditures (A) incurred in the ordinary course of business or (B) relating to the completion of those projects in progress set 
forth on Schedule 3.7(c) ;  

   
(d)                                  sold, leased, licensed, mortgaged, assigned or transferred any of its tangible or intangible assets, except in the 

ordinary course of business;  
   
(e)                                   suffered any extraordinary losses or canceled, waived, compromised or released any rights or claims involving 

amounts that exceed $1,500,000 in the aggregate;  
   
(f)                                    made any investment in or loan to any Person, or acquired any business or Person, by merger or consolidation, 

purchase or sale of substantial assets or equity interests, or by any other manner, in a single transaction or a series of related transactions, or 
entered into any Contract, letter of intent or similar arrangement with respect to the foregoing;  
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(g)                                   issued, sold or otherwise permitted to become outstanding any capital stock, membership interests or other equity 

interests, or split, combined, reclassified, repurchased or redeemed any shares of its capital stock, membership interests, or other equity 
interests;  

   
(h)                                  materially modified, changed or terminated any Company Material Contract;  
   
(i)                                      adopted a plan or agreement of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring, 

recapitalization, or other material reorganization;  
   
(j)                                     changed its accounting principles, practices or methods except as required or permitted by Law or GAAP; or  
   
(k)                                  authorized, agreed, resolved or committed to any of the foregoing.  
   

Section 3.8                                     Litigation .   Except as set forth on Schedule 3.8 , there is no Proceeding pending or, to Contributor’s knowledge, 
threatened or under investigation against or affecting the Company, any of its properties, assets or business, or, to Contributor’s knowledge, 
any of its current or former officers or directors, in their capacity as such, before any Governmental Entity, to the extent that such Proceedings 
would exceed $500,000, individually, or $3,000,000 in the aggregate.  Except as set forth on Schedule 3.8 , neither the Company nor any of its 
properties, assets or business, or, to Contributor’s knowledge, any of its current or former officers or directors, in their capacity as such, is 
subject to any outstanding Order.  

   
Section 3.9                                     Compliance with Applicable Law .  Except as set forth on Schedule 3.9 , the Company holds all material permits, 

licenses, approvals, certificates and other authorizations of and from all, and has made all declarations and filings with, Governmental Entities 
necessary for the lawful conduct of its business as presently conducted or ownership of its properties or assets (the “ Material Company Permits 
”).  The Company is in material compliance with all such Material Company Permits.  All such Material Company Permits are valid and in full 
force and effect in all material respects.  The Company is not in, and since January 1, 2014 has not been in, default or violation of any term, 
condition or provision of any such Material Company Permit applicable to it.  There is no pending or, to Contributor’s knowledge, threatened 
Proceeding with respect to revocation, cancellation, suspension or nonrenewal of any such Material Company Permit.  The business of the 
Company is operated in material compliance with all applicable Laws and Orders that are material to the operation of the Company’s business.  
To Contributor’s knowledge, the Company is not under investigation with respect to any violation of any Laws or Orders that are material to 
the operation of its business.  Since January 1, 2014, the Company has not received written notice of or, to Contributor’s knowledge, been 
threatened to be charged with any violation of any applicable Laws and Orders that are material to the operation of the Company’s business.  
This Section 3.9 does not relate to environmental matters (which is the subject of Section 3.10 ), Tax matters (which is the subject of 
Section 3.11 ) or employee or employee benefit plan matters (which are the subject of Section 3.15 ).  

   
Section 3.10                              Environmental Matters .  
   

(a)                                  Except as set forth on Schedule 3.10 :  
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(i)                                      The Owned Real Property and the Leased Real Property and the operations conducted thereon by the 

Company are in material compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws.  
   
(ii)                                   Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company holds and is in material compliance with all 

material permits, licenses and other authorizations that are required pursuant to Environmental Laws for their operations as currently 
conducted.  All such permits are in full force and effect in all material respects.  

   
(iii)                                The Company has not received any currently unresolved written notice of any violation of, or any liability 

or investigatory, corrective or remedial obligation under, any Environmental Laws.  
   
(iv)                               To Contributor’s knowledge, there has been no release of any Hazardous Substance into the environment, 

on any of the Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property or that has migrated from any of the Owned Real Property or Leased Real 
Property other than releases that are not required to be reported to a Governmental Entity or any release for which the Company has received a 
no further action letter or similar clearance from the appropriate Governmental Entity.  

   
(b)                                  Schedule 3.10 contains a schedule of any and all pending or, to Contributor’s knowledge, threatened Proceedings 

against the Company relating to the release of any hazardous substance, pollutant, contaminant or petroleum product into the environment or 
Laws designed to protect the environment, including claims for personal injury, property damage, natural resource damages, and cost recovery 
or contribution for costs to investigate or remediate any contamination attributable, in whole or in part, to contamination on any of the Owned 
Real Property or Leased Real Property or that has migrated from any of the Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property.  

   
(c)                                   Schedule 3.10 contains a schedule of any and all currently unresolved written violations or notices of violation of 

any covenant relating to Environmental Law received by the Company since January 1, 2014: (A) by any landlord related to any Leased Real 
Property, (B) by any owner related to any Owned Real Property, or (C) from the beneficiary of any deed restriction or other restriction in 
connection with any Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property.  

   
(d)                                  Schedule 3.10 contains a list of all material insurance, indemnities, covenants, fixed-price remediation contracts, 

remediation agreements, state tank funds, escrows and other funds available with respect to remediation of any Owned Real Property or Leased 
Real Property under Environmental Laws for which the Company has liability or potential liability.  

   
(e)                                   This Section 3.10 and the related bring-down of such representation in the Company Certificate contain the sole 

and exclusive representations and warranties of Contributor with respect to environmental matters, including any matters arising under 
Environmental Laws.  The disclosures in Schedule 3.10 contain the sole and exclusive exceptions to the representations and warranties made in 
this Section 3.10 .  
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Section 3.11                              Tax Matters .  Except as set forth on Schedule 3.11 :  
   

(a)                                  All material tax returns, information returns, statements, forms, filings and reports (each a “ Tax Return ” and, 
collectively, the “ Tax Returns ”) required to be filed by or with respect to the Company, any assets of the Company or the operations of the 
Company have been filed with the appropriate domestic federal, state, local or foreign Taxing Authorities and each such Tax Return is true, 
correct and complete in all material respects.  All material Taxes owed or payable by the Company or Contributor or any of their Affiliates with 
respect to the Company, the Company’s assets or operations of the Company that are or have become due have been timely paid in full.  

   
(b)                                  The Company has complied in all material respects with the provisions of the Code relating to the withholding and 

payment of Taxes, including the withholding and reporting requirements under Code sections 1441 through 1464, 3401 through 3406, and 
6041 through 6049, as well as similar provisions under any other Laws, and has, in all material respects, within the time and in the manner 
prescribed by Law, withheld from employee wages and paid over to the proper governmental body all amounts required.  

   
(c)                                   There are no Liens (other than Liens for current period Taxes that are not yet due and payable) on any asset owned 

by the Company or the Acquired Interests that are attributable to any Tax liability or payment obligation.  
   
(d)                                  The Company has no liability as a transferee for any Taxes for a Pre-Closing Tax Period that are payable by 

Contributor.  
   
(e)                                   Neither Contributor with respect to the business activities of the Company nor the Company is currently the subject 

of a Tax audit or examination.  
   
(f)                                    Neither Contributor with respect to the business activities of the Company nor the Company has waived any statute 

of limitations in respect of Taxes with respect to the Company, or has otherwise consented to extend the time, or is the beneficiary of any 
extension of time, in which any Tax may be assessed or collected by any Taxing Authority with respect to the Company.  

   
(g)                                   Neither Contributor with respect to the business activities of the Company nor the Company has received from any 

Taxing Authority any written notice of proposed adjustment, deficiency, underpayment of Taxes or any other such written notice which has not 
been satisfied by payment or been withdrawn.  

   
(h)                                  The Company currently is, and has been since its inception, properly classified as a “disregarded entity” within the 

meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 301.7701-3(b)(ii).  
   
(i)                                      No written claim has been received by the Company from any Taxing Authority in a jurisdiction where the 

Company does not file Tax Returns that the Company (or Contributor with respect to the business activities of the Company, as applicable) is 
or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction.  
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(j)                                     The Company has not been a party to any “listed transaction” as defined in Code Section 6707A(c)(2) and Treasury 

Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b)(2) or similar provision of state, local or foreign Law.  
   
(k)                                  The Company is not a party to or bound by any Tax allocation, sharing or indemnity agreements or arrangements 

with any Person (other than an agreement or arrangement that is not principally Tax motivated, such as a purchase and sale contract that 
includes a tax indemnity).  

   
(l)                                      No power of attorney that is currently in force has been granted with respect to any matter relating to Taxes that 

could affect the Company.  
   
(m)                              The Company owns 100% of the real property and does not own any personal property attributable to the sites 

(formerly owned or leased by either Sunoco R&M or Atlantic Refining) set forth in Schedule 3.11(m)  and the allocation of the fair market 
value among the real and personal property attributable to such sites is set forth on Schedule 3.11(m) .  

   
(n)                                  The commercial terms and conditions of the Motor Fuel Supply Agreement between Sunoco R&M and the 

Company effective as of June 1, 2014 are consistent with those commercial terms and conditions that would be agreed by unrelated third 
parties bargaining at arm’s length.  

   
(o)                                  The Company’s sales of fuel (other than those shown as nonqualifying on Schedule 3.11(o)) to governmental and 

commercial customers are (i) in quantities and at prices that are not consistent with a retail sale of such products, and (ii) delivered to storage 
tanks at the customer’s site, or picked up by customers at the rack in bulk volumes.  

   
(p)                                  Ninety percent or more of the gross income from the assets held and operations of the Company immediately after 

the Closing will be from “qualifying income” sources within the meaning of Section 7704(d) of the Code.  
   

The disclosures in Schedules 3.11 and 3.11(o)  contain the sole and exclusive exceptions to the representations and warranties made in this 
Section 3.11 .  
   

Section 3.12                              Brokers .   No broker, finder, financial advisor or investment banker is entitled to any broker’s, finder’s, financial 
advisor’s, investment banker’s fee or commission or similar payment in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement 
based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company.  

   
Section 3.13                              Title to Properties and Assets .  Except as to matters that would not reasonably be expected to have a Company 

Material Adverse Effect, the Company has title to or rights or interests in its real property and personal property, free and clear of all Liens 
(subject to Permitted Liens), sufficient to allow it to conduct its business as currently being conducted.  

   
Section 3.14                              Transactions with Affiliates .  Schedule 3.14 sets forth all Contracts between the Company, on the one hand, and 

Affiliates of the Company (other than any employee of the Company who is not an officer of the Company), on the other hand.  Except as 
disclosed in Schedule 3.14 and to Contributor’s knowledge, neither the Company nor its Affiliates,  
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directors, officers or employees (a) possesses, directly or indirectly, any financial interest in, or is a director, officer or employee of, any Person 
(other than the Company) which is a material client, supplier, Dealer, customer, lessor, lessee or competitor of the Company or (b) owns any 
property right, tangible or intangible, which is used by the Company in the conduct of its business.  Ownership of five (5) percent or less of any 
class of securities of a company whose securities are registered under the Exchange Act shall not be deemed to be a financial interest for 
purposes of this Section 3.14 .  
   

Section 3.15                              Employees and Employee Benefit Plans .  
   

(a)                                  The Company does not maintain, sponsor or contribute to, is not required to contribute to, is not a participating 
employer in and, except with respect to its cost reimbursement obligations pursuant to Article IV of the Secondment Agreement, does not have 
any liability with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan. Except as set forth on Schedule 3.15(a) , Karl R. Fails is the only employee the 
Company has ever had, except for those employees employed by the Company in joint employment relationships with Sunoco R&M pursuant 
to the Secondment Agreement.  

   
(b)                                  The Company is, and at all times has been, in material compliance with all applicable Laws pertaining to 

employment and employment practices, including all Laws relating to labor relations, equal employment opportunities, fair employment 
practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, reasonable accommodation, disability rights or benefits, immigration, wages, 
hours, overtime compensation, child labor, hiring, promotion and termination of employees, working conditions, meal and break periods, 
privacy, health and safety, workers’ compensation, leaves of absence and unemployment insurance.  

   
(c)                                   There does not now exist, nor do any circumstances exist that could reasonably be expected to result in, any 

Controlled Group Liability of Contributor becoming a liability following the Closing Date of Acquiror, the Company or any of their respective 
Affiliates.  

   
Section 3.16                              Company Assets .  Since January 1, 2014, the Company’s assets have been maintained and repaired in all material 

respects in the same manner as a prudent operator would maintain and repair such assets and have been used by the Company in the ordinary 
course of business and remain as of the date hereof in suitable and adequate condition for such continued use excluding normal wear and tear.  
After giving effect to the services to be provided, licenses to be granted and the other transactions and arrangements contemplated by the 
Contracts set forth on Schedule 3.14 (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Contributor Guarantees), the Company’s assets are adequate to 
conduct the business of the Company as of the Closing in all material respects substantially in accordance with past practices.  

   
Section 3.17                              EXCLUSIVITY OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES .   EXCEPT FOR THE REPRESENTATIONS 

AND WARRANTIES MADE BY CONTRIBUTOR IN ARTICLE 3 OR ARTICLE 4 OF THIS AGREEMENT AND THE COMPANY 
CERTIFICATE, THE ACQUIRED INTERESTS AND THE ASSETS OF THE COMPANY ARE BEING ACQUIRED ON AN AS-IS, 
WHERE-IS BASIS AND CONTRIBUTOR MAKES NO OTHER REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, EXPRESS  
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OR IMPLIED, AT LAW OR IN EQUITY, REGARDING THE COMPANY AND ANY AND ALL OTHER REPRESENTATIONS OR 
WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMED.  
   

ARTICLE 4  
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF CONTRIBUTOR  

   
Contributor hereby represents and warrants to Acquiror, as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as follows:  
   
Section 4.1                                     Organization and Qualification .  
   

(a)                                  Contributor is a limited liability company, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of 
the State of Delaware and has all requisite power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and carry on its businesses as presently, 
and as it has been since December 31, 2014, conducted.  Contributor has made available to Acquiror copies of its Governing Documents in 
effect as of the date of this Agreement.  

   
(b)                                  Contributor is duly qualified or licensed to transact business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which 

the property and assets owned, leased or operated by it, or the nature of the business conducted by it, makes such qualification or licensing 
necessary, except in such jurisdictions where the failure to be so duly qualified or licensed and in good standing would not prevent or 
materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.  

   
Section 4.2                                     Authority .   Contributor has the requisite limited liability company power and authority to execute and deliver this 

Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which Contributor is a party and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.  The 
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which Contributor is a party and the consummation of the 
transactions contemplated hereby have been (and such Ancillary Documents to which Contributor is a party will be) duly authorized by all 
necessary limited liability company action on the part of Contributor and no other proceeding (including by its equityholders) on the part of 
Contributor is necessary to authorize this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which Contributor is a party or to consummate the 
transactions contemplated hereby.  No vote of Contributor’s members is required to approve this Agreement or for Contributor to consummate 
the transactions contemplated hereby.  This Agreement has been (and the execution and delivery of each of the Ancillary Documents to which 
Contributor is a party will be) duly and validly executed and delivered by Contributor and constitute a valid, legal and binding agreement of 
Contributor (assuming this Agreement has been and the Ancillary Documents to which Contributor is a party will be duly and validly 
authorized, executed and delivered by Acquiror), enforceable against Contributor in accordance with their terms, except (i) to the extent that 
enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other Laws affecting the enforcement of 
creditors’ rights generally and (ii) that the availability of equitable remedies, including specific performance, is subject to the discretion of the 
court before which any proceeding thereof may be brought.  
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Section 4.3                                     Consents and Approvals; No Violations .   No material notices to, filings with, or authorizations, consents or 

approvals of any Person or Governmental Entity are necessary for the execution, delivery or performance by Contributor of this Agreement or 
the Ancillary Documents to which Contributor is a party or the consummation by Contributor of the transactions contemplated hereby, except 
for those the failure of which to obtain or make would not have a material adverse effect on Contributor’s ownership of the Acquired Interests, 
or otherwise prevent or materially delay the Closing.  Neither the execution, delivery and performance by Contributor of this Agreement or the 
Ancillary Documents to which Contributor is a party nor the consummation by Contributor of the transactions contemplated hereby will 
(a) conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of Contributor’s Governing Documents, (b) result in a violation or breach of, or cause 
acceleration, or constitute (with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default (or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or 
acceleration) under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any material agreement to which Contributor is a party or (c) violate any Order 
of any Governmental Entity having jurisdiction over Contributor, which in the case of any of clauses (b)  through (c)  above, would have a 
material adverse effect on Contributor’s ownership of the Acquired Interests, or otherwise prevent or materially delay the Closing.  

   
Section 4.4                                     Title to the Acquired Interests .  Contributor owns of record and beneficially all of the Acquired Interests, and 

Contributor has good and marketable title to the Acquired Interests, free and clear of all Liens.  As of the date hereof and immediately prior to 
the Closing, Contributor is the sole member of the Company.  

   
Section 4.5                                     Litigation .   There is no Proceeding pending or, to Contributor’s knowledge, threatened against Contributor before 

any Governmental Entity which would have a material adverse effect on Contributor’s ownership of the Acquired Interests, or otherwise 
prevent or materially delay the Closing or otherwise prevent Contributor from complying with the terms and provisions of this Agreement.  
Contributor is not subject to any outstanding Order that would have a material adverse effect on Contributor’s ownership of the Acquired 
Interests, or otherwise prevent or materially delay the Closing.  

   
Section 4.6                                     Brokers .  No broker, finder, financial advisor or investment banker, other than RBC Capital Markets, LLC, is 

entitled to any broker’s, finder’s, financial advisor’s, investment banker’s fee or commission or similar payment in connection with the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Contributor.  

   
Section 4.7                                     Investigation; No Other Representations .  
   

(a)                                  Contributor has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters so as to be capable of evaluating 
the merits and risks of its investment in the Unit Consideration and is capable of bearing the economic risk of such investment.  Contributor is 
an “accredited investor” as that term is defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D (without regard to Rule 501(a)(4)) promulgated under the 
Securities Act.  Contributor is acquiring the Unit Consideration for investment for its own account and not with a view toward or for sale in 
connection with any distribution thereof, or with any present intention of distributing or selling the Unit Consideration.  Contributor is not a 
party to any Contract or arrangement with any Person to sell, transfer or grant participations to such Person or to any third Person, with respect  
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to the Unit Consideration in violation of applicable Law.  Contributor acknowledges and understands that (i) the acquisition of the Unit 
Consideration has not been registered under the Securities Act in reliance on an exemption therefrom and (ii) that the Unit Consideration will, 
upon the issuance by Acquiror, be characterized as “restricted securities” under state and federal securities Laws.  Contributor agrees that the 
Unit Consideration may not be sold, transferred, offered for sale, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise disposed of except pursuant to an 
effective registration statement under the Securities Act or pursuant to an available exemption from the registration requirements of the 
Securities Act, and in compliance with other applicable state and federal securities Laws.  
   

(b)                                  Contributor (i) has conducted its own independent review and analysis of, and, based thereon, has formed an 
independent judgment concerning, the business, assets, condition, operations and prospects of the Acquiror Group, and (ii) has been furnished 
with or given full access to such documents and information about the Acquiror Group and their respective businesses and operations as it and 
its representatives and advisors have deemed necessary to enable it to make an informed decision with respect to the execution, delivery and 
performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.  Contributor has received all materials relating to the business of the 
Acquiror Group that it has requested and has been afforded the opportunity to obtain any additional information necessary to verify the 
accuracy of any such information or of any representation or warranty made by Acquiror herein or to otherwise evaluate the merits of the 
transactions contemplated hereby.  Acquiror has answered to Contributor’s satisfaction all inquiries that Contributor and its representatives and 
advisors have made concerning the business of the Acquiror Group or otherwise relating to the transactions contemplated hereby.  

   
(c)                                   In entering into this Agreement, Contributor has relied solely upon its own investigation and analysis and the 

representations and warranties of Acquiror expressly contained in Article 5 and the Acquiror Certificate and Contributor acknowledges that, 
other than as set forth in this Agreement (as modified by the Schedules) and the certificates or other instruments delivered pursuant hereto, 
none of Acquiror, the members of the Acquiror Group or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, Affiliates, stockholders, agents 
or representatives makes or has made any representation or warranty, either express or implied, (x) as to the accuracy or completeness of any of 
the information provided or made available to Contributor or any of its respective agents, representatives, lenders or Affiliates prior to the 
execution of this Agreement (other than, for the avoidance of doubt, as set forth in this Agreement) or (y) with respect to any projections, 
forecasts, estimates, plans or budgets of future revenues, expenses or expenditures, future results of operations (or any component thereof), 
future cash flows (or any component thereof) or future financial condition (or any component thereof) of any member of the Acquiror Group 
heretofore or hereafter delivered to or made available to Contributor or any of its respective agents, representatives, lenders or Affiliates.  It is 
understood that any cost estimates, projections or other predictions, any data, any financial information or any memoranda or offering materials 
or presentations are not and shall not be deemed to be or to include representations or warranties of any member of the Acquiror Group or 
Acquiror (other than, for the avoidance of doubt, as set forth in this Agreement as modified by the Schedules), and are not and shall not be 
deemed to be relied upon by Contributor in executing, delivering and performing this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.  
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Section 4.8                                     Management Projections and Budget .  The projections and budgets set forth on Schedule 4.8 provided to Acquiror 

by Contributor and the Company as part of Acquiror’s review in connection with this Agreement were prepared by management of Contributor 
or the Company in good faith based on assumptions that they believe to be reasonable as of the date of this Agreement and are consistent with 
Contributor and the Company management’s expectations as of the date of this Agreement.  

   
ARTICLE 5  

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF ACQUIROR  
   

Acquiror hereby represents and warrants to Contributor as follows:  
   
Section 5.1                                     Organization and Qualification .  
   

(a)                                  Acquiror is a limited partnership duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State 
of Delaware and has all requisite limited partnership power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and carry on its businesses as 
presently, and as it has been since December 31, 2014, conducted.  Acquiror has made available to Contributor copies of its Governing 
Documents in effect as of the date of this Agreement.  

   
(b)                                  Acquiror and each of its Subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed to transact business and is in good standing in 

each jurisdiction in which the property and assets owned, leased or operated by it, or the nature of the business conducted by it, makes such 
qualification or licensing necessary, except in such jurisdictions where the failure to be so duly qualified or licensed and in good standing 
would not reasonably be expected to have a Acquiror Material Adverse Effect.  

   
Section 5.2                                     Authority .   Acquiror has the requisite limited partnership power and authority to execute and deliver this 

Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which Acquiror is a party and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.  The execution 
and delivery of this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which Acquiror is a party and the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby have been (and the Ancillary Documents to which Acquiror is a party will be) duly authorized by all necessary limited 
partnership action on the part of Acquiror and no other proceeding (including by its equityholders) on the part of Acquiror is necessary to 
authorize this Agreement and the Ancillary Documents to which Acquiror is a party or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.  
No vote of Acquiror’s limited partners is required to approve this Agreement or for Acquiror to consummate the transactions contemplated 
hereby.  This Agreement has been (and the execution and delivery of each of the Ancillary Documents to which Acquiror is a party will be) 
duly and validly executed and delivered by Acquiror and constitutes a valid, legal and binding agreement of Acquiror (assuming this 
Agreement has been and the Ancillary Documents to which Acquiror is a party will be duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered by 
Contributor, the Company and Contributor Guarantor, to the extent either is a party), enforceable against Acquiror in accordance with its terms, 
except (i) to the extent that enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other Laws 
affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and (ii) that the availability of equitable remedies,  
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including specific performance, is subject to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding thereof may be brought.  
   

Section 5.3                                     Consents and Approvals; No Violations .   No material notices to, filings with, or authorizations, consents or 
approvals of any Person or Governmental Entity are necessary for the execution, delivery or performance by Acquiror of this Agreement or the 
Ancillary Documents to which Acquiror is a party or the consummation by Acquiror of the transactions contemplated hereby.  Neither the 
execution, delivery and performance by Acquiror of this Agreement or the Ancillary Documents to which Acquiror is a party nor the 
consummation by Acquiror of the transactions contemplated hereby will (a) conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of Acquiror’s 
Governing Documents, (b) result in a violation or breach of, or cause acceleration, or constitute (with or without due notice or lapse of time or 
both) a default (or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration) under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any 
indenture, mortgage, agreement, contract, commitment, license, concession, permit, lease or other instrument to which any member of the 
Acquiror Group is a party, or (c) violate any Order of any Governmental Entity having jurisdiction over any member of the Acquiror Group or 
any of their respective properties or assets, which in the case of any of clauses (b)  through (c)  above, would have a Acquiror Material Adverse 
Effect.  

   
Section 5.4                                     Valid Issuance; Listing .  
   

(a)                                  At Closing, the offer and sale of the Unit Consideration will have been duly authorized by Acquiror pursuant to the 
Acquiror Partnership Agreement, and when issued and delivered to Contributor in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the 
Acquiror Partnership Agreement, will be validly issued, fully paid (to the extent required by the Acquiror Partnership Agreement) and 
nonassessable (except as such nonassessability may be affected by matters described in Sections 17-303, 17-607 and 17-804 of the Delaware 
LP Act) and free and clear of all Liens (other than restrictions on transfer imposed by applicable federal, state and other securities Laws).  

   
(b)                                  The currently outstanding Acquiror Common Units are listed on the New York Stock Exchange, and Acquiror has 

not received any notice of delisting.  
   

Section 5.5                                     Financial Statements .  
   

(a)                                  Acquiror has furnished or filed all reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents (including exhibits 
and other information incorporated therein) required to be furnished or filed by Acquiror with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ 
SEC ”) since December 31, 2013 (such documents being collectively referred to as the “ Acquiror SEC Documents ”).  

   
(b)                                  Each Acquiror SEC Document (i) at the time filed, complied in all material respects with the requirements of the 

Exchange Act and the Securities Act, as the case may be, and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder applicable to such 
Acquiror SEC Document and (ii) did not at the time it was filed (or if amended or superseded by a filing or amendment prior to the date of this 
Agreement, then at the time of such filing or  
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amendment) contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to 
make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.  

   
(c)                                   Each of the financial statements of Acquiror included in the Acquiror SEC Documents complied at the time it was 

filed as to form in all material respects with the applicable accounting requirements and the published rules and regulations of the SEC with 
respect thereto, have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods presented thereby and fairly 
present in all material respects the consolidated financial position and operating results, equity and cash flows of Acquiror as of, and for the 
periods ended on, the respective dates thereof, subject, however, in the case of unaudited financial statements, to normal year-end audit 
adjustments and accruals and the absence of notes and other textual disclosures as permitted by Form 10-Q of the SEC.  

   
Section 5.6                                     Absence of Changes .  Except as set forth on Schedule 5.6 , since the date of the Latest Acquiror Balance Sheet, 

there has not been any Acquiror Material Adverse Effect.  
   
Section 5.7                                     Litigation .   Except as set forth on Schedule 5.7 , there is no Proceeding pending or, to the Acquiror’s knowledge, 

threatened or under investigation against or affecting any member of the Acquiror Group, any of their respective properties, assets or business, 
or, to the Acquiror’s knowledge, any of their respective current or former officers or directors, in their capacity as such, before any 
Governmental Entity, to the extent that such Proceedings would exceed $500,000, individually, or $3,000,000 in the aggregate.  Except as set 
forth on Schedule 5.7 , no member of the Acquiror Group, nor any of their respective properties, assets or business, or, to the Acquiror’s 
knowledge, any of their respective current or former officers or directors, in their capacity as such, is subject to any outstanding Order.  

   
Section 5.8                                     Tax Matters .  Since the date of its formation, Acquiror has been classified as a partnership for federal income tax 

purposes, and as of the Closing Date, 90% or more of Acquiror’s gross income is from “qualifying income” sources (as defined in Section 7704
(d) of the Code).  

   
Section 5.9                                     Brokers .   No broker, finder, financial advisor or investment banker, other than Perella Weinberg Partners LP, is 

entitled to any brokerage, finder’s, financial advisor’s or investment banker’s fee or commission or similar payment in connection with the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by and on behalf of Acquiror or any of its respective Affiliates for 
which Contributor or the Company may become liable.  

   
Section 5.10                              Solvency .  Immediately after giving effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, no member of the 

Acquiror Group (excluding the Company after the Closing) will (a) be insolvent (either because its financial condition is such that the sum of 
its debts is greater than the fair value of its assets or because the fair salable value of its assets is less than the amount required to pay its 
probable liability on its existing debts as they mature), (b) have unreasonably small capital with which to engage in its business or (c) have 
incurred debts beyond its ability to pay as they become due.  
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Section 5.11                              Investigation; No Other Representations .  
   

(a)                                  Acquiror and SPOC each has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters so as to be capable 
of evaluating the merits and risks of its investment in the Acquired Interests and is capable of bearing the economic risk of such investment.  
Acquiror and SPOC are each an “accredited investor” as that term is defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D (without regard to Rule 501(a)(4)) 
promulgated under the Securities Act.  SPOC is acquiring the Acquired Interests for investment for its own account and not with a view toward 
or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, or with any present intention of distributing or selling the Acquired Interests.  Neither 
Acquiror nor SPOC is a party to any Contract or arrangement with any Person to sell, transfer or grant participations to such Person or to any 
third Person, with respect to the Acquired Interests in violation of applicable Law.  Acquiror and SPOC acknowledge and understand that 
(i) the acceptance of the Acquired Interests has not been registered under the Securities Act in reliance on an exemption therefrom and (ii) that 
the Acquired Interests will, upon their contribution by Contributor, be characterized as “restricted securities” under state and federal securities 
Laws.  Acquiror and SPOC agree that the Acquired Interests may not be sold, transferred, offered for sale, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise 
disposed of except pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act or pursuant to an available exemption from the 
registration requirements of the Securities Act, and in compliance with other applicable state and federal securities Laws.  

   
(b)                                  Acquiror, on its behalf and on behalf of SPOC, (i) has conducted its own independent review and analysis of, and, 

based thereon, has formed an independent judgment concerning, the business, assets, condition, operations and prospects of the Company, and 
(ii) has been furnished with or given full access to such documents and information about the Company and its respective businesses and 
operations as it and its representatives and advisors have deemed necessary to enable it to make an informed decision with respect to the 
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.  Acquiror, on its behalf and on behalf of 
SPOC, has received all materials relating to the business of the Company that it has requested and has been afforded the opportunity to obtain 
any additional information necessary to verify the accuracy of any such information or of any representation or warranty made by the Company 
or Contributor herein or to otherwise evaluate the merits of the transactions contemplated hereby.  Contributor and the Company have 
answered to Acquiror’s satisfaction all inquiries that Acquiror and its representatives and advisors have made on its behalf or on behalf of 
SPOC concerning the business of the Company or otherwise relating to the transactions contemplated hereby.  

   
(c)                                   In entering into this Agreement, Acquiror has relied solely upon its own investigation and analysis and the 

representations and warranties of the Company and Contributor expressly contained in Article 3 and Article 4 , respectively, and the Company 
Certificate and Acquiror acknowledges that, other than as set forth in this Agreement (as modified by the Schedules) and the certificates or 
other instruments delivered pursuant hereto, none of Contributor, the Company or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, 
Affiliates, stockholders, agents or representatives makes or has made any representation or warranty, either express or implied, (x) as to the 
accuracy or completeness of any of the information provided or made available to Acquiror or any of its respective agents, representatives, 
lenders or Affiliates prior to the execution of this Agreement (other than, for the  
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avoidance of doubt, as set forth in this Agreement) or (y) with respect to any projections, forecasts, estimates, plans or budgets of future 
revenues, expenses or expenditures, future results of operations (or any component thereof), future cash flows (or any component thereof) or 
future financial condition (or any component thereof) of the Company heretofore or hereafter delivered to or made available to Acquiror or any 
of its respective agents, representatives, lenders or Affiliates.  It is understood that any cost estimates, projections or other predictions, any data, 
any financial information or any memoranda or offering materials or presentations are not and shall not be deemed to be or to include 
representations or warranties of the Company or Contributor (other than, for the avoidance of doubt, as set forth in this Agreement as modified 
by the Schedules), and are not and shall not be deemed to be relied upon by Acquiror in executing, delivering and performing this Agreement 
and the transactions contemplated hereby.  
   

ARTICLE 6  
COVENANTS  

   
Section 6.1                                     Conduct of Business of the Company .   Except as contemplated by this Agreement, from and after the date hereof 

until the earlier of the Closing Date or the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article 8 , the Company shall and Contributor shall cause 
the Company to, except as consented to in writing by Acquiror (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), 
(a) conduct its business in the ordinary and regular course in substantially the same manner heretofore conducted (including any conduct that is 
reasonably related, complementary or incidental thereto), (b) use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve substantially intact its goodwill 
and business organization and to preserve the present commercial relationships with key Persons with whom it does business (including 
customers, Dealers, suppliers, employees and others having material business dealings with it), (c) use commercially reasonable efforts to 
maintain its material assets and properties, (d) use commercially reasonable efforts to perform in all material respects and materially comply 
with the Company Material Contracts and materially comply with all applicable Laws and Orders and (e) not do any of the following:  

   
(i)                                      take or omit to take any action that would reasonably be expected to result in a Company Material Adverse 

Effect;  
   
(ii)                                   declare or pay a dividend on, or make any other distribution in respect of, its equity securities except Tax 

distributions by the Company to Contributor;  
   
(iii)                                issue, sell or deliver any capital stock, membership interests or other equity securities or issue or sell any 

securities convertible into, or options with respect to, or warrants to purchase or rights to subscribe for, any of its capital stock, membership 
interests or other equity securities;  

   
(iv)                               effect any recapitalization, reclassification, stock or unit dividend, stock or unit split or like change;  
   
(v)                                  acquire or agree to acquire in any manner (whether by merger or consolidation, the purchase of an equity 

interest in or a material portion of the assets of or otherwise) any business or any corporation, partnership, association or other business  
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organization or division thereof of any other Person other than the acquisition of assets in the ordinary course of business consistent with past 
practices;  
   

(vi)                               adopt any amendments to its Governing Documents;  
   
(vii)                            sell, lease, assign, license, abandon, allow to lapse, transfer or otherwise dispose of, or mortgage, pledge 

or permit the incurrence of any Lien on, any material assets, including Real Property, other than sales of products, inventory or services in the 
ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;  

   
(viii)                         authorize any new capital expenditures or commitments exceeding $500,000 per expenditure or 

commitment or $2,500,000 in the aggregate for all such expenditures and commitments, except for capital expenditures incurred in the ordinary 
course of business;  

   
(ix)                               except as expressly provided pursuant to the Secondment Agreement and in the ordinary course of 

business consistent with past practice, hire any executives or terminate the services of any existing executives, increase, accelerate or provide 
for additional compensation, benefits (fringe or otherwise) or other rights to any current or former employee, adopt, amend, terminate or 
otherwise become liable with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan, or agree to do any of the foregoing;  

   
(x)                                  except as provided pursuant to the Secondment Agreement, grant, agree to grant, or amend or modify any 

grant or agreement to grant, any severance, termination or retention payment to any current or former employee;  
   
(xi)                               adopt a plan or agreement of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, 

restructuring, recapitalization or other material reorganization;  
   
(xii)                            incur or permit to exist any indebtedness for borrowed money (which shall be understood to exclude, for 

the avoidance of doubt, capital lease and operating lease obligations, obligations of variable interest entities for which the Company has no 
obligation and trade payables, in each case, whether or not such obligations are required to be accounted for as debt);  

   
(xiii)                         change its accounting policies or procedures except to the extent required to conform with GAAP, or 

change its fiscal year;  
   
(xiv)                        settle or compromise any pending Proceedings except in the ordinary course of business consistent with 

past practice;  
   
(xv)                           terminate or cancel any material insurance policy naming the Company as its beneficiary or a loss payee;  
   
(xvi)                        materially change the nature or scope of its business or enter into a new line of business;  
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(xvii)                     materially modify, change, renew, extend or terminate any Company Material Contract, other than 

renewals or extensions in the ordinary course of business;  
   
(xviii)                  make or change any material Tax election, enter into any agreement relating to Taxes, including closing 

agreements with Taxing Authorities, or settle or compromise any material Tax claim or liability; or  
   
(xix)                        agree in writing or otherwise to do anything contained in this clause (e) .  
   

Section 6.2                                     Tax Matters .  
   

(a)                                  Contributor shall prepare and file (or cause to be prepared and filed) all Tax Returns of the Company with the 
appropriate federal, state, local and foreign Taxing Authorities due on or before the Closing Date.  Contributor shall allow Acquiror to review, 
comment upon and reasonably approve without undue delay any such Tax Returns at least fifteen (15) days before the filing of such Tax 
Returns.  Contributor will cause such Tax Return (as revised to incorporate Acquiror’s reasonable comments) to be timely filed and will 
provide a copy to Acquiror.  

   
(b)                                  Acquiror shall prepare and file, or cause to be prepared and filed, all Tax Returns required to be filed by the 

Company due after the Closing Date, including Tax Returns relating to tax periods that commence before the Closing Date and end after the 
Closing Date (“ Straddle Periods ”).  Such Tax Returns shall be prepared on a basis consistent with past practice except to the extent otherwise 
required by applicable Law.  Acquiror shall allow Contributor to review, comment upon and reasonably approve without undue delay any such 
Tax Returns at least fifteen (15) days before the filing of such Tax Returns.  Not later than five (5) days prior to the due date for payment of 
Taxes with respect to any such Tax Returns, Contributor will pay to (or at the direction of) the Acquiror the amount of any Taxes shown as due 
on such Tax Returns that are allocable to a Pre-Closing Tax Period.  Acquiror will cause such Tax Return (as revised to incorporate 
Contributor’s reasonable comments) to be timely filed and will provide a copy to Contributor.  

   
(c)                                   Unless required by applicable Law, Acquiror shall not make any elections or file (or cause or permit the Company 

to file) any amended Tax Return by or on behalf of the Company with respect to any Pre-Closing Tax Period without Contributor’s consent, 
such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned.  

   
(d)                                  Acquiror and Contributor shall cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by the other Party, in 

connection with the preparation, filing and execution of Tax Returns (including Tax Returns of Contributor with respect to the business 
activities of the Company) and any audit, litigation or other proceeding (each a “ Tax Proceeding ”) with respect to Taxes imposed on or with 
respect to the Company or the assets of the Company for any Pre-Closing Tax Period or Straddle Period.  Such cooperation shall include the 
retention and (upon the other Party’s request) the provision of records and information that are reasonably relevant to any such Tax Return or 
Tax Proceeding and making employees available on a  
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mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any material provided hereunder or to testify at any such Tax 
Proceeding.  Contributor and the Company agree to (and, in the case of the Company, will cause the Company to) retain all books and records 
with respect to Tax matters pertinent to the Company until six (6) months following the expiration of the statute of limitations (and any 
extensions thereof) of the respective Pre-Closing Tax Periods.  Contributor shall have the right to settle, compromise or litigate any matter 
described above in this subsection (d) that could give rise to an indemnification obligation on the part of Contributor pursuant to this 
Agreement.  Acquiror and Contributor further agree, upon request, to use their commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any certificate or 
other document from any Taxing Authority or any other Person or take any other action as may be necessary to mitigate, reduce or eliminate 
any Tax that could be imposed on any Party (including with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement).  
   

(e)                                   The amount of all Pre-Closing Tax Refunds of the Company for all Pre-Closing Tax Periods shall be the property 
of Contributor.  The Company will not, and Acquiror will not permit the Company to, forfeit, fail to collect or otherwise minimize any Pre-
Closing Tax Refund whether through any election to carry forward a net operating loss or otherwise (regardless of whether Acquiror or the 
Company otherwise is legally permitted to take such action).  Acquiror shall pay to Contributor an amount equal to any Pre-Closing Tax 
Refund, together with any interest thereon, received after the Closing Date within fifteen (15) days of such receipt.  A Pre-Closing Tax Refund 
shall be “received” for purposes of this Agreement (i) on the day of receipt of any actual refund of Taxes or (ii) on the day of filing of any Tax 
Return that applies what would have been a Pre-Closing Tax Refund to the payment of Taxes for another taxable period.  

   
(f)                                    The Parties do not expect that the transfer of Membership Interests pursuant to this Agreement will result in any 

state and local transfer, sales, use, registration, stamp or other similar Taxes (“ Transfer Taxes ”).  However, if any Transfer Taxes are imposed 
on the transfer of the Membership Interests pursuant to this Agreement, such Transfer Taxes shall be borne equally by Acquiror and 
Contributor. The Parties shall cooperate in good faith to minimize, to the extent permissible under applicable Law, the amount of any such 
Transfer Taxes.  

   
Section 6.3                                     Access to Information .  From and after the date hereof until the earlier of the Closing Date or the termination of 

this Agreement pursuant to Article 8 , upon reasonable notice, and subject to restrictions contained in the confidentiality agreements to which 
the Company is subject, the Company shall provide to Acquiror and its authorized representatives during normal business hours reasonable 
access to all books and records of the Company (in a manner so as to not unreasonably interfere with the normal business operations of the 
Company) and the Company shall furnish promptly to Acquiror and its representatives such information concerning their business, properties, 
Contracts, assets, liabilities and employees as Acquiror and its representatives may reasonably request; provided , that in no event shall the 
foregoing include any sampling or analysis of soil, groundwater, building materials or other environmental media of the sort generally referred 
to as a Phase II environmental investigation nor may Acquiror require that such Phase II environmental investigation be conducted.  
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Section 6.4                                     Efforts to Consummate .  
   

(a)                                  Subject to the terms and conditions herein provided, each of Contributor, Acquiror and the Company shall use 
commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all action and to do, or cause to be done, all things reasonably necessary, proper 
or advisable to consummate and make effective as promptly as practicable the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the 
satisfaction, but not waiver, of the closing conditions set forth in Article 7 ).  Each of Contributor, Acquiror and the Company shall use 
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain consents of all Governmental Entities or other third parties necessary to consummate the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement.  All costs incurred in connection with obtaining such consents shall be borne by the Party incurring such costs 
and, in no event, shall Contributor, any of its Affiliates or the Company be required to make any payments (other than routine administrative 
fees, contractual change of control payments and attorneys’ fees) or provide other types of consideration in order to seek or facilitate the 
obtaining of any such consents.  

   
(b)                                  In the event any Proceeding by any Governmental Entity or other Person is commenced which questions the 

validity or legality of the transactions contemplated hereby or seeks damages in connection therewith, the Parties agree to cooperate and use 
reasonable efforts to defend against such Proceeding and, if an injunction or other order is issued in any such Proceeding, to use commercially 
reasonable efforts to have such injunction or other order lifted, and to cooperate reasonably regarding any other impediment to the 
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.  

   
(c)                                   Contributor and Acquiror shall permit counsel for the other Party reasonable opportunity to review in advance, and 

consider in good faith the views of the other Party in connection with, any proposed written communication to any Governmental Entity 
relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  Each of Contributor and Acquiror agrees not to participate in any substantive 
meeting or discussion, either in person or by telephone with any Governmental Entity in connection with the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement unless it consults with the other Party in advance and, to the extent not prohibited by such Governmental Entity, gives the other 
Party the opportunity to attend and participate in such meeting or discussion.  

   
Section 6.5                                     Public Announcements .   Acquiror, on the one hand, and the Company and Contributor, on the other hand, shall 

consult with one another and seek one another’s prior written consent before issuing any press release, or otherwise making any public 
statements, with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and shall not issue any such press release or make any such public 
statement prior to such consultation and prior written consent; provided that each Party may make any such announcement which it in good 
faith believes, based on advice of counsel, is necessary in connection with any requirement of Law, it being understood and agreed that each 
Party shall provide the other Parties with copies of any such announcement in advance of such issuance.  

   
Section 6.6                                     Documents and Information .  After the Closing Date, Acquiror and the Company shall, until the seventh (7 ) 

anniversary of the Closing Date, retain all books, records and other documents pertaining to the business of the Company in existence on the 
Closing Date  
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and make the same available for inspection and copying by Contributor (at Contributor’s expense) during normal business hours of the 
Company, upon reasonable request and upon reasonable notice.  No such books, records or documents shall be destroyed after the seventh (7 

) anniversary of the Closing Date by Acquiror or the Company without first advising Contributor in writing and giving Contributor a 
reasonable opportunity to obtain possession thereof.  
   

Section 6.7                                     Contributor Guarantees .  
   

(a)                                  From and after Closing, Contributor shall maintain, or cause to be maintained, each of the guarantees of Contributor 
and/or its Affiliates (other than the Company) in favor of the Company and/or its properties or assets, as set forth on Schedule 6.7 (collectively, 
the “ Contributor Guarantees ”).  

   
(b)                                  For such period as Contributor or any of its Affiliates remains a guarantor under any Contributor Guarantee after 

the Closing, (i) Acquiror shall, or shall cause the Company to, indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Contributor and its Affiliates from and 
against any Loss suffered by Contributor or any of its Affiliates that results from, arises out of, or relates to any such Contributor Guarantee; 
provided , however , that to the extent Acquiror indemnifies Contributor directly (as opposed to causing the Company to indemnify Acquiror), 
Acquiror shall only be obligated to indemnify Contributor for an amount equal to the product of (x) (1) one minus (2) the percentage of 
membership interests in the Company owned by Acquiror as of the date of such Loss, multiplied by (y) the amount of such Loss, (ii) Acquiror 
shall not cause the Company, without the written consent of Contributor, to enter into (A) any expansion, renewal or extension of the 
underlying Contract that is subject to the Contributor Guarantee unless the Company shall first obtain a release of such Contributor Guarantee 
or (B) any other amendment or modification of the underlying Contract that is subject to the Contributor Guarantee in a way which would 
affect the related Contributor Guarantee in any way without the prior written consent of Contributor, and (iii) Contributor shall not, without the 
written consent of Acquiror, enter into any amendment, expansion, modification, renewal or extension of any such Contributor Guarantee.  

   
Section 6.8                                     Notices; Schedule Supplements .  
   

(a)                                  From and after the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Closing Date or the termination of this Agreement 
pursuant to Article 8 , each Party shall notify each other Party in writing of (i) any Company Material Adverse Effect (in the case the notifying 
Party is Contributor) or any Acquiror Material Adverse Effect (in the case the notifying Party is Acquiror), (ii) any fact, circumstance, event or 
action the existence, occurrence or taking of which has resulted in, or would reasonably be expected to result in, any representation or warranty 
of Contributor hereunder (in the case the notifying Party is Contributor) or Acquiror hereunder (in the case the notifying Party is Acquiror), not 
being true and correct, in each case, to the extent the fact, circumstance, event or action underlying such breach has occurred on or prior to the 
date hereof, or (iii) any fact, circumstance, event or action the existence, occurrence or taking of which has resulted in, or would reasonably be 
expected to result in, the failure of any of the conditions set forth in Article 7 to be satisfied.  
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(b)                                  From and after the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Closing Date or the termination of this Agreement 

pursuant to Article 8 , the Company may, within five (5) Business Days of obtaining actual knowledge of the occurrence of the matter being 
disclosed, prepare and deliver to Acquiror supplements and/or amendments to the disclosure schedules to this Agreement (the “ Schedules ”) 
(which may contain additional Schedules that are not in existence as of the date hereof relating to any of the provisions contained in Article 3 , 
in each case, such supplement, amendment or new Schedule being referred to as an “ Update ”) only with respect to matters first occurring after 
the date hereof and which matters do not result from a breach of any covenants required to be performed or complied with by the Company or 
Contributor under this Agreement, and each such Update shall be deemed to be an amendment to this Agreement for all purposes hereof other 
than for purposes of the conditions set forth in Section 7.2 ; provided that, in the event that the disclosure of the facts, circumstances and events 
included in such Update would give Acquiror the right to elect to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1(b)  if the 20-day cure period 
described therein had lapsed and Acquiror does not make such election within ten (10) Business Days of its receipt of such Update, such 
Update shall be deemed to be an amendment to this Agreement for all purposes hereof, including with respect to the conditions set forth in 
Section 7.2 .  

   
Section 6.9                                     Restrictions on Transfer .  Prior to the Closing or the earlier termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article 8 , 

Contributor shall not sell, transfer, contribute, pledge, distribute or otherwise dispose of or incur any Liens on any Membership Interests owned 
by Contributor, or agree to do any of the foregoing.  

   
Section 6.10                              Debt Financing .  
   

(a)                                  Acquiror shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and use commercially 
reasonable efforts to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper and advisable to (i) obtain debt financing that is on such terms and 
conditions as may be reasonably acceptable to Acquiror, the net proceeds of which are greater than or equal to the amount set forth on Schedule 
6.10 and that constitutes Acquiror Debt (the “ Debt Financing ”), and (ii)(A) negotiate and execute definitive agreements with respect to the 
Debt Financing (the “ Financing Agreements ”) on terms and conditions reasonably acceptable to Acquiror, which terms and conditions shall 
not be in violation of any of the covenants or agreements of Acquiror contained herein, and deliver to Contributor a copy thereof as promptly as 
practicable (and no later than four (4) Business Days) after such execution (but in any event, prior to the Closing); (B) satisfy on a timely basis, 
or obtain a timely waiver of, all conditions in the Financing Agreements that are within the control of Acquiror; (C) comply with the 
obligations of Acquiror under the Financing Agreements; and (D) consummate the Debt Financing at or prior to the Closing.  Acquiror’s 
obligations under this Section 6.10 shall include using commercially reasonable efforts to seek the Debt Financing from alternative financing 
sources in the event any financing sources that may be initially contacted by Acquiror are unable to provide the Debt Financing.  

   
(b)                                  Acquiror shall use commercially reasonable efforts to keep Contributor and Contributor Guarantor informed with 

respect to all material activity concerning the status of the Debt Financing and shall give Contributor and Contributor Guarantor prompt notice 
of any material adverse change with respect to such Debt Financing.  
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(c)                                   Without limiting Acquiror’s obligations set forth in this Section 6.10 , prior to the Closing, each of Acquiror and 

Contributor shall cooperate, and shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause its respective officers, employees, representatives, 
auditors, and advisors, including legal and accounting advisors, to cooperate, in connection with the arrangement of the Debt Financing 
(provided, that such requested cooperation does not unreasonably interfere with the ongoing operations of business of the Parties or their 
respective Affiliates), including, if necessary, (i) participation in meetings, drafting sessions, rating agency presentations, due diligence 
sessions, and “road show” and other customary marketing presentations; (ii) assisting any financing sources in the preparation of (A) one or 
more customary offering documents and documents to be filed with the SEC in connection with the Debt Financing and (B) materials for rating 
agency presentations; (iii) using commercially reasonable efforts to obtain surveys and title insurance reasonably requested by financing 
sources; (iv) taking all reasonably required corporate actions, subject to the consummation of the Closing, to permit the consummation of the 
Debt Financing; (v) providing authorization letters to any financing sources authorizing the distribution of information to prospective lenders 
and containing a customary representation to the arranger of any financing that the information contained in any offering document or 
information memorandum relating to the Company does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and 
(vi) cooperating reasonably with the financing sources’ due diligence of the Company, to the extent customary and reasonable and to the extent 
not unreasonably interfering with the business of the Parties and their respective Affiliates.  Any information provided by the Parties in 
connection with seeking the Debt Financing (which must be furnished in writing) shall be prepared in good faith and shall, be free of any 
material misstatements or omissions.  

   
(d)                                  In addition, Contributor shall: (i) use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause its independent accountants to 

provide a letter or letters containing statements and information of the type ordinarily included in accountants’ “comfort letters” to underwriters 
with respect to financial statements and certain financial information of the Company used in connection with the Debt Financing; (ii) use its 
commercially reasonable efforts to provide customary representation letters and other authorizations or information to its independent 
accountants, to enable them to provide the foregoing “comfort letters”; (iii) use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the consent of its 
independent accountants for the inclusion of its reports on the Company in any document or documents to be used in connection with the Debt 
Financing; and (iv) cause the appropriate representatives of the Company to execute and deliver any definitive financing documents or other 
certificates or documents as may be reasonably requested by Acquiror for delivery at the consummation of the Debt Financing; provided, 
however, that Contributor shall not be required to pay any commitment or other similar fee or incur any other liability (other than pursuant to 
this Agreement) in connection with the Debt Financing; provided, further, that the effectiveness of any documentation executed by the 
Company shall be subject to the consummation of the Closing.  

   
(e)                                   Acquiror shall, and shall cause its controlled Affiliates to, (i) subject to Section 2.5 , upon request by Contributor, 

reimburse Contributor for all reasonable and documented out of-pocket costs incurred by Contributor and its Affiliates and representatives in 
connection with the cooperation provided for in Section 6.10(c)  and Section 6.10(d)  (such reimbursement to be made promptly and in any 
event within seven (7) Business Days of delivery  

   
37  

 



   
of reasonably acceptable documentation evidencing such expenses); and (ii) indemnify and hold harmless the Contributor and its Affiliates and 
representatives from and against any and all Losses suffered or incurred by them in connection with the arrangement of the Debt Financing and 
any information utilized in connection therewith (other than information provided by the Contributor, its Affiliates (other than Acquiror, the 
general partner of Acquiror and their respective Subsidiaries) or its representatives, to the extent they are acting in their capacity as such, and 
not in their capacity as representatives of Acquiror, the general partner of Acquiror or any of their respective Subsidiaries).  
   

ARTICLE 7  
CONDITIONS TO CONSUMMATION OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONT EMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT  

   
Section 7.1                                     Conditions to the Obligations of the Company, Acquiror and Contributor .  The obligations of the Company, 

Acquiror and Contributor to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction (or, if permitted by 
applicable Law, waiver by the Party for whose benefit such condition exists) of the following conditions:  

   
(a)                                  that there be no Order issued by any court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Entity or other legal 

restraint or prohibition preventing the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in effect; provided , however , that 
each of Acquiror, Contributor and the Company shall have used commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the entry of any such injunction or 
other Order and to appeal as promptly as possible any injunction or other Order that may be entered; and  

   
(b)                                  Acquiror shall have consummated the Debt Financing.  
   

Section 7.2                                     Other Conditions to the Obligations of Acquiror .  The obligations of Acquiror to consummate the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction or, if permitted by applicable Law, waiver by Acquiror of the following further 
conditions:  

   
(a)                                  (i) All representations and warranties of Contributor and the Company contained in Article 3 and Article 4 (other 

than the representations and warranties listed in clause (ii) of this Section 7.2(a) ) shall be true and correct in all respects (without regard to 
qualifications as to materiality or Company Material Adverse Effect) as though made on and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent the 
failure of such representations and warranties to be true and correct as of such dates would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect; and 
(ii) the representations and warranties of Contributor set forth in Section 3.1 ( Organization and Qualification ), Section 3.2 ( Capitalization of 
the Company; Subsidiaries ), Section 3.3 ( Authority ), Section 3.11(p)   (Tax Matters) , Section 4.1 ( Organization and Qualification ), 
Section 4.2 ( Authority ) and Section 4.4 ( Title to the Membership Interests ) shall be true and correct in all respects as though made on and as 
of the Closing Date;  

   
(b)                                  Contributor and the Company shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all covenants 

required to be performed or complied with by the Company and Contributor, respectively, under this Agreement on or prior to the Closing 
Date;  
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(c)                                   from the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Company Material Adverse Effect; and  
   
(d)                                  prior to or at the Closing, Contributor shall have delivered the items contemplated by Section 2.3(a) .  
   

Section 7.3                                     Other Conditions to the Obligations of the Company and Contributor .   The obligations of the Company and 
Contributor to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction or, if permitted by applicable Law, 
waiver by the Company and Contributor of the following further conditions:  

   
(a)                                  (i) All representations and warranties of Acquiror contained in Article 5 (other than the representations and 

warranties listed in clause (ii) of this Section 7.2(a) ) shall be true and correct in all respects (without regard to qualifications as to materiality or 
Acquiror Material Adverse Effect) as though made on and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent the failure of such representations and 
warranties to be true and correct as of such dates would not have an Acquiror Material Adverse Effect; and (ii) the representations and 
warranties of Acquiror set forth in Section 5.1 ( Organization and Qualification ), Section 5.2 ( Authority ) and Section 5.4 ( Valid Issuance; 
Listing ) shall be true and correct in all respects as though made on and as of the Closing Date.  

   
(b)                                  Acquiror shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all covenants required to be performed or 

complied with by it under this Agreement on or prior to the Closing Date;  
   
(c)                                   from the date of this Agreement, there shall not have occurred any Acquiror Material Adverse Effect;  
   
(d)                                  the Acquiror Common Units to be issued as the Unit Consideration shall have been approved for listing on the New 

York Stock Exchange, subject to official notice of issuance; and  
   
(e)                                   prior to or at the Closing, Contributor shall have delivered the items contemplated by Section 2.3(b) .  
   

ARTICLE 8  
TERMINATION; AMENDMENT; WAIVER  

   
Section 8.1                                     Termination .   This Agreement may be terminated and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement may be 

abandoned at any time prior to the Closing:  
   

(a)                                  by mutual written consent of Acquiror and Contributor;  
   
(b)                                  by Acquiror, if any of the representations or warranties of Contributor or the Company set forth in Article 3 or 

Article 4 shall not be true and correct or if the Company or Contributor has failed to perform any covenant or agreement on the part of 
Contributor or the Company set forth in this Agreement (including an obligation to consummate the Closing) such that the condition to Closing 
set forth in either Section 7.2(a)  or Section 7.2(b)  would not be  
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satisfied and the breach or breaches causing such representations or warranties not to be true and correct, or the failures to perform any 
covenant or agreement, as applicable, are not cured within twenty (20) calendar days after written notice thereof is delivered to Contributor; 
provided that Acquiror is not then in breach of this Agreement so as to cause the condition to Closing set forth in either Section 7.3(a)  or 
Section 7.3(b)  from being satisfied;  
   

(c)                                   by Contributor, if any of the representations or warranties of Acquiror set forth in Article 5 shall not be true and 
correct or if Acquiror has failed to perform any covenant or agreement on the part of Acquiror set forth in this Agreement (including an 
obligation to consummate the Closing) such that the condition to Closing set forth in either Section 7.3(a)  or Section 7.3(b)  would not be 
satisfied and the breach or breaches causing such representations or warranties not to be true and correct, or the failures to perform any 
covenant or agreement, as applicable, are not cured within twenty (20) calendar days after written notice thereof is delivered to Acquiror; 
provided that neither Contributor nor the Company is then in breach of this Agreement so as to cause the condition to Closing set forth in 
Section 7.2(a)  or Section 7.2(b)  from being satisfied;  

   
(d)                                  by either Acquiror or Contributor, if the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall not have been 

consummated on or prior to July 23, 2015 (the “ Termination Date ”) and the Party seeking to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this 
Section 8.1(d)  shall not have breached in any material respect its obligations under this Agreement in any manner that shall have proximately 
caused the failure to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement on or before the Termination Date; provided , that if by 
July 23, 2015, (i) the Closing has not occurred and (ii) the condition set forth in Section 7.1(b)  has not been satisfied, Contributor may, in its 
sole discretion, extend the Termination Date by up to ninety (90) days by written notice to Acquiror (it being understood that Contributor may 
elect to extend the Termination Date on more than one occasion so long as the Termination Date is not extended by more than ninety (90) days 
in the aggregate, taking into account each such extension); or  

   
(e)                                   by either Acquiror or Contributor, if any Governmental Entity shall have issued an Order or taken any other action 

permanently enjoining, restraining or otherwise prohibiting the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and such Order or other action 
shall have become final and nonappealable; provided that the Party seeking to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.1(e)  shall 
have used commercially reasonable efforts to remove such Order.  

   
Section 8.2                                     Effect of Termination .   In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1 , this entire 

Agreement shall forthwith become void (and there shall be no liability or obligation on the part of Acquiror, Contributor, Contributor 
Guarantor or the Company or their respective officers, directors or equityholders) with the exception of (a) the provisions of this Section 8.2 , 
Section 8.3 , Section 8.4 , Section 6.5 and Article 10 , each of which provisions shall survive such termination and remain valid and binding 
obligations of the Parties, and (b) any liability of any Party for any willful breach of or willful failure to perform any of its obligations under 
this Agreement prior to such termination (including any failure by a Party to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement if it 
is obligated to do so hereunder).  For purposes of this Section 8.2 , “willful” shall mean a breach that is a consequence  
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of an act undertaken by the breaching Party with the knowledge that the taking of such act would, or would be reasonably expected to, cause a 
breach of this Agreement.  
   

Section 8.3                                     Amendment .   This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written agreement executed and delivered 
by duly authorized officers of Acquiror, Contributor and the Company.  This Agreement may not be modified or amended except as provided 
in the immediately preceding sentence and any purported amendment by any Party or Parties effected in a manner which does not comply with 
this Section 8.3 shall be void.  

   
Section 8.4                                     Extension; Waiver .   At any time prior to the Closing, Contributor (on behalf of itself and the Company) may 

(a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of Acquiror contained herein, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the 
representations and warranties of Acquiror contained herein or in any document, certificate or writing delivered by Acquiror pursuant hereto or 
(c) waive compliance by Acquiror with any of the agreements or conditions contained herein.  At any time prior to the Closing, Acquiror may 
(i) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the Company or Contributor contained herein, (ii) waive any 
inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the Company and Contributor contained herein or in any document, certificate or writing 
delivered by the Company or Contributor pursuant hereto or (iii) waive compliance by the Company and Contributor with any of the 
agreements or conditions contained herein.  Any agreement on the part of any Party to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set 
forth in a written instrument signed on behalf of such Party.  The failure of any Party to assert any of its rights hereunder shall not constitute a 
waiver of such rights.  

   
ARTICLE 9  

INDEMNIFICATION  
   

Section 9.1                                     Survival .  Subject to the limitations and other provisions of this Agreement, all of the representations and 
warranties of the Parties contained herein, in the Company Certificate or in the Acquiror Certificate shall survive the Closing and shall remain 
in full force and effect until the date that is eighteen (18) months from the Closing Date; provided , however , that the representations and 
warranties contained in Section 3.11 ( Tax Matters ) shall survive through the date that is 30 days after the expiration of the applicable statute 
of limitations and the Contributor Fundamental Representations and the Acquiror Fundamental Representations shall survive the Closing 
indefinitely (each, as applicable, the “ Cut-Off Date ”).  All covenants and agreements of the Parties contained herein shall survive the Closing 
indefinitely or for the period explicitly specified therein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any claims asserted in good faith with reasonable 
specificity (to the extent known at such time) and in writing by notice from the non-breaching Party to the breaching Party prior to the Cut-Off 
Date or end of any other applicable survival period shall not thereafter be barred by the expiration of the relevant representation, warranty or 
covenant, and such claims shall survive until finally resolved.  

   
Section 9.2                                     Indemnification By Contributor .  Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Article 9 , from and after the 

Closing, Contributor shall indemnify and defend each of Acquiror and its Affiliates (including the Company) and their respective 
representatives, including directors, managers, officers, employees, consultants, financial advisors, counsel and  
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accountants (collectively, the “ Acquiror Indemnitees ”) against, and shall hold each of them harmless from and against, and shall pay and 
reimburse each of them for, any and all Losses actually incurred or sustained by, or imposed upon, the Acquiror Indemnitees as a result of:  
   

(a)                                  any breach of any of the representations or warranties of Contributor or the Company contained in this Agreement, 
as of the date such representation or warranty was made or as if such representation or warranty was made on and as of the Closing Date;  

   
(b)                                  any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by Contributor pursuant to 

this Agreement; and  
   
(c)                                   Contributor Taxes.  
   

Section 9.3                                     Indemnification By Acquiror .  Subject to the other terms and conditions of this Article 9 , from and after the 
Closing, Acquiror shall indemnify and defend each of Contributor and its Affiliates and their respective representatives, including directors, 
managers, officers, employees, consultants, financial advisors, counsel and accountants (collectively, the “ Contributor Indemnitees ”) against, 
and shall hold each of them harmless from and against, and shall pay and reimburse each of them for, any and all Losses actually incurred or 
sustained by, or imposed upon, the Contributor Indemnitees:  

   
(a)                                  as a result of any breach of any of the representations or warranties of Acquiror contained in this Agreement, as of 

the date such representation or warranty was made or as if such representation or warranty was made on and as of the Closing Date;  
   
(b)                                  as a result of any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement or obligation to be performed by Acquiror 

pursuant to this Agreement; and  
   
(c)                                   pursuant to Section 6.7 .  
   

Section 9.4                                     Certain Limitations .  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the indemnification provided for 
in Section 9.2 and Section 9.3 shall be subject to the following limitations:  

   
(a)                                  Contributor shall not be liable to the Acquiror Indemnitees for indemnification under Section 9.2(a)  (other than 

with respect to a claim for indemnification as a result of any inaccuracy in or breach of Section 3.1 ( Organization and Qualification ), 
Section 3.2 ( Capitalization of the Company; Subsidiaries ), Section 3.3 ( Authority ), Section 3.12 ( Brokers ), Section 4.1 ( Organization and 
Qualification ), Section 4.2 ( Authority ), Section 4.4 ( Title to the Membership Interests ), and Section 4.6 ( Brokers ) (collectively, the “ 
Contributor Fundamental Representations ”)), until the aggregate amount of all Losses indemnifiable under Section 9.2(a)  (other than those 
with respect to any Contributor Fundamental Representation and other than those excluded pursuant to Section 9.4(b) ) exceeds an amount 
equal to the Deductible, in which event the Acquiror Indemnitees shall only be entitled to recover Losses in excess of such amount, subject to 
the other limitations set forth herein.  

   
(b)                                  Contributor shall not be liable to the Acquiror Indemnitees for indemnification under Section 9.2(a)  (other than 

with respect to a claim for indemnification with  
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respect to or by reason of any Contributor Fundamental Representation) for any particular Loss (including any series of related Losses) 
indemnifiable pursuant to Section 9.2(a)  (other than those with respect to any Contributor Fundamental Representation), unless such Loss 
(including any series of related Losses) equals or exceeds the Per Claim Deductible, and any Losses (or series of related Losses) that are less 
than the Per Claim Deductible (other than those with respect to any Contributor Fundamental Representation) shall not be included in the 
aggregate Losses indemnifiable pursuant to Section 9.2(a) , including for purposes of the calculation in Section 9.4(a) .  
   

(c)                                   Acquiror shall not be liable to the Contributor Indemnitees for indemnification under Section 9.3(a)  (other than 
with respect to a claim for indemnification as a result of any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation and warranty in Section 5.1 
( Organization and Qualification ), Section 5.2 ( Authority ), Section 5.4 ( Valid Issuance; Listing ) and Section 5.9 ( Brokers ) (collectively, 
the “ Acquiror Fundamental Representations ”)) until the aggregate amount of all Losses in respect of indemnification under Section 9.3(a) 
 (other than those with respect to any Acquiror Fundamental Representation and other than those excluded pursuant to Section 9.4(d) ) exceeds 
an amount equal to the Deductible, in which event the Contributor Indemnitees shall only be entitled to recover Losses in excess of such 
amount, subject to the other limitations set forth herein.  

   
(d)                                  Acquiror shall not be liable to the Contributor Indemnitees for indemnification under Section 9.3(a)  (other than 

with respect to a claim for indemnification with respect to or by reason of any Acquiror Fundamental Representation) for any particular Loss 
(including any series of related Losses) indemnifiable pursuant to Section 9.3(a)  (other than those with respect to any Acquiror Fundamental 
Representation), unless such Loss (including any series of related Losses) equals or exceeds the Per Claim Deductible, and any Losses (or 
series of related Losses) that are less than the Per Claim Deductible (other than those with respect to any Acquiror Fundamental 
Representation) shall not be included in the aggregate Losses indemnifiable pursuant to Section 9.3(a) , including for purposes of the 
calculation in Section 9.4(c) .  

   
(e)                                   The maximum liability of Contributor (other than with respect to a claim for indemnification with respect to a 

breach of a Contributor Fundamental Representation) with respect to Losses indemnifiable pursuant to Section 9.2(a)  shall be the Cap; 
provided, that the maximum liability of Contributor pursuant to this Article 9 shall not exceed the Aggregate Cap.  

   
(f)                                    The maximum liability of Acquiror (other than with respect to a claim for indemnification with respect to a breach 

of an Acquiror Fundamental Representation) with respect to Losses indemnifiable pursuant to Section 9.3(a)  shall be the Cap; provided, that 
the maximum liability of Acquiror pursuant to this Article 9 shall not exceed the Aggregate Cap.  

   
(g)                                   An Indemnifying Party (as defined below) shall be obligated to pay for the same Loss only once under this 

Article 9 even if a claim for indemnification in respect of such Loss has been made as a result of a breach of more than one representation, 
warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement.  
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(h)                                  For purposes of this Article 9 , any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation or warranty, and any damages 

resulting therefrom, shall be determined without regard to any materiality, Material Adverse Effect or other similar qualification contained in or 
otherwise applicable to such representation or warranty.  

   
(i)                                      Subject to the provisions of this Section 9.4(i)  the amount of any and all Losses shall be determined net of (i) any 

amounts in payment for Losses actually received by any of the Acquiror Indemnitees or Contributor Indemnitees, as applicable, (net of any 
related costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith, including the direct costs of premiums relating to any such insurance proceeds) 
under or pursuant to (x) any insurance coverage or storage tank fund and all arrangements set forth on Schedule 3.10 and (y) any other 
indemnity or reimbursement arrangement or Contract, or from other collateral sources (collectively, “ Alternative Arrangements ”), and (ii) any 
Tax benefits arising from the incurrence or payment of the underlying obligations relating to such Losses actually realized for the year of such 
incurrence or payment.  The Acquiror Indemnitees shall use commercially reasonable efforts to collect all amounts available and recoverable 
under any Alternative Arrangements and Contributor shall provide reasonable cooperation to the Acquiror Indemnitees undertaking such 
efforts, including by providing reasonable access to any documents, reports, data or other information in the possession of Contributor required 
by the Acquiror Indemnitees or any Alternative Arrangements; provided , however , that, (A) in no event, shall the expenditure of such efforts 
require the Acquiror Indemnitees to expend any such efforts prior to submitting a claim for indemnification under this Agreement, (B) nothing 
provided herein shall require any Acquiror Indemnitee to avail itself of any available policies of self-insurance other than any Alternative 
Arrangements, and (C) if Acquiror seeks indemnification from Contributor, Acquiror shall provide Contributor with documents and 
information directly related to such efforts and recovery, as reasonably requested by Contributor.  For the avoidance of doubt, Contributor shall 
not be liable for any Losses related to any breach of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 3.10 ( Environmental Matters ) 
unless and until the Acquiror Indemnitees have exhausted their remedies under all Alternative Arrangements reasonably available to Acquiror 
or any other Acquiror Indemnitees, and thereafter, Contributor shall only be responsible for the portion of any Losses that is not satisfied or 
covered by any reasonably available Alternative Arrangements (net of any related costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith, 
including the direct costs of premiums relating to any insurance proceeds) after satisfaction or payment of any deductible or retention 
thereunder; provided , however , that, in no event, shall the exhaustion of such remedies require the Acquiror Indemnitees to exhaust any such 
remedies prior to submitting a claim for indemnification under this Agreement.  For purposes hereof, Acquiror shall have satisfied the 
“exhaustion of remedies” of Alternative Arrangements as long as Acquiror has commenced a Proceeding in pursuit of the Alternative 
Arrangements and Acquiror prosecutes such Proceeding in good faith in an attempt to avail itself of the Alternative Arrangements; provided, 
however, that “exhaustion of remedies” shall not require Acquiror to pursue or appeal any decision issued in connection with any Proceeding.  

   
(j)                                     In any case where a Acquiror Indemnitee, directly or indirectly through the Company, recovers, under any 

Alternative Arrangements, any amount in respect of a matter for which such Acquiror Indemnitee was, prior to such recovery, indemnified 
pursuant to Section 9.2 , such Acquiror Indemnitee, or, if applicable, the Company, shall promptly pay over to Contributor any amount so 
recovered from Contributor (after deducting therefrom the amount of  
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the expenses incurred by such Acquiror Indemnitee in procuring such recovery), but not in excess of the sum of (i) any amount previously so 
paid by Contributor to or on behalf of such Acquiror Indemnitee in respect of such matter and (ii) any amount actually expended by 
Contributor in pursuing or defending any claim arising out of such matter that is indemnifiable as a Loss hereunder.  
   

(k)                                  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, to the extent any Acquiror Indemnitee has a claim under 
Section 9.2 for Losses suffered by the Company, such Acquiror Indemnitee shall not be entitled to recover any amounts in excess of the Equity 
Percentage of such Losses.  

   
(l)                                      (i) The Acquiror Indemnitees shall not be entitled to indemnification pursuant to Section 9.2 for any Loss to the 

extent that such Loss is reflected as a liability on the Latest Company Balance Sheet or reflected in the footnotes to the Company Financial 
Statements and (ii) the Contributor Indemnitees shall not be entitled to indemnification pursuant to Section 9.3 for any Loss to the extent that 
such Loss is reflected as a liability on the Latest Acquiror Balance Sheet or reflected in the financial statements of Acquiror included in the 
Acquiror SEC Documents, in each case of clauses (i) and (ii), only to the extent that amounts associated with such Loss are included therein.  

   
(m)                              Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Contributor shall not be obligated to indemnify the Acquiror 

Indemnitees for any Loss with respect to any environmental matter or condition, including for any inaccuracy or breach of the representations 
and warranties in Section 3.10 ( Environmental Matters ), that is discovered or detected by any sampling, investigation, analysis or reporting 
unless: (i) such sampling, investigating, analysis or reporting is affirmatively required by Environmental Laws or by a Governmental Entity; 
(ii) such sampling, investigation, analysis or reporting is necessary to conduct in defense of a Third Party Claim (as defined below) against 
Acquiror Indemnitees alleging that Hazardous Substances have migrated off of any Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property; or (iii) such 
sampling, investigation, analysis or reporting is conducted in connection with the bona fide construction or expansion of improvements by any 
Acquiror Indemnitee at any Real Property undertaken in the ordinary course of business, and in such case only to the extent such sampling, 
investigation, analysis or reporting is consistent with industry practice.  Any indemnification of any of the Acquiror Indemnitees with respect to 
any remediation, removal or cleanup, including any investigation, monitoring, or remedial obligations, shall be limited to such cost effective 
action that is required by Environmental Laws or by a Governmental Entity to attain compliance with minimum applicable remedial standards 
for continued use of the relevant property or facility as a gasoline fueling and service station and/or convenience store with gasoline fueling 
operations, employing, if appropriate, available or acceptable, permissible risk-based remedial standards and reasonable deed or use restrictions 
and institutional controls.  

   
Section 9.5                                     Indemnification Procedures .  The party making a claim under this Article 9 is referred to as the “ Indemnified Party 

”, and the party against whom such claim is asserted under this Article 9 is referred to as the “ Indemnifying Party ”.  
   

(a)                                  Third Party Claims .  If any Indemnified Party receives notice of the assertion or commencement of any Proceeding 
made or brought by any Person who is not a party  
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to this Agreement or an Affiliate of a party to this Agreement or a representative of the foregoing (a “ Third Party Claim ”) against such 
Indemnified Party with respect to which the Indemnifying Party is obligated to provide indemnification under this Agreement, the Indemnified 
Party shall give the Indemnifying Party reasonably prompt written notice thereof, but in any event not later than thirty (30) calendar days after 
receipt of such notice of such Third Party Claim. The failure to give such prompt written notice shall not, however, relieve the Indemnifying 
Party of its indemnification obligations, except and only to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is actually and materially prejudiced thereby. 
Such notice by the Indemnified Party shall describe the Third Party Claim in reasonable detail, shall include copies of all material written 
evidence thereof and shall indicate the estimated amount, if reasonably practicable, of the Loss that has been or may reasonably be sustained by 
the Indemnified Party. The Indemnifying Party shall have the right to participate in, or by giving written notice to the Indemnified Party, to 
assume the conduct and control of the settlement or defense of any Third Party Claim at the Indemnifying Party’s expense and by the 
Indemnifying Party’s own counsel, and the Indemnified Party shall cooperate in good faith in such defense; provided , that if the Indemnifying 
Party is Contributor, such Indemnifying Party shall not have the right to defend or direct the defense of any such Third Party Claim that seeks 
an injunction or other equitable relief against the Indemnified Party.  In the event that the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of any Third 
Party Claim, subject to Section 9.5(b) , it shall have the right to take such action as it deems necessary to avoid, dispute, defend, appeal or make 
counterclaims pertaining to any such Third Party Claim in the name and on behalf of the Indemnified Party. The Indemnified Party shall have 
the right to participate in the defense of any Third Party Claim with counsel selected by it subject to the Indemnifying Party’s right to control 
the settlement and defense thereof.  The fees and disbursements of such counsel shall be at the expense of the Indemnified Party; provided , that 
if in the reasonable opinion of counsel to the Indemnified Party, (A) there are legal defenses available to an Indemnified Party that are different 
from or additional to those available to the Indemnifying Party; or (B) there exists a conflict of interest between the Indemnifying Party and the 
Indemnified Party that cannot be waived, the Indemnifying Party shall be liable for the reasonable fees and expenses of one counsel to the 
Indemnified Party. If the Indemnifying Party elects not to compromise or defend such Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party may, subject to 
Section 9.5(b) , pay, compromise or defend such Third Party Claim and seek indemnification for any and all Losses based upon, arising from or 
relating to such Third Party Claim.  Contributor and Acquiror shall cooperate with each other in all reasonable respects in connection with the 
defense of any Third Party Claim, including making available records relating to such Third Party Claim and furnishing, without expense (other 
than reimbursement of actual out-of-pocket expenses) to the defending party, such management employees of the non-defending party, 
information and testimony, and attending such conferences, discovery proceedings, hearings, trials and appeals as may be reasonably necessary 
for the preparation of the defense of such Third Party Claim.  
   

(b)                                  Settlement of Third Party Claims .  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Indemnifying Party 
shall not enter into settlement of any Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, except to the extent such 
settlement does not provide for liability or the creation of a financial or other obligation on the part of the Indemnified Party and provides, in 
customary form, for the unconditional release of each Indemnified Party from all liabilities and obligations in connection with such Third Party 
Claim. If the Indemnified Party has assumed the defense pursuant to Section 9.5(a) , it shall not agree to  
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any settlement without the written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), and no 
such settlement shall be determinative of the Indemnifying Party’s obligations under this Article 9 .  

   
(c)                                   Direct Claims .  Any claim by an Indemnified Party on account of a Loss which does not result from a Third Party 

Claim (a “ Direct Claim ”) shall be asserted by the Indemnified Party giving the Indemnifying Party reasonably prompt written notice thereof, 
but in any event not later than thirty (30) calendar days after the Indemnified Party becomes aware of the matter or circumstance alleged to give 
rise to such Direct Claim. The failure to give such prompt written notice shall not, however, relieve the Indemnifying Party of its 
indemnification obligations, except and only to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is actually and materially prejudiced thereby.  Such 
notice by the Indemnified Party shall describe the Direct Claim in reasonable detail, shall include copies of all material written evidence thereof 
and shall indicate the estimated amount of the Loss that has been or may be reasonably sustained by the Indemnified Party.  The Indemnified 
Party shall allow the Indemnifying Party and its professional advisors to investigate the matter or circumstance alleged to give rise to the Direct 
Claim, and whether and to what extent any amount is payable in respect of the Direct Claim, and the Indemnified Party shall assist the 
Indemnifying Party’s investigation by giving such information and assistance (including access to the Company’s premises and personnel and 
the right to examine and copy any accounts, documents or records) as the Indemnifying Party or any of its professional advisors may 
reasonably request.  

   
Section 9.6                                     Subrogation .  In the event of payment by or on behalf of any Indemnifying Party to any Indemnified Party 

(including pursuant to this Article 9 ) in connection with any Third Party Claim, such Indemnifying Party shall be subrogated to and shall stand 
in the place of such Indemnified Party as to any events or circumstances in respect of which such Indemnified Party may have any right, 
defense or claim relating to such claim or demand against any claimant or plaintiff asserting such claim or demand.  Such Indemnified Party 
shall cooperate with such Indemnifying Party in a reasonable manner, and at the cost of such Indemnifying Party, in presenting any subrogated 
right, defense or claim.  

   
Section 9.7                                     Tax Treatment of Indemnification Payments .  All indemnification payments made under this Agreement shall be 

treated by the Parties as an adjustment to the Consideration for Tax purposes, and to the extent possible, first as an adjustment to the Cash 
Consideration, unless otherwise required by Law.  

   
Section 9.8                                     Exclusive Remedies .  Except with respect to Section 8.2 , the Parties acknowledge and agree that, from and after 

the Closing, their sole and exclusive remedy with respect to any and all claims (other than claims for fraud on the part of a party in connection 
with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, which such claims shall not be subject to any monetary or survival limitations set forth 
herein, and other than claims to enforce, or for breach of, Guaranteed Obligations pursuant to Section 10.19 ) for any breach of any 
representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation set forth herein or otherwise relating to or in any way arising from the subject 
matter of this Agreement, shall be pursuant to the indemnification provisions set forth in this Article 9 , and the Parties hereby waive any other 
statutory and common law remedies or claims.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Acquiror acknowledges and agrees that each 
Acquiror Indemnitee’s right to indemnification under this  
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Article 9 for any environmental matter, including for any breach or inaccuracy of the representations and warranties contained in Section 3.10 
( Environmental Matters ), shall constitute such Acquiror Indemnitee’s sole and exclusive remedy against Contributor with respect to any 
environmental matter, including any such matter arising under any Environmental Laws.  The Acquiror Indemnitees hereby, except as 
specifically reserved under this Article 9 , (a) waive any remedies or claims that may be available under Environmental Laws relating to the 
subject matter of this Agreement, and (b) release Contributor from any claim, demand or liability with respect to any environmental matters 
relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, including any such claims arising under Environmental Laws.  
   

ARTICLE 10  
MISCELLANEOUS  

   
Section 10.1                              Entire Agreement; Assignment .   This Agreement (a) constitutes the entire agreement among the Parties with 

respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all other prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the Parties with 
respect to the subject matter hereof and (b) shall not be assigned by any Party (whether by operation of Law or otherwise).  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement not in accordance with the terms of this Section 10.1 shall be void.  

   
Section 10.2                              Notices .   All notices, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall 

be given (and shall be deemed to have been duly given upon receipt) by delivery in person, by facsimile (followed by overnight courier), 
delivery by a nationally recognized overnight courier or by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested) to the other 
Parties as follows:  

   
To Acquiror or to the Company (after the Closing) :  
   

Sunoco LP  
555 East Airtex Drive  
Houston, Texas 77073  
Attention: General Counsel  
Facsimile: (361) 693-3725  
   

To Contributor :  
   

ETP Retail Holdings, LLC  
1735 Market Street, 13  Floor  
Philadelphia, PA 19103  
Attention: General Counsel  
Facsimile: (866) 627-8010  
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with a copy (which shall not constitute notice to Contributor or Contributor Guarantor) to :  
   
Sunoco, Inc. (R&M)  
1735 Market Street, 13  Floor  
Philadelphia, PA 19103  
Attention: General Counsel  
Facsimile:  (866) 627-8010  
   
Energy Transfer Partners  
3738 Oak Lawn Avenue  
Dallas, Texas 75219  
Attention: General Counsel  
   

To Contributor Guarantor :  
   

Energy Transfer Partners  
3738 Oak Lawn Avenue  
Dallas, Texas 75219  
Attention: General Counsel  
   

To the Company :  
   

Sunoco, LLC  
1735 Market Street, 13  Floor  
Philadelphia, PA 19103  
Attention: General Counsel  
Facsimile:  (866) 627-8010  
   

or to such other address as the Party to whom notice is given may have previously furnished to the others in writing in the manner set forth 
above.  
   

Section 10.3                              Governing Law .  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the Laws of the State of 
Delaware, without giving effect to any choice of Law or conflict of Law provision or rule (whether of the State of Delaware or any other 
jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the Law of any jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware.  

   
Section 10.4                              Fees and Expenses .   Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, all fees and expenses incurred in connection 

with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the fees and disbursements of counsel, financial advisors 
and accountants, shall be paid by the Party incurring such fees or expenses.  

   
Section 10.5                              Construction; Interpretation .   The term “this Agreement” means this Contribution Agreement together with the 

Schedules and exhibits hereto, as the same may from time to time be amended, modified, supplemented or restated in accordance with the 
terms hereof.  The headings contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall  
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not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.  No Party, nor its respective counsel, shall be deemed the drafter of this 
Agreement for purposes of construing the provisions hereof, and all provisions of this Agreement shall be construed according to their fair 
meaning and not strictly for or against any Party.  Unless otherwise indicated to the contrary herein by the context or use thereof: (i) the words, 
“herein,” “hereto,” “hereof” and words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole, including the Schedules and exhibits, and not to 
any particular section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph or clause contained in this Agreement; (ii) masculine gender shall also include the 
feminine and neutral genders, and vice versa; (iii) words importing the singular shall also include the plural, and vice versa; (iv) the words 
“include,” “includes” or “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”; and (v) except as otherwise set forth in 
this Agreement, any accounting terms shall be given the definition thereof under GAAP.  
   

Section 10.6                              Exhibits and Schedules .  All exhibits and Schedules, or documents expressly incorporated into this Agreement, are 
hereby incorporated into this Agreement and are hereby made a part hereof as if set out in full in this Agreement.  Any item disclosed in any 
Schedule referenced by a particular section in this Agreement shall be deemed to have been disclosed with respect to every other section in this 
Agreement if the relevance of such disclosure to such other section is reasonably apparent.  The specification of any dollar amount in the 
representations or warranties contained in this Agreement or the inclusion of any specific item in any Schedule is not intended to imply that 
such amounts, or higher or lower amounts or the items so included or other items, are or are not material, and no Party shall use the fact of the 
setting of such amounts or the inclusion of any such item in any dispute or controversy as to whether any obligation, items or matter not 
described herein or included in a Schedule is or is not material for purposes of this Agreement.  

   
Section 10.7                              Parties in Interest .   This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each Party and its 

successors and permitted assigns and nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person any 
rights, benefits or remedies of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.  

   
Section 10.8                              Representation by Counsel .  Each of the Parties agrees that it has been represented by independent counsel of its 

choice during the negotiation and execution of this Agreement and the documents referred to herein, and that it has executed the same upon the 
advice of such independent counsel.  Each Party and its counsel cooperated in the drafting and preparation of this Agreement and the 
documents referred to herein, and any and all drafts relating thereto shall be deemed the work product of the Parties and may not be construed 
against any Party by reason of its preparation.  Therefore, the Parties waive the application of any Law providing that ambiguities in an 
agreement or other document will be construed against the Party drafting such agreement or document.  

   
Section 10.9                              Severability .   If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, all other 

provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated 
hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any Party.  
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Section 10.10                       Counterparts; Facsimile Signatures .   This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which 

shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same agreement.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of a 
signature page to this Agreement by facsimile or scanned pages shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart to this 
Agreement.  

   
Section 10.11                       Knowledge .   For all purposes of this Agreement, the phrases “to Contributor’s knowledge” and “known by 

Contributor” and any derivations thereof shall mean, as of the applicable date, the actual knowledge of the officers of the Company or 
Contributor, as applicable, at the time of the Closing (none of whom shall have any personal liability or obligations regarding such knowledge). 

   
Section 10.12                       Limitation on Remedies .  Except in the case of fraud, no breach of any representation, warranty or covenant 

contained herein or in any certificate delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall give rise to any right on the part of Acquiror or Contributor, 
after the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, to rescind this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby.  

   
Section 10.13                       No Recourse .  Notwithstanding anything that may be expressed or implied in this Agreement, Acquiror agrees and 

acknowledges that no recourse under this Agreement or any documents or instruments delivered in connection with this Agreement shall be 
had against any current or future director, officer, employee or member of Contributor or of any Affiliate or assignee thereof, as such, whether 
by the enforcement of any assessment or by any legal or equitable proceeding, or by virtue of any statute, regulation or other applicable Law, it 
being expressly agreed and acknowledged that no personal liability whatsoever shall attach to, be imposed on or otherwise be incurred by any 
current or future officer, agent or employee of Contributor or any current or future member of Contributor or any current or future director, 
officer, employee or member of Contributor or of any Affiliate or assignee thereof, as such, for any obligation of Contributor under this 
Agreement or any documents or instruments delivered in connection with this Agreement for any claim based on, in respect of or by reason of 
such obligations or their creation.  

   
Section 10.14                                   Waiver of Jury Trial .   Each Party hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted by Law, any right to trial by jury 

of any claim, demand, action, or cause of action (i) arising under this Agreement or (ii) in any way connected with or related or incidental to 
the dealings of the Parties in respect of this Agreement or any of the transactions related hereto, in each case, whether now existing or hereafter 
arising, and whether in contract, tort, equity, or otherwise.  Each Party hereby further agrees and consents that any such claim, demand, action, 
or cause of action shall be decided by court trial without a jury and that the Parties may file a copy of this Agreement with any court as written 
evidence of the consent of the Parties to the waiver of their right to trial by jury.  

   
Section 10.15                       Jurisdiction and Venue .  Each of the Parties (i) submits to the exclusive general jurisdiction of the Court of 

Chancery for the State of Delaware (the “ Chancery Court ”) and any state appellate court therefrom located within the State of Delaware (or, 
only if the Chancery Court declines to accept jurisdiction over a particular matter, any state or federal court within the State of Delaware) in 
any Proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement,  
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(ii) agrees that all claims in respect of such Proceeding may be heard and determined in any such court and (iii) agrees not to bring any 
Proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement in any other court.  Each of the Parties waives any defense of inconvenient forum to the 
maintenance of any Proceeding so brought and waives any bond, surety or other security that might be required of any other Party with respect 
thereto.  Each Party agrees that service of summons and complaint or any other process that might be served in any Proceeding may be made 
on such Party by sending or delivering a copy of the process to the Party to be served at the address of the Party and in the manner provided for 
the giving of notices in Section 10.2 .  Nothing in this Section 10.15 , however, shall affect the right of any Party to serve legal process in any 
other manner permitted by Law.  Each Party agrees that a final, non-appealable judgment in any Proceeding so brought shall be conclusive and 
may be enforced by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by Law.  
   

Section 10.16                       Remedies .  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, any and all remedies provided herein will be deemed 
cumulative with and not exclusive of any other remedy conferred hereby, or by Law or equity upon such party, and the exercise by a party of 
any one remedy will not preclude the exercise of any other remedy.  The Parties agree and acknowledge that irreparable damage for which 
monetary damages, even if available, would not be an adequate remedy, would occur in the event that the parties hereto do not perform their 
respective obligations under the provisions of this Agreement (including failing to take such actions as are required of them hereunder to 
consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) in accordance with their specific terms or otherwise breach such provisions.  It 
is accordingly agreed that, prior to the valid termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1 , the Parties shall be entitled to an injunction 
or injunctions, specific performance and other equitable relief to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and 
provisions of this Agreement, in each case without posting a bond or undertaking, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are 
entitled at Law or in equity.  Each of the Parties agrees that it will not oppose the granting of an injunction, specific performance and other 
equitable relief when expressly available pursuant to the terms of this Agreement on the basis that the other Parties have an adequate remedy at 
Law or an award of specific performance is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at Law or equity.  

   
Section 10.17                       Time of Essence .  With regard to all dates and time periods set forth or referred to in this Agreement, time is of the 

essence.  
   
Section 10.18                       Further Assurances .  Following the Closing, as and when requested by any Party and at such Party’s expense, any 

other Party shall execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and delivered, all such documents and instruments and shall take, or cause to be 
taken, all such further or other actions as such other Party may reasonably deem necessary to evidence and effectuate the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement.  

   
Section 10.19                       Contributor Guarantor .  
   

(a)                                  Contributor Guarantor hereby absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to the Acquiror the due, full 
and punctual payment and performance of all covenants, obligations, liabilities and agreements of Contributor hereunder (the “ Guaranteed 
Obligations ”), subject to the terms and conditions hereunder. If, for any reason whatsoever, Contributor shall  
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fail or be unable to duly, punctually and fully pay or perform the Guaranteed Obligations, Contributor Guarantor will forthwith pay and cause 
to be paid in lawful currency of the United States, or perform or cause to be performed, the Guaranteed Obligations. The foregoing obligation 
of Contributor Guarantor constitutes a continuing guarantee of payment and performance, and is and shall be absolute and unconditional under 
any and all circumstances, including circumstances which might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge of a guarantor and including 
any amendment, extension, modification or waiver of any of the Guaranteed Obligations or any insolvency, bankruptcy, liquidation or 
dissolution of Contributor or any assignment thereby. Contributor Guarantor hereby irrevocably waives (to the fullest extent permitted by 
applicable Law) notice of acceptance of this guaranty and notice of any liability to which it may apply, and waives promptness, diligence, 
presentment, demand or payment, protest, notice of dishonor or nonpayment, suit, filing objections with a court, any right to require proceeding 
first against Contributor (including initiating a Proceeding against Contributor), any right to require the prior disposition of the assets of 
Contributor to meet any of its obligations hereunder or the taking of any other action by Acquiror and the Acquiror Group and all demands 
whatsoever. The guaranty set forth in this Section 10.19(a)  will remain in full force and effect, and will be binding upon Contributor 
Guarantor, until all of the Guaranteed Obligations have been satisfied.  
   

(b)                                  Contributor Guarantor hereby represents and warrants to Acquiror that:  
   

(i)                                      Contributor Guarantor is a legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the 
Laws of its jurisdiction of organization;  

   
(ii)                                   Contributor Guarantor has all requisite limited partnership power and authority and has taken all limited 

partnership action necessary in order to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement;  
   
(iii)                                No material notices to, filings with, or authorizations, consents or approvals of any Governmental Entity 

are necessary for the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement. Neither the execution, delivery and performance by Contributor 
Guarantor of this Agreement nor the consummation by Contributor Guarantor of the transactions contemplated thereby will (A) conflict with or 
result in any breach of any provision of Contributor Guarantor’s Governing Documents, (B) result in a violation or breach of, or cause 
acceleration, or constitute (with or without due notice or lapse of time or both) a default (or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or 
acceleration) under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of any material Contract to which Contributor Guarantor is a party, other than 
violations, breaches, accelerations or defaults which would not, or would not be reasonably likely to, have a material effect on Contributor’s 
ability to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this Agreement or (C) violate any material Law or Order of any Governmental 
Entity applicable to Contributor Guarantor or any of its properties or assets; and  

   
(iv)                               This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Contributor Guarantor and is a valid and binding 

agreement of Contributor Guarantor, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting generally the enforcement of creditors’ rights and subject to general principles of equity.  
   

*     *     *     *     *  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , each of the Parties has caused this Contribution Agreement to be duly executed on its behalf as of the day and 
year first above written.  
   

   
SIGNATURE PAGE TO CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT  

   

 

      
   

COMPANY:  
      
   

SUNOCO, LLC  
      
      
   

By:  /s/ Robert W. Owens  
      

Name:  Robert W. Owens  
      

Title:  President  
      



   

   
SIGNATURE PAGE TO CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT  

   

 

   
CONTRIBUTOR:  

      
   

ETP Retail Holdings, LLC  
      
      
   

By:  /s/ Robert W. Owens  
      

Name:  Robert W. Owens  
      

Title:  President  



   

   
SIGNATURE PAGE TO CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT  

   

 

   
ACQUIROR:  

      
   

SUNOCO LP  
      
   

By: Sunoco GP LLC,  
   

its general partner  
      
      
   

By:  /s/ Robert W. Owens  
      

Name:  Robert W. Owens  
      

Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer  



   

   
SIGNATURE PAGE TO CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT  

   

 

   
Solely with respect to Section 10.19 and the other provisions 
related thereto:  

      
   

CONTRIBUTOR GUARANTOR:  
      
   

ENERGY TRANSFER PARTNERS, L.P.  
      
   

By:  Energy Transfer Partners GP, L.P.,  
its general partner  

         
   

By:  Energy Transfer Partners, L.L.C.  
its general partner  

      
      
   

By:  /s/ Thomas P. Mason  
      

Name:  Thomas P. Mason  
      

Title:  Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary  



   
EXHIBIT A  

   
AMENDED AND RESTATED OPERATING AGREEMENT OF SUNOCO,  LLC  

   

 



   
EXHIBIT A 

   
AMENDED AND RESTATED  

   
OPERATING AGREEMENT  

   
OF  

   
SUNOCO, LLC  

   
DATED EFFECTIVE AS [          ] [ • • • • ], 2015  

   
THE MEMBERSHIP INTERESTS REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE BEEN ACQUIRED FOR INVESTMENT AND WERE ISSUED 
WITHOUT REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF 
ANY STATE. THESE INTERESTS MAY NOT BE SOLD, PLEDGED, HYPOTHECATED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED AT ANY 
TIME EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RESTRICTIONS CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT AND PURSUANT TO AN 
EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, AND ANY APPLICABLE 
STATE SECURITIES LAW OR IN THE EVENT THE COMPANY HAS RECEIVED AN OPINION OF COUNSEL IN FORM AND 
SUBSTANCE SATISFACTORY TO IT THAT SUCH TRANSFER DOES NOT REQUIRE REGISTRATION UNDER ANY APPLICABLE 
LAWS.  
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AMENDED AND RESTATED OPERATING AGREEMENT  

   
OF  

   
SUNOCO, LLC  

   
A DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY  

   
This Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of Sunoco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “ Company ” ), is 

entered into and effective as of [              ] [ • ], 2015 (the “ Effective Date ”) , by and between ETP Retail Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company (“ Holdings ”), and Susser Petroleum Operating Company LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ SPOC ”). Each of 
Holdings and SPOC is referred to herein individually as a “ Member ” and collectively as the “ Members. ”  

   
W   I   T   N   E   S   S   E   T   H :  

   
WHEREAS, the Company was formed on November 19, 2013 by filing a certificate of formation with the Secretary of State of the 

State of Delaware pursuant to and in accordance with the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act, 6 Del. C. §18-101, et seq . (as amended 
from time to time, the “ Act ”);  

   
WHEREAS, prior to the Effective Date, the Company was governed by the Operating Agreement of the Company, dated 

November 19, 2013 (the “ Original Operating Agreement ”);  
   
WHEREAS, (a) Holdings is a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Energy Transfer Partners, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“ 

ETP ”), and, prior to the Effective Date, owned 100% of the Membership Interest in the Company and (b) SPOC is a wholly owned direct 
subsidiary of Sunoco LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “ Partnership ”);  

   
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Contribution Agreement, dated March 23, 2015 (the “ Contribution Agreement ”) , by and among the 

Company, Holdings, ETP and the Partnership, Holdings agreed to contribute to the Partnership, and the Partnership agreed to acquire, a 
31.58% Membership Interest in the Company (the “ Acquired Interest ”);  

   
WHEREAS, immediately following the acquisition contemplated by the Contribution Agreement, the Partnership contributed the 

Acquired Interest to SPOC; and  
   
WHEREAS, as a part of the closing of the transactions contemplated under the Contribution Agreement, the parties hereto desire that 

(a) SPOC be admitted as a Member of the Company, (b) the Original Operating Agreement be amended and restated in its entirety by this 
Agreement and (c) the Company be governed by the Act and this Agreement.  

   
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the 

receipt, adequacy and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby amend and 
restate the Original Operating Agreement in its entirety and agree as follows:  
   

 



   
ARTICLE I.  

DEFINITIONS AND RULES OF CONSTRUCTION  
   

1.1          Defined Terms . The following terms, when used in this Agreement, shall have the meanings set forth below unless the 
context requires otherwise.  

   
“ Act ” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.  
   
“ Adjusted Capital Account ” means the Capital Account maintained for each Member as of the end of each taxable year of the 

Company (i) increased by any amounts that such Member is obligated to restore under the standards set by Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)
(c) (or is deemed obligated to restore under Regulations §§ 1.704-2(g) and 1.704-2(i)(5)) and (ii) decreased by (a) the amount of all losses and 
deductions that, as of the end of such taxable year, are reasonably expected to be allocated to such Member in subsequent taxable years under 
Code Sections 704(e)(2) and 706(d) and Regulations § 1.751-1(b)(2)(ii), and (b) the amount of all distributions that, as of the end of such 
taxable year, are reasonably expected to be made to such Member in subsequent taxable years in accordance with the terms of this Agreement 
or otherwise to the extent they exceed offsetting increases to such Member’s Capital Account that are reasonably expected to occur during (or 
prior to) the taxable year in which such distributions are reasonably expected to be made (other than increases as a result of a minimum gain 
chargeback pursuant to Section 6.2(a)  or Section 6.2(b) ). The foregoing definition of Adjusted Capital Account is intended to comply with the 
provisions of Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d) and shall be interpreted consistently therewith.  

   
“ Adjusted Property ” means any property the Carrying Value of which has been adjusted pursuant to Section 5.8(d) .  
   
“ Affiliate ” means, when used with respect to any specified Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly, through one or more 

intermediaries, Controls, or is Controlled by, or is under common Control with, such specified Person; provided, for purposes of this 
Agreement, the Partnership and its general partner and Subsidiaries (collectively, the “ Partnership Group ”) shall not be construed as Affiliates 
of ETP and its Subsidiaries (excluding, for the purposes of clarity, the Partnership Group) and ETP and its Subsidiaries (excluding, for the 
purposes of clarity, the Partnership Group) shall not be construed as Affiliates of any Person that is a member of the Partnership Group.  

   
“ Agreed Value ” of any Contributed Property means the fair market value of such property or asset at the time of contribution and, in 

the case of Adjusted Property, the fair market value of such Adjusted Property on the date of the revaluation event as described in Section 5.8
(d) , in both cases as determined by the Company.  

   
“ Agreement ” means this Amended and Restated Operating Agreement, as it may be amended or restated from time to time.  
   
“ Acquired Interest ” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.  
   
“ Available Cash ” means, with respect to any Distribution Period ending prior to the dissolution or liquidation of the Company:  
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(a)  the sum of (i) all cash and cash equivalents of the Company on hand at the end of such Distribution Period, and (ii) if the Board so 

determines, all or any portion of any additional cash and cash equivalents of the Company on hand immediately prior to the date of distribution 
of Available Cash with respect to such Distribution Period, less  
   

(b)  the amount of any cash reserves that is necessary or appropriate in the reasonable discretion of the Board to (i) provide for the 
proper conduct of the business of the Company subsequent to such Distribution Period (including reserves for future capital expenditures and 
for anticipated future credit needs of the Company within the subsequent 12 month period), or (ii) comply with applicable Law or any loan 
agreement, security agreement, mortgage, debt instrument or other agreement or obligation to which the Company is a party or by which it is 
bound or its assets are subject;  
   
provided , however , that the disbursements made, cash received or cash reserves established, increased or reduced after the end of such 
Distribution Period but on or before the date of distribution of Available Cash with respect to such Distribution Period shall be deemed to have 
been made, received, established, increased or reduced, for purposes of determining Available Cash, within such Distribution Period if the 
Board so determines.  
   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, “Available Cash” with respect to the Distribution Period in which liquidation or dissolution of the 
Company occurs and any subsequent Distribution Period shall equal zero.  

   
“ Board ” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(a) .  
   
“ Book-Tax Disparity ” means with respect to any item of Contributed Property or Adjusted Property, as of the date of any 

determination, the difference between the Carrying Value of such Contributed Property or Adjusted Property and the adjusted basis thereof for 
federal income tax purposes as of such date. A Member’s share of the Company’s Book-Tax Disparities in all of its Contributed Property and 
Adjusted Property will be reflected by the difference between such Member’s Capital Account balance as maintained pursuant to Section 5.8 
and the hypothetical balance of such Member’s Capital Account computed as if it had been maintained strictly in accordance with federal 
income tax. accounting principles. The determination of Book-Tax Disparity and a Member’s share thereof will be determined consistently 
with Regulations § 1.704-3(d).  

   
“ Business Day ” means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which commercial banks in New York City and Dallas, Texas are 

open for the general transaction of business.  
   
“ Capital Account ” means the capital account maintained for each Member pursuant to Section 5.8 .  
   
“ Capital Call ” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2(a) .  
   
“ Capital Contribution ” means, with respect to any Member, the total amount of cash and the Net Agreed Value of property (other 

than cash) contributed to the capital of the Company by such Member.  
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“ Carrying Value ” means (i) with respect to a Contributed Property or an Adjusted Property, the Agreed Value of such property 

reduced (but not below zero) by all depreciation, amortization and cost recovery deductions charged to the Members’ Capital Accounts in 
respect of such Contributed Property or Adjusted Property, and (ii) with respect to any other Company property, the adjusted basis of such 
property for federal income tax purposes, all as of the time of determination. The Carrying Value of any property shall be adjusted from time to 
time in accordance with Section 5.8(d)  and to reflect changes, additions or other adjustments to the Carrying Value for dispositions and 
acquisitions of Company properties, as deemed appropriate by the Company.  

   
“ Certificate ” means the certificate of formation of the Company filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as required 

by the Act, as such certificate may be amended or restated from time to time.  
   
“ Charter Documents ” means the Certificate and this Agreement.  
   
“ Claim ” means any demand, demand letter, claim, action, notice of noncompliance or violation, or other proceeding.  
   
“ Code ” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (or any corresponding provisions of a successor 

statute).  
   
“ Company ” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.  
   
“ Company Group ” means, collectively, the Company and its Subsidiaries.  
   
“ Company Minimum Gain ” means the amount of “partnership minimum gain” determined in accordance with the principles of 

Regulations § 1.704-2(d).  
   
“ Consequential Damages ” means all exemplary, punitive, special, indirect, consequential, remote or speculative damages, including 

loss of profit, loss of revenue or any other special or incidental damages, whether in contract, tort (including negligence), strict liability or 
otherwise, whether or not the Person at fault knew or should have known that such damage would likely be suffered.  

   
“ Contributed Property ” means each property or asset, but excluding cash or cash equivalents, contributed to the Company by a 

Member. Once the Carrying Value of a Contributed Property is adjusted pursuant to Section 5.8(d) , such property or asset will no longer 
constitute a Contributed Property, but will be deemed an Adjusted Property.  

   
“ Contribution Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.  
   
“ Control ” (and “ Controls ,” “ Controlled by ” and other derivatives thereof), means, with respect to a specified Person, the 

possession, directly or indirectly, of the power, directly or indirectly, to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of such 
specified Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.  
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“ Director ” means any individual appointed to the Board as provided in Section 7.1(a) , but only for so long as such Person remains a 

member of the Board in accordance with this Agreement.  
   
“ Distribution Period ” means a period equal to a fiscal quarter of the Company or such shorter period thereof, as determined from 

time to time by the Board.  
   
“ Effective Date ” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.  
   
“ Equity Percentage Interest ” means the interest of a Member in the equity of the Company, stated as a percentage and, for all 

Members, aggregating 100%. The Equity Percentage Interest of each Member is set forth on Exhibit A and is subject to adjustment or revision 
from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; provided , however , that for so long as the aggregate interest of SPOC and 
its Affiliates in the equity of the Company, stated as a percentage, is greater than or equal to 15.0%, in connection with any vote, approval or 
consent of the Directors or the Members required by the Act or under this Agreement, the Equity Percentage Interest of SPOC will be deemed 
to be 50.1% and the Equity Percentage Interest of Holdings will be deemed to be 49.9% for the purpose of such vote, approval or consent (but 
not for any other purpose).  

   
“ ETP ” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.  
   
“ Fair Market Value ” means the value of any specified interest or property, which shall not in any event be less than zero, that would 

be obtained in an arm’s length transaction for cash between an informed and willing buyer and an informed and willing seller, neither of whom 
is under any compulsion to purchase or sell, respectively, and without regard to the particular circumstances of the buyer or seller.  

   
“ GAAP ” means United States generally accepted accounting principles.  
   
“ Gross Liability Value ” means, with respect to any Liability of the Company described in Regulations § 1.752-7(b)(3)(i), the amount 

of cash that a willing assignor would pay to a willing assignee to assume such Liability in an arm’s length transaction.  
   
“ Group Member ” means a member of the Company Group.  
   
“ Group Member Agreement ” means the partnership agreement of any Group Member that is a limited or general partnership, the 

limited liability company agreement of any Group Member, other than the Company, that is a limited liability company, the certificate of 
incorporation and bylaws or similar organizational documents of any Group Member that is a corporation, the joint venture agreement or 
similar governing document of any Group Member that is a joint venture and the governing or organizational or similar documents of any other 
Group Member that is a Person other than a limited or general partnership, limited liability company, corporation or joint venture, as such may 
be amended, supplemented or restated from time to time.  

   
“ Governmental Authority ” means any domestic or foreign, national, state, parish, county, local or tribal government, or any 

subdivision, agency, branch, bureau, board, commission,  
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legislature, court, tribunal, arbitrator, official or other instrumentality or authority thereof, or any governmental, quasi-governmental or non-
governmental body exercising or entitled to exercise any similar powers of authority thereunder including regulatory, administrative, executive, 
judicial, legislative, police or taxing authority.  

   
“ Holdings ” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.  
   
“ Indemnitee ” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.13(a) .  
   
“ Interest ” has the same meaning as Membership Interest.  
   
“ Internal Transfer ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1(a) .  
   
“ IRS ” means the United States Internal Revenue Service or any successor agency succeeding to substantially all of the authority of 

the United States Internal Revenue Service.  
   
“ Law ” means any statute, law (including common law), rule, ordinance, regulation, ruling, requirement, writ, injunction, decree, 

order or other official act of or by any Governmental Authority or any arbitral tribunal to which a Person or property is subject, whether such 
Laws now exist or hereafter come into effect.  

   
“ Liability ” means any liability or obligation of any nature, whether accrued, contingent or otherwise.  
   
“ Liquidating Event ” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1 .  
   
“ Liquidating Trustee ” means the liquidating trustee specified m accordance with Section 10.2(a) .  
   
“ Member ” means any Person that is a party to this Agreement by virtue of ownership of Membership Interests, and any other Person 

that hereafter becomes a Member in accordance with Article IX , but only for so long as each such Person remains a member of the Company 
in accordance with this Agreement and the Act, and does not include an assignee which is not admitted as a Substitute Member in accordance 
with Article IX .  

   
“ Member Nonrecourse Debt ” has the meaning set forth in Regulations § 1.704-2(b)(4) for the phrase “partner nonrecourse debt.”  
   
“ Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain ” has the meaning set forth in Regulations § 1.704-2(i)(2) for the phrase “partner 

nonrecourse debt minimum gain.”  
   
“ Member Nonrecourse Deductions ” means any and all items of loss, deduction or expenditure (including any expenditure described 

in Code Section 705(a)(2)(B)) that, in accordance with principles of Regulations § 1.704-2(i), are attributable to Member Nonrecourse Debt.  
   
“ Membership Interest ” means all of the ownership interests and rights of a Member in the Company, including such Member’s 

(a) right to a distributive share of the Net Income and Net  
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Loss (and items thereof) of the Company, (b) right to a distributive share of the assets of the Company, (c) rights to allocations, information 
and to consent or approve, (d) right to participate in the management of the affairs of the Company as provided herein and (e) Equity 
Percentage Interest.  

   
“ Net Agreed Value ” means (a) in the case of any Contributed Property, the Agreed Value of such property reduced by any Liability 

either assumed by the Company upon such contribution or to which such property is subject when contributed and (b) in the case of any 
property distributed to a Member by the Company, the Company’s Carrying Value of such property (as adjusted pursuant to Section 5.8(d)(ii) ) 
at the time such property is distributed, reduced by any Liability either assumed by such Member upon such distribution or to which such 
property is subject at the time of distribution, in either case, as determined and required by Regulations promulgated under Code Section 704
(b).  

   
“ Net Income ” means, for any taxable year, the excess, if any, of the Company’s items of income and gain for such taxable year over 

the Company’s items of loss and deduction for such taxable year. The items included in the calculation of Net Income shall be determined in 
accordance with Section 5.8 but shall not include any items specially allocated under Section 6.2 ; provided that the determination of the items 
that have been specially allocated under Section 6.2 shall be made without regard to any reversal of such items under Section 6.2(h) .  

   
“ Net Loss ” means, for any taxable year, the excess, if any, of the Company’s items of loss and deduction for such taxable year over 

the Company’s items of income and gain for such taxable year. The items included in the calculation of Net Loss shall be determined in 
accordance with Section 5.8 but shall not include any items specially allocated under Section 6.2 ; provided that the determination of the items 
that have been specially allocated under Section 6.2 shall be made without regard to any reversal of such items under Section 6.2(h) .  

   
“ Nonrecourse Built-in Gain ” means, with respect to any Contributed Properties or Adjusted Properties that are subject to a mortgage 

or pledge securing a Nonrecourse Liability, the amount of any taxable gain that would be allocated to the Members pursuant to Section 6.3(b) , 
if such properties were disposed of in a taxable transaction in full satisfaction of such liabilities and for no other consideration.  

   
“ Nonrecourse Deductions ” means any and all items of loss, deduction or expenditure (including any expenditure described in Code 

Section 705(a)(2)(B)) that, in accordance with the principles of Regulations § 1.704-2(b), are attributable to a Nonrecourse Liability.  
   
“ Nonrecourse Liability ” has the meaning set forth in Regulations § 1.752-l(a)(2).  
   
“ Original Operating Agreement ” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.  
   
“ Partnership ” has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.  
   
“ Permits ” means any licenses, permits, certificates of authority, approvals, authorizations, registrations, tariffs, statements of 

operating conditions, franchises and similar consents granted by a Governmental Authority.  
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“ Person ” means any natural person, corporation, partnership (general, limited, limited liability or otherwise), limited liability 

company, firm, association, trust or any other entity, whether acting in an individual, fiduciary or other capacity or any Governmental 
Authority.  

   
“ Pro Rata ” means proportionately among all Members, or with respect to a particular subset of Members, among the Members of 

such subset, in accordance with the Members’ respective Equity Percentage Interests.  
   
“ Recapture Income ” means any gain recognized by the Company (computed without regard to any adjustment required by Code 

Sections 734 or 743) upon the disposition of any property or asset of the Company, which gain is characterized as ordinary income or gain 
because it represents the recapture of deductions previously taken with respect to such property or asset.  

   
“ Regulations ” means the Income Tax Regulations promulgated under the Code, as may be amended from time to time (including 

corresponding provisions of successor regulations).  
   
“ Regulatory Allocations ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(i)(i) .  
   
“ Residual Gain ” or “ Residual Loss ” means, any item of gain or loss, as the case may be, of the Company recognized for federal 

income tax purposes resulting from a sale, exchange or other disposition of a Contributed Property or Adjusted Property, to the extent such 
item of gain or loss is not allocated pursuant to Section 6.3(b)  to eliminate Book-Tax Disparities.  

   
“ SPOC ” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.  
   
“ Subsidiary ” means, with respect to any Person, (a) a corporation of which more than 50% of the voting power of shares entitled 

(without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors or other governing body of such corporation is owned, 
directly or indirectly, at the date of determination, by such Person, by one or more Subsidiaries of such Person or a combination thereof, (b) a 
partnership (whether general or limited) of which such Person or a Subsidiary of such Person is, at the date of determination, a general partner, 
but only if such Person, directly or through one or more Subsidiaries of such Person, or a combination thereof, controls such partnership at the 
date of determination or (c) any other Person (other than a corporation or a partnership) in which such Person, one or more Subsidiaries of such 
Person, or a combination thereof, directly or indirectly, at the date of determination, has (x) at least a majority ownership interest or (y) the 
power to elect or direct the election of a majority of the directors or other governing body of such Person.  

   
“ Substitute Member ” means any Person who acquires Membership Interests from a Member and is admitted to the Company as a 

Member pursuant to the provisions of Section 9.2 .  
   
“ Supermajority Approval ” means, when used with respect to the Board, 75.0% approval by the Directors (calculated by reference to 

the Equity Percentage Interest of the Members that appointed the Directors); and, when used with respect to the Members, 75.0% approval by 
the Members (calculated by reference to the Equity Percentage Interest of such Members).  
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“ Tax ” or “ Taxes ” means any United States federal, state or local income tax, ad valorem tax, excise tax, sales tax, use tax, franchise 

tax, margin tax, real or personal property tax, transfer tax, gross receipts tax or other tax assessment, fee, levy or other governmental charge, 
together with and including any and all interest, fines, penalties, assessments and additions to the Tax resulting from, relating to, or incurred in 
connection with any of the foregoing or any contest or dispute thereof.  

   
“ Tax Matters Partner ” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.11 .  
   
“ Third Parties ” means any Person other than the Company and its Members, or their respective Affiliates.  
   
“ Transfer ” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.1(a) .  
   
“ Transferee ” means a Person who receives all or part of a Member’s Membership Interest through a Transfer.  
   
“ Unrealized Gain ” attributable to any item of Company property means, as of any date of determination, the excess, if any, of (a) the 

fair market value of such property as of such date (as determined under Section 5.8(d) ) over (b) the Carrying Value of such property as of such 
date (prior to any adjustment to be made pursuant to Section 5.8(d)  as of such date).  

   
“ Unrealized Loss ” attributable to any item of Company property means, as of the date of determination, the excess, if any, of (a) the 

Carrying Value of such property as of such date (prior to any adjustment to be made pursuant to Section 5.8(d)  as of such date) over (b) the 
fair market value of such property as of such date (as determined under Section 5.8(d) ).  

   
“ Wholly-Owned Affiliate ” means, when used with respect to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly, through one or 

more intermediaries, is controlled by such other Person, where “control” for purposes of this definition means the possession, directly or 
indirectly, of the power, directly or indirectly, to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of such specified Person, through 
ownership of 100% of the equity securities of such specified Person.  

   
1.2                                Rules of Construction .  In construing this Agreement:  
   

(a)                                  no consideration shall be given to the captions of the articles, sections, subsections, or clauses, which are inserted 
for convenience in locating the provisions of this Agreement and not as an aid in its construction;  

   
(b)                                  no consideration shall be given to the fact or presumption that one party had a greater or lesser hand in drafting this 

Agreement;  
   
(c)                                   examples shall not be construed to limit, expressly or by implication, the matter they illustrate;  
   
(d)                                  the word “includes’’ and its derivatives means “includes, but is not limited to,” and corresponding derivative 

expressions;  
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(e)                                   a defined term has its defined meaning throughout this Agreement, and each exhibit, attachment, and schedule to 

this Agreement, regardless of whether it appears before or after the place where it is defined;  
   
(f)                                    all references to prices, values or monetary amounts refer to United States dollars, unless expressly provided 

otherwise;  
   
(g)                                   all references to articles, sections, paragraphs, clauses, exhibits, attachments or schedules refer to articles, sections, 

paragraphs and clauses of this Agreement, and to exhibits, attachments or schedules attached to this Agreement, unless expressly provided 
otherwise;  

   
(h)                                  each exhibit, attachment, and schedule to this Agreement is a part of this Agreement, but if there is any conflict or 

inconsistency between the main body of this Agreement and any exhibit, attachment or schedule, the provisions of the main body of this 
Agreement shall prevail;  

   
(i)                                      the words “this Agreement,” “herein,” “hereof,” “hereby,” “hereunder” and words of similar import refer to this 

Agreement as a whole and not to any particular subdivision, unless expressly so limited, but do not refer to documents attached hereto as 
exhibits and schedules or referred to therein unless expressly so stated; and  

   
(j)                                     reference to a given agreement, instrument, exhibit or schedule constitutes a reference to that agreement, 

instrument, exhibit or schedule as, and as may be, from time to time, modified, amended, supplemented and restated.  
   

ARTICLE II.  
ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS  

   
2.1                                Formation . The Company was formed as a limited liability company under and pursuant to the provisions of the Act. 

Except as provided in this Agreement, the rights, duties and liabilities of each Member shall be as provided under the Act. The Members 
hereby ratify the execution, delivery and filing with the Delaware Secretary of State of the Certificate by Philip D. Amoa, as an “authorized 
person” of the Company within the meaning of the Act.  

   
2.2                                Name . The name of the Company is Sunoco, LLC and all Company business must be conducted in that name or such 

other names that comply with applicable Law as the Board may select from time to time with notice to the Members. The Members hereby 
agree to execute an appropriate assumed name certificate or certificates if required by the applicable Law of any state, and to file such 
certificate, and all amendments that may be necessitated from time to time, in the appropriate filing locations.  

   
2.3                                Registered Office and Registered Agent; Principal Place of Business . The registered office and registered agent of the 

Company in the State of Delaware shall be as set forth in the Certificate. From time to time, the Board may change the Company’s registered 
office and/or registered agent in the State of Delaware as provided in the Act with notice to the other Members.  The principal place of 
business of the Company shall be at 10 Industrial Highway, Building G, MS4, Lester, PA 19029, or such other location as the Board may  
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designate from time to time (which may be within or outside of the State of Delaware). The Company may have additional places of 
business, offices and/or agents, and may seek qualification of the Company to conduct business in such other jurisdictions, as the Board may 
designate from time to time.  

   
2.4                                Foreign Qualification . Prior to the Company’s conducting business in any jurisdiction other than Delaware, the Company 

shall comply, to the extent procedures are available and those matters are reasonably within the control of the Company, with all 
requirements necessary to qualify the Company as a foreign limited liability company in that jurisdiction.  

   
2.5                                Term . The term of the Company commenced on the date of the filing of the Certificate with the Secretary of State of the 

State of Delaware and shall continue until the Company is dissolved and wound up in accordance with this Agreement and the Act.  
   
2.6                                General . All real and other property owned or leased by the Company shall be deemed owned or leased by the Company 

as an entity. Title to all real or other property owned or leased by the Company shall be held in the name of the Company and no Member, 
individually, shall have any ownership of or leasehold interest in any such property.  

   
2.7                                Tax Status . The Members intend that the Company shall be treated as a partnership for federal and state income Tax 

purposes, rather than an association Taxable as a corporation, and neither the Members nor the Company shall make any election pursuant to 
Regulations § 301.7701-3(c) or any similar state Law or policy to cause the Company to be treated as an entity other than a partnership for 
federal or state income Tax purposes.  

   
2.8                                No Partnership Intended for Nontax Purposes . The Members have formed the Company under the Act, and expressly do 

not intend hereby to form a partnership under the laws of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction. By executing this Agreement, the 
Members do not intend to be partners as to one another, or partners as to any third party, for any purpose other than federal, state, local or 
foreign tax purposes.  

   
ARTICLE III.  

PURPOSE OF THE COMPANY  
   

3.1                                    Purposes of the Company . The purpose of the Company is to transact any and all lawful business for which a limited 
liability company may be organized under the Act.  The Company has the power and authority to do anything permitted by the Act and other 
applicable Law.  

   
3.2                                General Powers . The Company shall have the power to enter into all transactions necessary or incidental to accomplish or 

implement the business or purposes of the Company, in its own name or in the name of, or by or through, one or more agents, nominees or 
trustees, including, without limitation, the incurring of indebtedness and the granting of liens and security interests in assets of the Company 
to secure the payment of such indebtedness, together with such other powers as may be authorized by this Agreement or permitted under the 
Act and which are necessary, incidental or customary in connection with the business of the Company.  
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ARTICLE IV.  

NAMES AND ADDRESSES OF MEMBERS  
   

4.1                                Names and Addresses of Members . The names and addresses of the Members are set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto, 
as such Exhibit may be amended from time to time by the Board.  

   
4.2                                Substitute or Additional Members . No substitute or additional Members shall be admitted to the Company except in 

accordance with Article IX .  
   
4.3                                Preemptive Rights . The Members shall not have a preemptive right to acquire additional, unissued or treasury 

Membership Interests of the Company or securities of the Company, convertible into or carrying a right to subscribe to acquire Membership 
Interests.  

   
ARTICLE V.  

CONTRIBUTIONS; FINANCING; CAPITAL ACCOUNTS  
   

5.1                                Capital Contributions .  
   

(a)                                  All Capital Contributions shall be made in cash except as otherwise approved by the Board. The Capital 
Contributions of the Members may be used for any valid Company purpose.  

   
(b)                                  The Members shall own, hold and be entitled to Membership Interests with the initial Equity Percentage Interests 

shown on Exhibit A (except to the extent set forth to the contrary in Section 7.3(a) ), and such Membership Interests shall be subject to all of 
the terms, provisions and conditions of this Agreement. The Capital Account balances of each Member as of the Effective Date are agreed to be 
amounts set forth on Exhibit A . Exhibit A (including the Name, Address, Capital Contributions and Membership Interests of each Member 
reflected therein) shall be amended from time to time by the Board to reflect Transfers of Membership Interests and issuances of new 
Membership Interests in accordance with this Agreement.  

   
5.2                                Capital Calls .  
   

(a)                                  At any time and from time to time that the Board determines, by Supermajority Approval, that the Company 
requires additional capital for any reason related to the business of the Company, the Board may call for additional capital by written notice (“ 
Capital Call ”) to the Members, and each Member shall have the right, but not the obligation, to make a Capital Contribution in an amount 
equal to its Pro Rata portion of the Capital Call (or, so long as the aggregate amount of the Members’ Capital Contributions equal the total 
amount of the Capital Call, in such other proportions as the Members unanimously agree).  

   
(b)                                  In the event a Member does not make a Capital Contribution in an amount equal to its Pro Rata portion of a Capital 

Call (or, so long as the aggregate amount of the Members’ Capital Contributions equal the total amount of the Capital Call, in such other 
proportions as the Members unanimously agreed), the fully contributing Member shall have the right, but not the obligation, to contribute all or 
any portion of the Capital Contribution that was not contributed by the non-contributing Member. The only result of a Member not making a  
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Capital Contribution in an amount equal to its Pro Rata portion of a Capital Call will be a reduction in such Member’s Equity Percentage 
Interest (except to the extent set forth to the contrary in Section 7.3(a) ) to the extent other Members make validly called Capital Contributions 
in accordance with this Agreement.  
   

5.3                                Required Capital Contributions . No Member shall have any obligation to make any Capital Contributions to the Company 
other than as expressly set forth herein. In particular, no Member shall have any obligation to restore (to the Company or to or for the benefit 
of any creditor of the Company) any deficit balance in its Capital Account at any time, whether on liquidation or otherwise, and such deficit 
balance shall not be considered a debt owed by such Member to the Company or to any other Person for any purpose whatsoever.  

   
5.4                                Interest . No Member shall be entitled to be paid interest in respect of either its Capital Account or its Capital 

Contributions.  
   
5.5                                Return of Capital . No Member shall be entitled to have any Capital Contribution returned to it or to receive any 

distributions from the Company upon withdrawal or otherwise, except in accordance with the express provisions of this Agreement. No 
unrepaid Capital Contribution shall be deemed or considered to be a liability of the Company or any Member. No Member shall be required 
to contribute any cash or property to the Company to enable the Company to return any Member’s Capital Contribution.  

   
5.6                                Creditors of the Company . No creditor of the Company will have or shall acquire at any time any direct or indirect 

interest in the profits, capital or property of the Company other than as a secured creditor as a result of making a loan to the Company.  
   
5.7                                Loans . No Member may make any loans to the Company (a) without Supermajority Approval by the Board and 

(b) without offering to the other Members the opportunity to make such loans Pro Rata.  
   
5.8                                Capital Accounts . The Company shall maintain for each Member owning a Membership Interest a separate Capital 

Account with respect to such Membership Interest in accordance with the rules of Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv).  
   

(a)                                  Increases and Decreases . Each Member’s Capital Account (i) shall be increased by (x) the amount of all Capital 
Contributions made to the Company with respect to such Membership Interest and (y) all items of Company income and gain (including 
income and gain exempt from tax), computed in accordance with Section 5.8(b)  and allocated with respect to such Membership Interest 
pursuant to Article VI ; and (ii) shall be decreased by (x) the amount of cash or Net Agreed Value of all distributions of cash or property made 
with respect to such Membership Interest, and (y) all items of Company deduction and loss computed in accordance with Section 5.8(b)  and 
allocated with respect to such Membership Interest, and (y) all items of Company deduction and loss computed in accordance with Section 5.8
(b)  and allocated with respect to such Membership Interest pursuant to Article VI .  

   
(b)                                  Computation of Amounts . For purposes of computing the amount of any item of income, gain, loss or deduction 

that is to be allocated pursuant to Article VI and is to be reflected in the Members’ Capital Accounts, the determination, recognition and 
classification of  
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any such item shall be the same as its determination, recognition and classification for U.S. federal income tax purposes (including any method 
of depreciation, cost recovery or amortization used for that purpose), provided that:  
   

(i)                                      solely for purposes of this Section 5.8 , the Company shall be treated as owning directly its proportionate 
share (as determined by the Company based upon the provisions of the applicable Group Member Agreement) of all property owned 
by (x) any other Group Member that is classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and (y) any other partnership, 
limited liability company, unincorporated business or other entity classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes of 
which a Group Member is, directly or indirectly, a partner, member or other equity holder;  

   
(ii)                                   all fees and other expenses incurred by the Company to promote the sale of (or to sell) a Membership 

Interest that can neither be deducted nor amortized under Code Section 709, if any, shall, for purposes of Capital Account 
maintenance, be treated as an item of deduction at the time such fees and other expenses are required and shall be allocated among the 
Members pursuant to Article VI ;  

   
(iii)                                except as otherwise provided in Regulations § 1.704-l(b)(2)(iv)(m), the computation of all items of 

income, gain, loss and deduction shall be made without regard to any election under Code Section 754 that may be made by the 
Company and, as to those items described in Code Section 705(a)(l)(B) or 705(a)(2)(B), without regard to the fact that such items are 
not includable in gross income or are neither currently deductible nor capitalized for U.S. federal income tax purposes. To the extent 
an adjustment to the adjusted tax basis of any Company asset pursuant to Code Section 734(b) or 743(b) is required, pursuant to 
Regulations § 1.704-l(b)(2)(iv)(m), to be taken into account in determining Capital Accounts, the amount of such adjustment in the 
Capital Accounts shall be treated as an item of gain or loss;  

   
(iv)                               any income, gain or loss attributable to the taxable disposition of any Company property shall be 

determined as if the adjusted basis of such property as of such date of disposition were equal in amount to the Company’s Carrying 
Value with respect to such property as of such date;  

   
(v)                                  in accordance with the requirements of Code Section 704(b), any deductions for depreciation, cost 

recovery or amortization attributable to any Contributed Property shall be determined as if the adjusted basis of such property on the 
date it was acquired by the Company was equal to the Agreed Value of such property. Upon an adjustment pursuant to Section 5.8(d) 
 to the Carrying Value of any Company property subject to depreciation, cost recovery or amortization, any further deductions for 
such depreciation, cost recovery or amortization attributable to such property shall be determined, under the rules prescribed by 
Regulation § 1.704-3(d)(2), as if the adjusted basis of such property were equal to the Carrying Value of such property immediately 
following such adjustment; and  
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(vi)                               the Gross Liability Value of each Liability of the Company described in Regulation § 1.752-7(b)(3)

(i) shall be adjusted at such times as provided in this Agreement for an adjustment to Carrying Values and the amount of any such 
adjustment shall be treated for purposes hereof as an item of loss (if the adjustment increases the Carrying Value of such Liability of 
the Company) or an item of gain (if the adjustment decreases the Carrying Value of such Liability of the Company).  

   
(c)                                   Transferees . A Transferee of a Membership Interest shall succeed to a Pro Rata portion of the Capital Account of 

the transferring Member relating to the Membership Interest so transferred.  
   
(d)                                  Unrealized Gains and Losses .  
   

(i)                                      In accordance with Regulations § 1.704-l(b)(2)(iv)(f), on an issuance of additional Membership Interests 
for cash or Contributed Property, the Capital Account of each Member and the Carrying Value of each Company property 
immediately prior to such issuance shall be adjusted upward or downward to reflect any Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss 
attributable to such Company property, as if such Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss had been recognized on an actual sale of each 
such property immediately prior to such issuance for an amount equal to its fair market value and had been allocated to the Members 
at such time pursuant to Section 6.2 .  In determining such Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss, the aggregate fair market value of all 
Company assets (including cash or cash equivalents) immediately prior to the issuance of additional Interests shall be determined by 
the Company using such method of valuation as the Board may adopt.  

   
(ii)                                   In accordance with Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f), immediately prior to any distribution to a Member 

of any Company property (other than a distribution of cash that is not in redemption or retirement of a Membership Interest), the 
Capital Account of each Member and the Carrying Value of each Company property shall be adjusted upward or downward to reflect 
any Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss attributable to such Company property, as if such Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss had 
been recognized on an actual sale of each such property immediately prior to such distribution for an amount equal to its fair market 
value and had been allocated to the Members at such time pursuant to Section 6.2 . In determining such Unrealized Gain or Unrealized 
Loss, the aggregate fair market value of all Company assets (including cash or cash equivalents) immediately prior to the distribution 
shall (x) in the case of a distribution other than a distribution made pursuant to Section 10.2 , be determined in the same manner as that 
provided in Section 5.8(d)(i)  or (y) in the case of a liquidating distribution pursuant to Section 10.2 , be determined by the Liquidating 
Trustee using such method of valuation as it may adopt.  
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ARTICLE VI.  

ALLOCATIONS AND DISTRIBUTIONS  
   

6.1                                Allocations .  After giving effect to the special allocations set forth in Section 6.2 and Section 6.3 , Company Net Income 
or Net Loss for any taxable year shall be allocated to the Members Pro Rata.  

   
6.2                                Regulatory Allocations .  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article VI , the following special allocations 

shall be made in the following order of priority:  
   

(a)                                  Company Minimum Gain Chargeback .  If there is a net decrease in Company Minimum Gain during any Company 
taxable year, then each Member shall be allocated items of Company income and gain for such taxable year (and, if necessary, for subsequent 
years) in the manner and amounts provided in Regulations §§ 1.704-2(f)(6), 1.704-2(g)(2) and 1.704-2(j)(2)(i), or any successor provision.  For 
purposes of this Section 6.2 , each Member’s Adjusted Capital Account balance shall be determined, and the allocation of income or gain 
required hereunder shall be effected, prior to the application of any other allocations pursuant to this Section 6.2 with respect to such taxable 
year (other than an allocation pursuant to Section 6.2(e)  and Section 6.2(f) ).  This Section 6.2(a)  is intended to comply with the minimum 
gain chargeback requirement of Regulations § 1.704-2(f) and shall be interpreted consistently therewith.  

   
(b)                                  Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain Chargeback .  Except as provided in Regulations § 1.704-2(i)(4), if 

there is a net decrease in Member Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain during any Company taxable year, any Member with a share of Member 
Nonrecourse Debt Minimum Gain at the beginning of such taxable year shall be specially allocated items of Company income and gain for 
such taxable year (and, if necessary, for subsequent years) in the manner and amounts provided in Regulations §§ 1.704-2(i)(4) and 1.704-2(j)
(2)(ii), or any successor provisions. For purposes of this Section 6.2 , each Member’s Adjusted Capital Account balance shall be determined, 
and the allocation of income or gain required hereunder shall be effected, prior to the application of any other allocations pursuant to this 
Section 6.2 , other than Section 6.2(a)  and other than allocations pursuant to Section 6.2(e)  and Section 6.2(f) , with respect to such taxable 
year.  This Section 6.2(b)  is intended to comply with the partner nonrecourse debt minimum gain chargeback requirement of Regulations § 
1.704-2(i)(4) and shall be interpreted consistently therewith.  

   
(c)                                   Qualified Income Offset .  If any Member unexpectedly receives an adjustment, allocation, or distribution of the 

type contemplated by Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(d)(4), (5) or (6), then items of income and gain shall be allocated to such Member in an 
amount and manner sufficient to eliminate, to the extent required by the Regulations promulgated under Code Section 704(b), the deficit 
balance, if any, in its Adjusted Capital Account created by such adjustments, allocations or distributions as quickly as possible; provided that an 
allocation pursuant to this Section 6.2(c)  shall be made only if and to the extent that such Member would have a deficit balance in its Adjusted 
Capital Account after all other allocations provided for in Section 6.1 and Section 6.2 have been tentatively made as if this Section 6.2(c)  were 
not in this Agreement.  

   
(d)                                  Limitation on Allocation of Loss .  If the allocation of Loss (or items of loss or deduction) to a Member as provided 

in Section 6.1 hereof would create or increase an Adjusted Capital Account deficit, then there shall be allocated to such Member only that 
amount  
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of Loss (or items of loss or deduction) as will not create or increase an Adjusted Capital Account deficit. The Loss (or items of loss or 
deduction) that would, absent the application of the preceding sentence, otherwise be allocated to such Member shall be allocated to the other 
Members in proportion to their relative Equity Percentage Interests, subject to the limitations of this Section 6.2(d) .  
   

(e)                                   Nonrecourse Deductions .  The Nonrecourse Deductions for each Company taxable year shall be allocated to the 
Members Pro Rata.  

   
(f)                                    Member Nonrecourse Deductions .  The Member Nonrecourse Deductions for any taxable year shall be allocated 

100% to the Member that bears the economic risk of loss (within the meaning of Regulations § 1.752-2) for the Member Nonrecourse Debt to 
which such Member Nonrecourse Deductions are attributable in accordance with Regulations § 1.704-2(i).  If more than one Member bears the 
economic risk of loss with respect to a Member Nonrecourse Debt, the Member Nonrecourse Deductions attributable thereto shall be allocated 
between or among such Members in accordance with the ratios in which they share such economic risk of loss.  

   
(g)                                   Nonrecourse Liabilities . For purposes of Regulations § 1.752-3(a)(3), the Members agree that Nonrecourse 

Liabilities of the Company in excess of the sum of (i) the amount of Company Minimum Gain and (ii) the total amount of Nonrecourse Built-in 
Gain shall be allocated among the Members Pro Rata.  

   
(h)                                  Code Section 754 Adjustments .  To the extent that an adjustment to the adjusted tax basis of any Company asset 

pursuant to Code Section 734(b) or Code Section 743(b) is required, pursuant to Regulations § 1.704-l(b)(2)(iv)(m), to be taken into account in 
determining Capital Accounts, the amount of such adjustment to the Capital Accounts shall be treated as an item of gain (if the adjustment 
increases the basis of the asset) or loss (if the adjustment decreases such basis), and such item of gain or loss shall be specially allocated to the 
Members in a manner consistent with the manner in which their Capital Accounts are required to be adjusted pursuant to such Section of the 
Regulations.  

   
(i)                                      Curative Allocations .  
   
(i)                                      The allocations set forth in Section 6.2(a) , Section 6.2(b) , Section 6.2(c) , Section 6.2(d) , Section 6.2(e) , 

Section 6.2(f)  and Section 6.2(h)  (the “ Regulatory Allocations ” ) are intended to comply with certain requirements of Regulations 
§§ 1.704-l(b) and 1.704-2(i).  Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6.1 , the Regulatory Allocations shall be taken into account in 
allocating other items of income, gain, loss and deduction among the Members so that, to the extent possible, the net amount of such 
allocations of other items and the Regulatory Allocations, together, shall be equal to the net amount of such items that would have 
been allocated to each such Member if the Regulatory Allocations and the related Curative Allocation had not otherwise been 
provided in this Article VI .  In exercising its discretion under this Section 6.2(i)(i) , the Company may take into account future 
Regulatory Allocations that, although not yet made, are likely to offset other Regulatory Allocations previously made. Allocations 
pursuant to this Section 6.2(i)(i)  shall only be made with respect to Regulatory  

   
17  

 



   
Allocations to the extent the Company determines that such allocations will otherwise be inconsistent with the economic agreement 
among the Members.  

   
(ii)                                   The Company shall, with respect to each taxable year, (x) apply the provisions of Section 6.2(i)(i)  in whatever 

order is most likely to minimize the economic distortions that might otherwise result from the Regulatory Allocations, and (y) divide 
all allocations pursuant to Section 6.2(i)(i)  among the Members in a manner that is likely to minimize such economic distortions.  

   
6.3                                Allocations for Tax Purposes .  
   

(a)                                  Except as otherwise provided herein, for federal income tax purposes, each item of income, gain, loss and deduction 
shall be allocated among the Members in the same manner as its correlative item of “book” income, gain, loss or deduction is allocated 
pursuant to Section 6.1 and Section 6.2 .  

   
(b)                                  With respect to any Contributed Property or Adjusted Property with a Book-Tax Disparity, the Company shall 

adopt the “remedial allocation method” described in Regulations § 1.704-3(d), and consistent therewith and in an attempt to eliminate Book-
Tax Disparities attributable to a Contributed Property or Adjusted Property, items of income, gain, loss, depreciation, amortization and cost 
recovery deductions will be allocated for federal income tax purposes among the Members as follows:  

   
(i)                                      In the case of a Contributed Property, (A) such items of income, gain, loss, depreciation, amortization and cost 

recovery deductions attributable thereto will be allocated among the Members in the manner provided under Code Section 704(c) and 
Regulations § 1.704-3(d) ( i.e. , the “ remedial allocation method ”) that takes into account the variation between the Agreed Value of 
such property and its adjusted basis at the time of contribution; and (B) any item of Residual Gain or Residual Loss attributable to a 
Contributed Property will be allocated among the Members in the same manner as its correlative item of “book” gain or loss is 
allocated pursuant to Section 6.1 and Section 6.2 .  

   
(ii)                                   In the case of an Adjusted Property, (A) such items will (1) first, be allocated among the Members in a manner 

consistent with the principles of Code Section 704(c) and Regulations § 1.704-3(d) ( i.e. , the “ remedial allocation method ”) to take 
into account the Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss attributable to such property and the allocations thereof pursuant to Section 5.8
(d) , and (2) second, in the event such Adjusted Property was originally a Contributed Property, be allocated among the Members in a 
manner consistent with Section 6.3(b)(i)(A) ; and (B)  any item of Residual Gain or Residual Loss attributable to an Adjusted Property 
will be allocated among the Members in the same manner as its correlative item of “book” gain or loss is allocated pursuant to 
Section 6.1 and Section 6.2 .  

   
(c)                                   For the proper administration of the Company, the Company shall (i) adopt such conventions as it deems 

appropriate in determining the amount of depreciation, amortization and cost recovery deductions; and (ii) amend the provisions of this 
Agreement as  
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appropriate to reflect the proposal or promulgation of Regulations under Code Section 704(b) or 704(c).  The Company may adopt such 
conventions, make such allocations and make such amendments to this Agreement as provided in this Section 6.3(c)  only if such conventions, 
allocations or amendments are consistent with the principles of Code Section 704.  

   
(d)                                  In accordance with Regulations §§ 1.1245-1(e) and 1.1250-1(f), any gain allocated to the Members upon the sale or 

other taxable disposition of any Company property or asset will, to the extent possible, after taking into account other required allocations of 
gain pursuant to this Section 6.3 , be characterized as Recapture Income in the same proportions and the same extent as such Members (or their 
predecessors in interest) have been allocated any deductions directly or indirectly giving rise to the treatment of such gains as Recapture 
Income.  

   
(e)                                   All items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit recognized by the Company for federal income tax purposes 

and allocated to the Members in accordance with the provisions hereof shall be determined without regard to any election under Code 
Section 754 which may be made by the Company; provided , however , that such allocations, once made, shall be adjusted (in any manner 
determined by the Board) to take into account those adjustments permitted or required by Code Sections 734 and 743.  

   
6.4                                Other Rules .  
   

(a)                                  For purposes of determining the Net Income, Net Loss or any other item allocable to any period, Net Income, Net 
Loss and other items will be determined on a daily, monthly or other basis, as reasonably determined by the Board using any permissible 
method under Code Section 706 and the related Regulations.  

   
(b)                                  In the event that the Code or any Regulations require allocations of items of income, gain, loss, deduction or credit 

different from those set forth in this Article VI , the Company is hereby authorized to make new allocations in reliance on the Code and such 
Regulations, and no such new allocation shall give rise to any claim or cause of action by any Member.  

   
6.5                                Distributions .  
   

(a)                                  From time to time, but not less than once each Distribution Period, the Board shall distribute an amount equal to 
100% of Available Cash with respect to such Distribution Period to the Members Pro Rata; provided that, notwithstanding any other provision 
of this Agreement, the Company shall not make any distribution to its Members that would be prohibited by the Act or by any other applicable 
law or contract to which the Company is a party or to which it is subject.  

   
(b)                                  The Company and the Board shall be entitled to treat the record owner of a Membership Interest as the absolute 

owner thereof in all respects and shall incur no liability for distributions of cash or other property made in good faith to such record owner until 
such time as a Transfer of such Membership Interest has become effective on the books of the Company.  From the date of the receipt of any 
instrument relating to Transfer of a Membership Interest or at any time if the Company is reasonably in doubt as to the Person entitled to 
receive distributions in respect of such Membership Interest, the Company may withhold any such distributions until  
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the Transfer is completed or abandoned or the dispute is resolved. Any amounts that a Member owes the Company may be deducted from the 
amount of a distribution to such Member before payment.  

   
6.6                                Accounting Matters .  
   

(a)                                  The fiscal year of the Company shall end on December 31 unless otherwise established by the Board. The books 
and records of account of the Company shall, at the expense of the Company, (i) be kept, or caused to be kept, by the Company at the principal 
place of business of the Company, (ii) be on a basis consistent with GAAP consistently applied, (iii) reflect all Company transactions and 
(iv) be appropriate and adequate for conducting the Company business.  The Company may cause accountants who are employees of one or 
more Members or their Affiliates to keep the Company’s books and records, or the Company may hire third party accountants to keep the 
Company’s books and records.  

   
(b)                                  Company books and records of account will be available for inspection and audit as provided in Section 8.4 .  
   
(c)                                   The Company shall provide to each Member such information with respect to the operations of the Company and 

its subsidiaries as is reasonably necessary for such Member to file any required Tax returns of such Member or its Affiliates. Without limiting 
the generality of the foregoing, the Tax Matters Partner shall prepare (or cause to be prepared), at Company expense, and file for the Company 
appropriate Tax returns and send all Members a copy thereof.  

   
(d)                                  Subject to the provisions of Section 8.4 , within 45 days of the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters of each 

Company fiscal year, the Company shall furnish each Member with a copy of the balance sheet of the Company as of the last day of the 
applicable period, and a statement of income or loss for the Company for such period, which shall be prepared from the books and records of 
the Company in accordance with GAAP (except for the absence of footnotes) consistently applied.  The Company’s year-end annual statements 
shall be audited by a nationally recognized independent registered public accounting firm. Subject to the provisions of Section 8.4 , within 45 
days after the end of the Company’s fiscal year, the Company shall furnish each Member with a copy of the Company’s audited financial 
statements.  

   
(e)                                   The funds of the Company shall not be commingled with the funds of any Member or any other Person, and neither 

the Company nor any Member shall employ or permit any other Person to employ such funds in any manner except for the benefit of the 
Company.  The bank accounts of the Company shall be maintained in the name of the Company in such banking institutions as are approved by 
the Board, and withdrawals shall be made only in the regular course of Company business and as otherwise authorized in this Agreement on 
such signature or signatures as the Board may determine.  

   
(f)                                    Each Member shall furnish to the Company all pertinent information in its possession relating to Company 

operations that is necessary to enable the Company’s income tax returns and financial statements to be prepared.  
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6.7                                Dissolution .  Notwithstanding the provisions of this Article VI , but subject to the proviso in Section 6.5(a) , upon 

dissolution of the Company as provided in Article X , all distributions occurring after such dissolution shall be made in accordance with 
Article X .  

   
6.8                                Amounts Withheld . All amounts withheld pursuant to the Code or any provision of any state, local or other tax Law with 

respect to any payment or distribution to the Members shall be treated as amounts distributed to the Members pursuant to this Article VI for 
all purposes of this Agreement.  

   
6.9                                Conformity of Reporting .  The Members are aware of the income tax consequences of the allocations made by this 

Article VI and hereby agree to be bound by the provisions of this Article VI in reporting their shares of Company profits, gains, income, 
losses, deductions, credits and other items for income tax purposes.  

   
6.10                         Elections . The Company shall make the following elections on the appropriate tax returns:  
   

(a)                                  to adopt the calendar year as the Company’s taxable year;  
   
(b)                                  to adopt the accrual method of accounting;  
   
(c)                                   to elect in a timely manner pursuant to Code Section 754 and pursuant to corresponding provisions of applicable 

state and local tax laws, an election under Code Section 754 and the Regulations promulgated thereunder to adjust the bases of the Company’s 
properties under Code Sections 734 and 743; and  

   
(d)                                  any other election approved by the Board.  
   

Neither the Company nor any Member may make an election for the Company to be excluded from the application of the provisions of 
subchapter K of chapter 1 of subtitle A of the Code or any similar provisions of applicable state Law or take any other action which would 
result in the Company not being treated as a “partnership” for federal tax purposes.  
   

6.11                         Tax Matters Partner .  SPOC shall be the “tax matters partner” of the Company pursuant to Code Section 6231(a)(7) (the “ 
Tax Matters Partner ”) .  The Tax Matters Partner shall take such action as may be necessary to cause each other Member to become a 
“notice partner” within the meaning of Code Section 6223.  The Tax Matters Partner shall inform each other Member of all significant 
matters that may come to its attention in its capacity as the Tax Matters Partner by giving notice thereof on or before the fifth Business Day 
after becoming aware thereof and, within that time, shall forward to each other Member copies of all material written communications it may 
receive in that capacity.  The Tax Matters Partner may not take any action contemplated by Code Sections 6222 through 6231 without the 
consent of the Members except as necessary to meet applicable time deadlines or comply with other requirements of law, but this sentence 
does not authorize the Tax Matters Partner to take any action left to the determination of an individual Member under Code Sections 6222 
through 6231.  
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ARTICLE VII.  

MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY  
   

7.1                                Management by Board of Directors .  
   

(a)                                  The overall management and control of the Company shall be exercised by or under the authority of the board of 
directors (the “ Board ” and, each member of the Board, a “ Director ” ) as provided in this Article VII .  A Director shall be deemed to be a 
“manager” within the meaning of the Act.  The Board shall be exclusively vested with all management powers over the business and affairs of 
the Company except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement or by non-waivable provisions of applicable Law. Except as expressly 
provided herein or as is otherwise required by Law, no Member, in its capacity as a Member, shall have any management power over the 
business and affairs of the Company or actual or apparent authority to enter into contracts on behalf of the Company.  

   
(b)                                  The Board shall be comprised of four Directors, two of whom shall be designated by each of Holdings and SPOC, 

in each case so long as such entity remains a Member. The Persons initially serving as Directors are as follows:  
   

   
(c)                                   Each Director shall continue to serve in such capacity until his resignation, death or removal. A Director shall serve 

at the pleasure of the Member that appointed such Director and may be removed at any time with or without cause by, and only by, the Member 
that is entitled to appoint such Person.  

   
(d)                                  In the event of a vacancy on the Board, the Member entitled pursuant to Section 7.1(b)  to appoint the Director in 

respect of which such vacancy occurred may appoint a Person to fill such vacancy.  
   
(e)                                   After the date hereof, Members entitled to appoint Directors may appoint such Persons by providing written notice 

thereof to the other Members and the Company, which notice shall state the effective date of any such appointment.  
   
(f)                                    A Director may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Company and the Member that appointed such 

Director. Such resignation shall be in writing and shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if no time is specified, at the time of its 
receipt by the Company. The acceptance of a resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective unless expressly so provided in the 
resignation.  

   
(g)                                   Elimination and Replacement of Duties of Board : WHENEVER THE BOARD, ANY COMMITTEE OF THE 

BOARD OR ANY DIRECTOR MAKES A DETERMINATION OR TAKES OR DECLINES TO TAKE ANY OTHER ACTION, IN ITS 
CAPACITY AS THE BOARD, A COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OR A DIRECTOR, AS  
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OPPOSED TO IN ANY DIRECTOR’S INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY, THE BOARD, SUCH COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OR SUCH 
DIRECTOR SHALL MAKE SUCH DETERMINATION OR TAKE OR DECLINE TO TAKE SUCH OTHER ACTION IN GOOD FAITH 
AND SHALL NOT BE SUBJECT TO ANY HIGHER STANDARD CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR UNDER THE DELAWARE ACT OR 
ANY OTHER LAW, RULE OR REGULATION OR AT EQUITY. A DETERMINATION, OTHER ACTION OR FAILURE TO ACT WILL 
BE DEEMED TO BE IN GOOD FAITH IF THE BOARD, ANY COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OR ANY DIRECTOR REASONABLY 
BELIEVED SUCH DETERMINATION, OTHER ACTION OR FAILURE TO ACT TO BE IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE 
COMPANY.  THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 7.11 AND SECTION 7.13 SHALL ALSO BE APPLICABLE TO DIRECTORS ACTING 
IN SUCH CAPACITY AND INURE TO THE BENEFIT OF EACH DIRECTOR.  TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, 
THE COMPANY SHALL INDEMNIFY, PROTECT, DEFEND, RELEASE AND HOLD HARMLESS EACH DIRECTOR FROM AND 
AGAINST ANY CLAIMS ASSERTED BY OR ON BEHALF OF ANY PERSON (INCLUDING ANOTHER MEMBER OR THE 
COMPANY), OTHER THAN THE MEMBER THAT DESIGNATED SUCH DIRECTOR, THAT ARISE OUT OF, RELATE TO OR ARE 
OTHERWISE ATTRIBUTABLE TO, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, SUCH DIRECTOR’S SERVICE ON THE BOARD, OTHER THAN 
SUCH CLAIMS ARISING OUT OF THE BAD FAITH, FRAUD OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT OF SUCH DIRECTOR (SUCH BAD 
FAITH, FRAUD OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT HAVING BEEN DETERMINED BY A FINAL AND NON-APPEALABLE JUDGMENT 
ENTERED BY A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION) WHICH HAS A MATERIAL ADVERSE FINANCIAL IMPACT ON THE 
COMPANY.  

   
7.2                                Authority of the Board .  Except for matters that (a) require approval of the Members by the express terms of this 

Agreement or (b) relate to the responsibilities and authority delegated by the Board to the officers, the Board shall have the exclusive 
authority to make all decisions and take all actions and act on behalf of the Company generally to conduct, direct and manage the business, 
activities, operations and affairs of the Company.  

   
7.3                                Board Decisions and Quorum .  
   

(a)                                  Each Director shall be entitled to cast on all matters to come before the Board a number of votes equal to the Equity 
Percentage Interest deemed to be held by the Member that appointed such Director divided by the number of Directors appointed by such 
Member; provided that, if any other Director appointed by such Member is not in attendance at the Board meeting, the Director in attendance 
shall be entitled to cast an aggregate number of votes equal to the entire Equity Percentage Interest held by the Member that appointed such 
Director. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, for so long as the aggregate interest of SPOC and its Affiliates in the equity 
of the Company, stated as a percentage, is greater than or equal to 15.0%, on all matters to come before the Board, SPOC shall be deemed to 
hold a 50.1% Equity Percentage Interest and Holdings shall be deemed to hold a 49.9% Equity Percentage Interest, in each case, for purposes 
of determining the number of votes entitled to be cast with respect to any such matters by the Directors appointed by SPOC.  

   
(b)                                  The Board shall hold such regular meetings, if any, as it may determine from time to time which shall not require 

prior written notice, and such special meetings as may  
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be called by any Director upon not less than one Business Day’s prior written notice to all Directors.  

   
(c)                                   Notices of Board meetings shall state the place, day and hour thereof, shall include appropriate dial-in information 

to each Director to participate in such meeting by means of telephone conference, and shall otherwise be in accordance with Section 11.1 . 
Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the Board need be specified in the notice or 
waiver of notice of such meeting.  

   
(d)                                  Attendance of a Director at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where the 

Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of business at such meeting on the ground that such meeting is 
not lawfully called or convened. Any Director may waive notice of any meeting by signing a written waiver to such effect before or after such 
meeting and such waiver shall be effective for all purposes as satisfying all notice requirements under this Agreement or applicable Law.  

   
(e)                                   The presence in person or by proxy of Directors having, in the aggregate, 50.1% of the votes deemed to be held by 

all Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board.  If, however, a quorum shall not be present at 
any meeting of the Board, the Directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without notice other than announcement at the 
meeting until a quorum shall be present.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, where a Director attends a meeting for the 
express purpose of objecting to the transaction of business at such meeting on the ground that such meeting is not lawfully called or convened, 
such attendance shall not constitute participation in, or presence at, such meeting.  

   
(f)                                    With respect to any matter for which the approval, consent or vote of Directors is required by the Act or this 

Agreement, except to the extent Supermajority Approval or unanimous approval is required by this Agreement, the approval of Directors 
deemed to hold an Equity Percentage Interest of 50.1% or greater at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board, and 
the phrases “approval”, “consent” or “vote” of or by the Board and phrases of like import shall mean approval by the Board, similarly 
construed.  At any meeting of the Board, each Director shall be entitled to vote in person or by proxy executed in writing by such Director or 
by his duly authorized attorney-in-fact.  

   
(g)                                   Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board may be taken without a meeting if a consent 

or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by Directors deemed to hold the requisite number of votes and such 
consent shall have the same force and effect as a vote of such Directors at a meeting of the Board, provided that reasonable advance notice of 
such consent is given to all Directors. Such consent shall be filed with the consents of the Board and a copy of such consent shall be provided 
to all Directors.  

   
(h)                                  Any meeting of the Board may be held by conference telephone, televideo or similar communications equipment by 

means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other.  Participation in a meeting pursuant to such equipment shall 
constitute presence in person at such meeting, except where a person participates in the meeting for the  
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express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.  

   
(i)                                      The Directors shall designate a person to keep and maintain minutes of each meeting of the Board with the other 

books and records of the Company, and shall provide copies thereof to the other Directors for approval by the Directors.  
   

7.4                                Officers and Employees; Outsourced Services .  
   

(a)                                  Officers and Agents .  The Board may appoint such officers and agents as may from time to time appear to be 
necessary or advisable in the conduct of the affairs of the Company, who shall hold their offices for such terms and shall exercise such powers 
and perform such duties as shall be determined from time to time by the Board.  The officers shall have such titles and hold their offices for 
such terms as shall be determined from time to time by the Board and shall have such authority as set forth in Section 7.5 except to the extent 
modified from time to time by the Board.  The Board may grant powers of attorney or other authority as appropriate to establish and evidence 
the authority of the officers and other Persons.  

   
(b)                                  Term of Office . Any officer may be removed, with or without cause, only by the Board. Vacancies in any office 

may be filled only by the Board.  
   
(c)                                   Resignation . An officer may resign at any time by giving written notice of resignation to the Board.  Any such 

resignation shall be effective immediately unless a certain date is specified for it to take effect, in which event it shall be effective upon such 
date.  Acceptance of any such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.  

   
(d)                                  Compensation . The compensation, if any, of all officers, employees and agents of the Company shall be fixed by 

the Board.  
   
(e)                                   Reimbursements .  The officers and agents of the Company may be reimbursed for out-of-pocket costs and 

expenses of the Company paid or incurred by them on behalf of the Company.  
   

7.5                                Authority of the Officers . Except for matters that require approval of the Members or the Directors by the express terms 
of this Agreement, or as the Directors may otherwise determine, the officers shall have the authority to make all decisions and take all actions 
and act on behalf of the Company generally to conduct, direct and manage the day-to-day business, activities, operations and affairs of the 
Company and all matters related to the business of the Company.  

   
7.6                                Member Decisions and Quorum .  
   

(a)                                  The Members in their capacity as Members shall not have any power or authority to manage the business or affairs 
of the Company or to bind the Company or enter into agreements on behalf of the Company.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 
Agreement or the Act, Members shall have no voting rights or rights of approval, veto or consent or similar rights over any actions of the 
Company.  For so long as the aggregate interest of SPOC and its Affiliates in the equity of the Company, stated as a percentage, is greater than 
or equal to  
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15.0%, where the vote, approval or consent of the Members is required under this Agreement, notwithstanding any other provision hereof, 
SPOC shall be deemed to hold a 50.1% Equity Percentage Interest and Holdings shall be deemed to hold a 49.9% Equity Percentage Interest.  

   
(b)                                  There shall be no regular meetings of the Members. Special meetings of the Members for any purpose or purposes, 

unless otherwise prescribed by Law, may be called by any Member holding, together with its Affiliates, at least an aggregate 20% or more 
Equity Percentage Interest.  Meetings of the Members shall take place at the principal office of the Company unless the Members agree 
otherwise.  

   
(c)                                   Written notice of all special meetings of Members stating the place, day and hour thereof, and the purpose for 

which the meeting is called, shall be given not less than one Business Day prior to the date of the meeting, to the Members of record entitled to 
vote at such meeting and shall otherwise be in accordance with Section 11.1 .  

   
(d)                                  Attendance of a Member at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where the 

Member attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of business at such meeting on the ground that such meeting 
is not lawfully called or convened.  Any Member may waive notice of any meeting by signing a written waiver to such effect before or after 
such meeting and such waiver shall be effective for all purposes as satisfying all notice requirements under this Agreement or applicable Law.  

   
(e)                                   The presence in person or by proxy of Members deemed to hold, in the aggregate, 50.1% of the Equity Percentage 

Interests shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Members.  If, however, such quorum shall not be 
present or represented at any meeting of the Members, the Members entitled to vote at such meeting, present in person or represented by proxy, 
shall have the power to adjourn the meeting from time to time without notice other than announcement at the meeting until a quorum shall be 
present or represented.  At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present or represented any business may be transacted which 
might have been transacted at the meeting as originally convened.  

   
(f)                                    With respect to any matter for which the approval, consent or vote of Members is required by the Act or this 

Agreement, the affirmative vote of Members deemed to hold an Equity Percentage Interest of 50.1% at a meeting at which a quorum is present 
shall be the act of the Members, unless the matter is one for which the Act (in a non-waivable provision thereof) or this Agreement requires the 
consent, approval or vote of all of the Members or a Supermajority Approval.  The terms “ approval ”, “ consent ” or “ vote ” of or by the 
Members and phrases of like import shall mean approval by the Members, similarly construed.  At any meeting of the Members, each Member 
entitled to vote at such meeting shall be entitled to vote in person or by proxy executed in writing by such Member or by his or its duly 
authorized attorney-in-fact. No proxy shall be valid after 11 months from the date of its execution unless such proxy otherwise provides.  Each 
proxy shall be revocable before it has been voted unless the proxy form conspicuously states that the proxy is irrevocable and the proxy is 
coupled with an interest.  

   
(g)                                   Any action required or permitted to be taken by the Members at a meeting of the Members may be taken without a 

meeting if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth  
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the action so taken, shall be signed by Members deemed to hold an aggregate Equity Percentage Interest sufficient to take such action at a 
meeting of the Members at which a quorum is present provided that reasonable advance notice of the proposed action has been provided to all 
Members. Such consents shall be filed with the minutes of the Members, and a copy of such consents shall be provided to all Members.  

   
(h)                                  Members may participate in and hold a meeting of the Members by means of conference telephone, televideo or 

similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other. Participation in a meeting 
pursuant to such telephone or communication equipment shall constitute presence in person at such meeting, except where a person participates 
in the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or 
convened.  

   
7.7                                Acts Requiring Supermajority Approval .  Neither any Member, Director or officer shall have any authority to take any of 

the following actions or enter into any agreement or arrangement to consummate any of the following actions on behalf of the Company, or 
otherwise cause or permit the Company to do any of the following without Supermajority Approval of the Board:  

   
(a)                                  any Capital Call (or acceptance of any Capital Contribution);  
   
(b)                                  the acceptance of any loans from a Member to the Company;  
   
(c)                                   any issuance of any Membership Interests, except pursuant to any convertible security, call, option, warrant, 

subscription, purchase right or other contract or commitment previously approved by Supermajority Approval, or any change in the number of 
outstanding Membership Interests whether by recapitalization, reclassification, split-up, combination, exchange, repurchase, acquisition or 
otherwise or take any action affecting the amount of outstanding Membership Interests or altering the rights of outstanding Membership 
Interests set forth in this Agreement;  

   
(d)                                  any distributions of Membership Interests or any other distributions other than distributions of Available Cash;  
   
(e)                                   the approval of any Transfer of Membership Interests (other than Internal Transfers); and  
   
(f)                                    the approval of the admission of an additional Member into the Company.  
   

7.8                                Acts Requiring Unanimous Approval . Neither any Member, Director or officer shall have any authority to take any of the 
following actions or enter into any agreement or arrangement to consummate any of the following actions on behalf of the Company, or 
otherwise cause or permit the Company to do any of the following without the unanimous approval of the Board :  

   
(a)                                  any amendment of the Charter Documents of the Company;  
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(b)                                  the adoption of any voluntary change in the tax classification for federal income tax purposes of the Company;  
   
(c)                                   the approval of any merger, consolidation or other combination of the Company, or participation of the Company in 

a share exchange, or sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company;  
   
(d)                                  the assignment of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets in trust for creditors or on the assignee’s promise 

to pay its debts or file a voluntary petition commencing a bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceeding; and  
   
(e)                                   the dissolution or liquidation of the Company.  
   

7.9                                Budget .  The Board may approve budgets for the Company from time to time.  
   
7.10                         Determination of Fair Market Value .  Whenever a determination of Fair Market Value is required under this Agreement 

(including as part of a determination of Agreed Value), the Board shall determine the Fair Market Value and shall notify the Member who 
(or whose Affiliate) owns or to whom is being distributed the interest or property being valued of the Board’s determination.  

   
7.11                         Limitation of Liability .  No Member, Director or officer has guaranteed nor shall it have any obligation with respect to the 

return of a Member’s Capital Contributions, and no Member, Director or officer has guaranteed profits from the operation of the Company. 
No Member or any of its Affiliates, nor any Director or officer shall be liable to the Company or to any other Member for any loss or damage 
sustained by the Company or any other Member arising from any actions taken or omitted to be taken in its capacity as a Member, Director 
or officer, except for any loss or damage directly resulting from fraud or willful misconduct by such Member or its officers, directors, 
employees, agents or Affiliates, or the bad faith, fraud or willful misconduct of such Director or officer (such bad faith, fraud or willful 
misconduct having been determined by a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a court of competent jurisdiction) which has a 
material adverse financial impact on the Company, it being specifically agreed that no Member, Director or officer shall be liable to the 
Company or to any Member for its own ordinary, joint or concurrent negligence of such Member or its officers, directors, employees, agents 
or Affiliates, or such Director or officer.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, no event shall any Member or its officers, directors, 
employees, agents or Affiliates, or such Director or officer be liable to the Company or to any other Member for any Consequential Damages 
sustained by the Company or any other Member. Each Member, Director and officer shall be entitled to rely in good faith upon the records of 
the Company and upon such information, opinions, reports or statements presented to the Company by any Person as to matters the Member, 
Director or officer reasonably believes are within such Person’s professional competence or expertise, including financial statements or other 
financial data prepared or presented in accordance with the provisions of the Act, and any act taken or omitted in reliance thereon shall be 
conclusively presumed to have been done or omitted in good faith and in accordance therewith.  The provisions of this Agreement, including 
this Section 7.11 , Section 7.1 and Section 7.13 to the extent that they restrict or eliminate fiduciary and other duties of Members, Directors, 
officers or Affiliates to the Company or its Members  
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otherwise existing at law or in equity, are agreed by the parties hereto to replace such other duties and liabilities of such Members, Directors, 
officers or Affiliates.  

   
7.12                         No Restrictions .  
   

(a)                                  No Member, Director or officer shall be required to tend to the business and affairs of the Company as such 
Member’s, Director’s or officer’s sole and exclusive function, and any Member, Director or officer may have other business interests and may 
engage in other investments and activities in addition to those relating to the business of the Company or the Company, independently or with 
others, including businesses, investments and activities that may be similar to, or in competition with, the business of the Company, the 
Company, any of its Members or any of their respective Affiliates, and none of the same shall constitute a breach of this Agreement or any duty 
expressed or implied by law to any Member, Director or officer or the Company.  No Member, Director or officer shall incur liability to the 
Company or to any Member as a result of engaging in any other such business, investment or activity.  

   
(b)                                  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the doctrine of corporate opportunity, or any 

analogous doctrine, shall not apply to a Member, Director or officer.  No Member, Director or officer who acquires knowledge of a potential 
transaction, agreement, arrangement or other matter that may be an opportunity for the Company shall have any duty to communicate or offer 
such opportunity to the Company or any Member, and such Member, Director or officer shall not be liable to the Company, to any Member or 
any other Person for breach of any fiduciary or other duty by reason of the fact that such Member, Director or officer pursues or acquires such 
opportunity for itself, directs such opportunity to another Person or does not communicate such opportunity or information to the Company or 
any other Member.  

   
(c)                                   Neither the Company nor any Member shall have any right, by virtue of this Agreement, to share or participate in 

such other businesses, investments or activities of a Member or to the income or proceeds derived therefrom.  
   
(d)                                  Subject to Section 7.7(f), the Company may enter into contracts with Affiliates, including contracts pursuant to 

which such Affiliates will perform any function which the Board is authorized or obligated to perform hereunder.  
   

7.13                         Indemnity of Members, Directors and Other Agents .  
   

(a)                                  To the fullest extent permitted under the Act, the Members, Directors and the officers of the Company, to the extent 
acting on behalf of the Company in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and any delegation of authority from the Board and each of 
such Person’s equity owners, directors, directors, officers, agents, representatives and employees (the “ Indemnitees ”) , shall be indemnified 
and held harmless by the Company against all losses, Claims, liabilities, damages, fines, penalties, costs and expenses (including attorneys’ 
fees, judgments and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably paid or incurred by the Indemnitee), whether or not such Indemnitee is 
acting in such capacity at the time such liability or expense is paid or incurred, as a result of a Claim arising out of or related to the business of 
the Company, assets or affairs of the Company, to the extent in the action, omission or  
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transaction giving rise to such Claim, the Indemnitee’s actions or omissions were in good faith and in a manner the Indemnitee reasonably 
believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interest of the Company and the Indemnitee’s conduct did not constitute fraud or willful 
misconduct (such fraud or willful misconduct having been determined by a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a court of competent 
jurisdiction) which has a material adverse financial impact on the Company.  THE FOREGOING INDEMNITY EXPRESSLY INCLUDES 
AN INDEMNITY TO PROTECT AN INDEMNITEE FROM THE CONS EQUENCES OF ITS OWN CONDUCT WITH RESPECT 
TO THE SOLE, CONCURRENT, PASSIVE OR ACTIVE NEGLIGEN CE (INCLUDING GROSS NEGLIGENCE) OR STRICT 
LIABILITY OF SUCH INDEMNITEE.  The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order or settlement shall not, of 
itself, create a presumption that the Indemnitee’s actions or omissions were not in good faith and in a manner that the Indemnitee reasonably 
believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interest of the Company, or constituted fraud or willful misconduct. The right of indemnification 
provided herein shall be cumulative of, and in addition to, any and all rights to which any Indemnitee may otherwise be entitled by contract or 
as a matter of Law or equity and shall extend to his heirs, successors, assigns and personal representatives.  
   

(b)                                  To the extent an Indemnitee is successful on the merits or otherwise in any proceeding that arises out of or 
otherwise relates to the Company or this Agreement, such Indemnitee shall be indemnified in accordance with Section 7.13 by the Company 
against all expenses actually and reasonably incurred by such Indemnitee or on such Indemnitee’s behalf in connection therewith.  If an 
Indemnitee is not wholly successful in such proceeding but is successful, on the merits or otherwise, as to one or more but less than all Claims, 
issues or matters in such proceeding, the Company shall indemnify such Indemnitee in accordance with Section 7.13 against all expenses 
actually and reasonably incurred by him or on his behalf in connection with each successfully resolved Claim, issue or matter.  For purposes of 
this Section 7.13(b)  and without limitation, the termination of any Claim; issue or matter in such a proceeding by dismissal or withdrawal with 
or without prejudice, shall be deemed to be a successful result as to such Claim, issue or matter.  

   
(c)                                   The Company shall advance all reasonable expenses incurred by or on behalf of an Indemnitee in connection with 

any proceeding within 20 days after the receipt by the Company of a statement or statements from the Indemnitee requesting such advance or 
advances from time to time, whether prior to or after final disposition of such proceeding.  Such statement or statements shall reasonably 
evidence the expenses incurred by the Indemnitee and shall include or be preceded or accompanied by an undertaking by or on behalf of any 
Indemnitee to repay any expenses advanced if it shall ultimately be determined that such Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified against 
such expenses.  

   
(d)                                  The Company may purchase and maintain insurance, at its expense, to protect itself and any Indemnitee, whether or 

not the Company would have the power to indemnify such person against such expense, liability or loss under Section 7.13(a) .  
   
(e)                                   If the indemnification provided for in this Section 7.13 is unavailable to an Indemnitee in respect of any amount 

referred to therein as a result of a final judicial determination that such indemnification cannot be enforced, then, to the extent permitted by  
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Law, the Company shall, in lieu of indemnifying each Indemnitee, contribute to the amount paid or payable by such Indemnitee as a result of 
such amount in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company and each Indemnitee and the relative 
fault of the Company and each Indemnitee in connection with the matter which resulted in such Claims, damages, liabilities, judgments, 
penalties (including excise and similar Taxes and punitive damages), fines, cost, expense or settlement amount, as well as any other relevant 
equitable considerations.  

   
(f)                                    An Indemnitee shall not be denied indemnification in whole or in part under this Section 7.13 because the 

Indemnitee had an interest in the transaction with respect to which the indemnification applies if the transaction was otherwise permitted by the 
terms of this Agreement.  

   
(g)                                   The provisions of this Section 7.13 are for the benefit of the Indemnitees, their heirs, successors and assigns, and 

shall not be deemed to create any rights for the benefit of other Persons.  
   
(h)                                  No amendment or repeal of this Section 7.13 or any provision hereof shall in any manner terminate, reduce or 

impair the right of any past, present or future Indemnitee to be indemnified by the Company, nor the obligations of the Company to indemnify 
any such Indemnitee under and in accordance with the provisions of this Section 7.13 as in effect immediately prior to such amendment or 
repeal with respect to claims arising from or relating to matters occurring, in whole or in part, prior to such amendment or repeal, regardless of 
when such claims may arise or be asserted.  

   
7.14                         Compensation and Reimbursement of Expenses .  Except as approved by the Board, no Member, Director or officer shall 

be entitled to compensation for actions taken on behalf of the Company; provided , however , that the Company shall reimburse the Directors 
and Members for any out of pocket expenses reasonably incurred in attending meetings of the Board or of the Members.  

   
ARTICLE VIII.  

RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF MEMBERS  
   

8.1                                Limitation on Liability and Authority .  Each Member’s liability shall be limited as set forth in this Agreement, the Act 
and other applicable Law. Without limiting the right of any Member to exercise the rights expressly granted to such Member under this 
Agreement, each Member agrees that it has no authority under this Agreement, and will not exercise any authority it may have under the Act, 
to act for, bind or commit the Company to agreements, transactions or other arrangements, or hold itself out as an agent of the Company, 
without the express prior written consent of the Board.  

   
8.2                                No Liability for Company Obligations .  No Member or its officers, directors, employees, agents or Affiliates shall be 

liable for the debts, obligations or liabilities of the Company (whether arising in contract, tort, statute or otherwise), including under a 
judgment, decree or order of a court, except as may be expressly provided in a separate, written guaranty  
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or other agreement executed by a Member or its officers, directors, employees, agents or Affiliates or as may be provided under the Act 
relating to liability for wrongful distributions.  

   
8.3                                Priority and Return of Capital .  Except as is expressly provided herein, no Member shall have priority over any other 

Member, either as to the return of Capital Contributions or as to Net Income, Net Losses, or distributions.  This Section 8.3 shall not apply to 
loans made to the Company by any Member.  

   
8.4                                Access to Information .  Each Member shall be entitled to receive the following ( provided , however , an assignee of a 

Membership Interest who is not admitted as a Substitute Member shall not be entitled to any of the following):  
   

(a)                                  to receive a copy of this Agreement and any amendments hereto;  
   
(b)                                  to receive a current list of the name and last known address of each to receive information regarding the amount of 

cash and a description and statement of the Agreed Value of any other property or services contributed by each Member and that each Member 
has agreed to contribute in the future, and the date on which each became a Member;  

   
(c)                                   to receive the financial information described in Section 6.6 ;  
   
(d)                                  to receive copies of the Company’s federal, state and local tax returns for each year; and  
   
(e)                                   to inspect the assets of the Company during business hours at the principal office of the Company upon reasonable 

prior written notice.  
   

ARTICLE IX.  
TRANSFERS  

   
9.1                                Restrictions on Transfers .  
   

(a)                                  A Member may only transfer, sell, assign, pledge, encumber, or otherwise dispose of (each, a “ Transfer ”) all or 
any portion of its Membership Interest (i) to an Affiliate or another Member upon the consent of the Board, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed (each, an “ Internal Transfer ”), or (ii) to any other Person after Supermajority Approval of the 
proposed Transfer and, in each case, otherwise in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Article IX .  Any attempted Transfer of a 
Membership Interest, other than in strict accordance with this Section 9.1(a) , shall be, and is hereby declared, null and void to the fullest extent 
permitted by Law.  

   
(b)                                  All Transfers hereunder shall be by instrument in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company, 

which instrument shall contain an express statement by the Transferee of its agreement to accept the Transfer and to accept, adopt and be bound 
by all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement, as the same may have been amended from time to time, and shall provide for the payment 
by the transferring Member of all reasonable expenses incurred by the Company in connection with such Transfer, including, without 
limitation, any necessary amendments to this Agreement to reflect such Transfer.  The transferring Member and  
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the Transferee shall execute and acknowledge any and all such instruments as the Company may reasonably request to effectuate such 
Transfer, in each case in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company.  In no event shall the Company dissolve or terminate 
(other than for tax purposes, to the extent provided by the Code and Regulations) upon the admission of any Member to the Company or upon 
any permitted Transfer of a Membership Interest in the Company by any Member.  

   
9.2                                Substitute Members .  As of the effectiveness of any Transfer of a Membership Interest permitted under Section 9.1 , any 

Transferee acquiring such Membership Interest shall be deemed admitted as a Substitute Member with respect to the Membership Interest so 
transferred. Substitute Members shall have all of the rights and obligations of Members. Transferees of Membership Interests who do not 
become Substitute Members shall have only the rights of assignees of Membership Interests and, therefore, no rights of a Member hereunder. 
An assignee shall have only the right to receive allocations and distributions attributable to the Membership Interest acquired by such 
assignee, which Membership Interest shall be subject to the same restrictions on transfer as contained in this Agreement.  An assignee shall 
have the same obligations to the Company and the Members as a Member holding the same Membership Interest would have, including any 
obligation to make Capital Contributions.  

   
9.3                                Admission of Additional Members .  An additional Member (which shall not include a Substitute Member resulting from a 

Transfer in accordance with Article IX ) may be admitted into the Company only upon Supermajority Approval, including in such approval 
the additional Member’s required Capital Contribution and Equity Percentage Interest, and execution of a counterpart of this Agreement by 
the additional Member. Additional Members shall have all of the rights and obligations of Members.  

   
9.4                                Withdrawal .  No Member has the right or power to withdraw from the Company, and no Member shall withdraw from the 

Company without the consent of the Board.  
   
9.5                                Effective Date of Transfers .  In the event a Transfer of a Membership Interest is consummated in accordance with this 

Article, such Transfer will be recognized for the purpose of distributions and allocations as of the date on which such Transfer became 
effective; provided that the Company shall have been given a copy of all documents or instruments executed in connection with such 
Transfer.  Notwithstanding any assumption of liabilities by a Transferee, the transferring Member shall not be released from its obligations 
under this Agreement or otherwise with respect to the Company unless such a release is approved by the Board.  The Company shall be 
entitled to treat the record owner of a Membership Interest as the absolute owner thereof in all respects and shall incur no liability for 
distributions of cash or other property made in good faith to such record owner until such time as the Transfer of such Membership Interest 
has become effective on the books of the Company.  

   
9.6                                Withholding of Distributions .  From the date of the receipt of any instrument relating to Transfer of a Membership 

Interest or at any time if the Board is reasonably in doubt as to the Person entitled to receive distributions in respect of such Membership 
Interest, the  
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Board may withhold any such distributions until the Transfer is completed or abandoned or the dispute is resolved.  

   
9.7                                Compliance with Securities Laws .  In addition to the restrictions on Transfer of the Membership Interests contained in this 

Agreement, no Transfer of any Membership Interest shall be made by or on behalf of any Member unless the Company has received a 
written opinion of, or satisfactory to, its legal counsel that the proposed Transfer is exempt from registration under applicable federal and 
state securities laws. The Board may waive the requirement of this Section to obtain a legal opinion.  

   
ARTICLE X.  

DISSOLUTION AND TERMINATION  
   

10.1                         Dissolution .  The Company shall be dissolved and its affairs shall be wound up in accordance with Section 10.2 upon the 
occurrence of any of the following (each, a “ Liquidating Event ”):  

   
(a)                                  the end of the term of the Company, if any, stated in the Certificate;  
   
(b)                                  the unanimous consent of the Members to dissolve the Company;  
   
(c)                                   the bankruptcy of or the appointment of a receiver for the Company; or  
   
(d)                                  the occurrence of any other event which causes a dissolution of the Company under the Act, unless the Company is 

continued without dissolution in accordance with the Act.  
   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is expressly agreed and provided that the death, retirement, resignation, expulsion, bankruptcy or dissolution 
of any Member or the occurrence of any other event that terminates the continued membership of any Member shall not, in and of itself, cause 
the Company to be wound up or dissolved, and upon the occurrence of any such event, the Company shall, to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, be continued without winding up or dissolution.  
   

10.2                         Winding Up, Liquidation and Distribution of Assets .  
   

(a)                                  Upon the dissolution of the Company because of an occurrence of any of the events described in Section 10.1 , no 
further business shall be conducted except for the taking of such action as shall be necessary for the winding up of the affairs of the Company 
and the distribution of its assets to the Members pursuant to the provisions of this Article X . Upon the occurrence of an event requiring 
winding up of the Company, the Board shall act as the Liquidating Trustee.  The Liquidating Trustee shall have full authority to wind up the 
affairs of the Company and to make distributions as provided herein, subject to the same restrictions under Section 7.3 as if the Liquidating 
Trustee were the Board.  

   
(b)                                  Upon dissolution of the Company, the Liquidating Trustee shall either sell the assets of the Company at the best 

price available, or the Liquidating Trustee may distribute to the Members all or any portion of the Company’s assets in kind.  The property of 
the Company  
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shall be liquidated as promptly as is consistent with obtaining the fair value thereof.  If any assets are sold or otherwise liquidated for value, the 
Liquidating Trustee shall proceed as promptly as practicable in a commercially reasonable manner to implement the procedures of this 
Section 10.2 .  If any assets are to be distributed in kind, the Fair Market Value of such assets shall be determined in accordance with 
Section 7.10 , and each Member’s Capital Account shall be charged or credited, as the case may be, as if such asset had been sold for cash at 
such Fair Market Value and the net gain or net loss recognized thereby had been allocated to and among the Members in accordance with 
Article VI .  

   
(c)                                   All assets of the Company shall be applied and distributed by the Liquidating Trustee in the following order:  
   
(i)                                      first , to the creditors of the Company (including, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any Member who has made 

a loan to the Company that remains outstanding) in satisfaction of liabilities of the Company (whether by payment or the making of 
reasonable provision for payment thereof (including by setting up reserves for contingent, conditional or unmatured liabilities)), other 
than liabilities to Members on account of their Capital Contributions or on account of a Member’s withdrawal from the Company or 
pursuant to a withdrawal of capital; and  

   
(ii)                                   thereafter , to the Members in accordance with, and to the extent of, the positive balances of their Capital Accounts 

(after all adjustments to such Capital Accounts have been made for such taxable year, including to reflect any Net Income or Net 
Losses to be allocated to the Members in connection with the dissolution and liquidation of the Company).  

   
10.3                         Certificate of Cancellation .  When all debts, liabilities and obligations of the Company have been satisfied and all of the 

remaining property and assets of the Company have been distributed to the Members, a Certificate of Cancellation shall be executed and 
filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware in accordance with the Act.  

   
10.4                         Return of Contribution; Nonrecourse Against Other Members .  Except as provided by law or as expressly provided in this 

Agreement, upon dissolution, each Member shall look solely to the assets of the Company for the return of its Capital Contributions.  If the 
assets of the Company remaining after the payment or discharge of the debts and liabilities of the Company are insufficient to return the 
Capital Contributions of one or more Members, such Member or Members shall have no recourse against any other Member.  No Member 
shall be required to contribute any cash or property to the Company to enable the Company to return any Member’s Capital Contributions.  

   
10.5                         Compliance with Timing Requirements of Regulations .  Except as otherwise provided in Section 10.6 , in the event the 

Company is “liquidated” within the meaning of Regulations § 1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(g), distributions shall be made pursuant to Section 10.2 . In 
the discretion of the Liquidating Trustee, all or any portion of the ·distributions that would otherwise be made to the Members may be:  
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(a)                                  Distributed to a trust established for the benefit of the Members for the purposes of paying any contingent, 

conditional or unmatured liabilities or obligations of the Company arising out of or in connection with the Company. The assets of any such 
trust shall be distributed to the Members from time to time, in the reasonable discretion of the Liquidating Trustee, in the same proportions as 
the amount distributed to such trust by the Company would otherwise have been distributed to the Members pursuant to this Agreement; or  

   
(b)                                  Withheld to provide a reasonable reserve for Company liabilities (contingent or otherwise) and to reflect the 

unrealized portion of any installment obligations owed to the Company; provided that such withheld amounts shall be distributed to the 
Members as soon as practicable.  

   
10.6                         Deemed Contribution and Distribution .  In the event the Company is “liquidated” within the meaning of Regulations § 

1.704-1(b)(2)(ii)(g) but no Liquidating Event has occurred, the Company’s property shall not be liquidated, the Company’s liabilities shall 
not be paid or discharged, and the Company’s affairs shall not be wound up. Instead, solely for federal income tax purposes, the Company 
shall be deemed to have contributed all Company property and liabilities to a new limited liability company in exchange for an interest in 
such new limited liability company and, immediately thereafter, the Company will be deemed to liquidate by distributing interests in the new 
limited liability company to the Members.  

   
ARTICLE XI.  

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS  
   

11.1                         Notices .  All notices or other communications required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing, shall be 
addressed to the Members at their respective addresses or facsimile number set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto or to such other address or 
facsimile number as may be specified by a party hereto pursuant to notice given by such party in accordance with the provisions of this 
Section 11.1 , and shall be deemed to have been duly given and received (a) when delivered in person, (b) five Business Days after being 
sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, (c) when dispatched by electronic facsimile transfer (if 
confirmed in writing by mail simultaneously dispatched) or by electronic mail in portable document format (.pdf), if delivery thereof is 
confirmed to have occurred) on a Business Day prior to 5:00 p.m. in the time zone of the receiving Party, otherwise it shall be deemed 
delivered and received on the next Business Day, or (d) one Business Day after having been dispatched by a nationally recognized overnight 
courier service, to the appropriate Party at the address or facsimile number specified on Exhibit A (or to such other addresses and facsimile 
numbers as a Party may designate by written notice to each of the other Parties in any manner permitted in this Section 11.1 ).  Notices to the 
Company shall be made to the Company at its principal place of business, with a copy of the notice to each Member.  

   
11.2                         Entire Agreement .  This Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding of the parties with respect to the 

subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior oral or written agreements and understandings of the parties relating to the subject matter 
hereof.  
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11.3                         Modifications and Waivers .  No amendment or other modification of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid or 

binding unless it is in writing and signed by all of the Members. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be valid or binding 
unless it is in writing and signed by the party waiving compliance with such provision.  No delay on the part of any party in exercising any 
right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any waiver of any partial exercise of any such right, power or 
privilege preclude any further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other such right, power or privilege.  No waiver of any breach, term or 
condition of this Agreement by any Member shall constitute a subsequent waiver of the same or any other breach, term or condition.  

   
11.4                         Severability .  If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person or circumstances is for any 

reason and to any extent invalid or unenforceable, (a) the remainder of this Agreement and the application of such provision to the other 
persons or circumstances will not be affected thereby, but rather are to be enforced to the greatest extent permitted by Law and (b) the Parties 
shall negotiate in good faith to replace that provision with a new provision that is valid and enforceable and that puts the Parties in 
substantially the same economic, business and legal position as they would have been in if the original provision had been valid and 
enforceable.  

   
11.5                         Counterparts .  This Agreement may be executed simultaneously in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be 

deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  
   
11.6                         LIMITATION OF LIABILITY .  THE EXPRESS REMEDIES AND MEASURES OF DAMAGES PROVIDED FOR IN 

THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDIES FOR A PARTY HEREUNDER AND ALL OTHER 
REMEDIES OR DAMAGES AT LAW OR IN EQUITY ARE WAIVED. IF NO REMEDY OR MEASURE OF DAMAGES IS 
EXPRESSLY HEREIN PROVIDED, A PARTY’S LIABILITY SHALL BE LIMITED TO DIRECT ACTUAL DAMAGES ONLY, SUCH 
DIRECT ACTUAL DAMAGES SHALL BE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY AND ALL OTHER REMEDIES OR DAMAGES 
AT LAW OR IN EQUITY ARE WAIVED.  TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, NEITHER PARTY SHALL UNDER 
ANY CIRCUMSTANCES BE LIABLE FOR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, WHETHER BY STATUTE, IN TORT OR CONTRACT 
OR OTHERWISE. THE LIMITATIONS IN THIS SECTION IMPOSED ON REMEDIES AND THE MEASURE OF DAMAGES SHALL 
BE WITHOUT REGARD TO THE CAUSE OR CAUSES RELATED THERETO, INCLUDING THE NEGLIGENCE OF ANY PARTY 
AND STRICT LIABILITY.  TO THE EXTENT ANY DAMAGES REQUIRED TO BE PAID HEREUNDER ARE LIQUIDATED, THE 
PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE DAMAGES ARE DIFFICULT OR IMPOSSIBLE TO DETERMINE, OTHERWISE 
OBTAINING AN ADEQUATE REMEDY IS INCONVENIENT AND THE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES CONSTITUTE A 
REASONABLE APPROXIMATION OF THE HARM OR LOSS.  

   
11.7                         Governing Law . This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of the State of Delaware 

without regard to its principles of conflicts of laws.  
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11.8        Further Assurances .  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, each of the Members shall use all 

commercially reasonable efforts to execute such agreements, instruments and other documents and to take or cause to be taken such further 
actions as may be reasonably required or desirable to consummate and give full force and effect to the transactions contemplated hereby.  

   
11.9        Successors and Assigns .  The rights and obligations of any party hereto under this Agreement may not be assigned except 

in compliance with Article IX hereof.  Each and all of the covenants, terms, provisions and agreements herein contained shall be binding 
upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and, to the extent permitted by this Agreement, their respective successors and permitted 
assigns.  

   
11.10      Third Party Beneficiaries .  The provisions of this Agreement shall only be for the benefit of, and enforceable by, the 

Company and its Members and shall not inure to the benefit of or be enforceable by any third party, except that the Members agree that any 
Indemnitee shall be entitled to assert rights and remedies under Section 7.13 as a third-party beneficiary thereof.  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective duly authorized 

representative as of the date first above written.  
   
   

   
[Signature Page to Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of Sunoco, LLC]  

   

 

   
MEMBERS :  

      
      
   

ETP RETAIL HOLDINGS, LLC  
         
         
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  [ • ]  

   
Title:  [ • ]  

         
         
   

SUSSER PETROLEUM OPERATING COMPANY LLC  
         
   

By:  Sunoco LP,  
      

its sole member  
         
   

By:  Sunoco GP LLC,  
      

its general partner  
         
         
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  [ • ]  

   
Title:  [ • ]  



   
Exhibit A  

   
Members and Membership Interests  

   

   

 

Name and Address of Member  
   

Capital  
Contribution  

   
Initial Equity  

Percentage Interest  
   

ETP Retail Holdings, LLC  
1735 Market Street, 13th Floor  
Philadelphia, PA 19103  
Attention: General Counsel  
Facsimile: (866) 627-8010  

   $ [ • ] 
   68.42 % 

                
Susser Petroleum Operating Company LLC  
555 East Airtex Drive  
Houston, Texas 77073  
Attention: General Counsel  
Fax: (361) 693-3725  

   $ [ • ] 
   31.58 % 
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EXHIBIT B 

  
ASSIGNMENT OF MEMBERSHIP INTERESTS  

   
This Assignment of Membership Interests (this “ Assignment ”) is made and entered into this [ • ] day of [ • ] 2015, by and between 

ETP Retail Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “ Assignor ”), and Sunoco LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “ 
Assignee ”). Assignor and Assignee are collectively referred to in this Assignment as the “ Parties .”  

   
Capitalized terms used in this Assignment but not otherwise defined in this Assignment shall have the meanings ascribed to them in 

that certain Contribution Agreement (the “ Contribution Agreement ”), dated as of March 23, 2015, by and among the Assignor, the Assignee, 
Sunoco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “ Company ”), and, solely with respect to Section 10.19 of the Contribution 
Agreement and the other provisions related thereto, Energy Transfer Partners, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership.  

   
W I T N E S S E T H:  

   
WHEREAS, the Assignor owns 100% of the issued and outstanding membership interests of the Company; and  
   
WHEREAS, the Assignor desires to convey, transfer and assign 31.58% of its membership interests of the Company and any and all 

income, distributions, value, rights, benefits and privileges associated therewith or deriving therefrom (collectively, the “ Transferred Interests 
”) to the Assignee.  

   
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties 

do hereby agree as follows:  
   
1.                                       Sale and Assignment . Subject to and in accordance with the terms of the Contribution Agreement, the Assignor does hereby 

CONVEY, TRANSFER, ASSIGN, CONTRIBUTE AND DELIVER to the Assignee, the Transferred Interests and, subject to the provisions of 
this Assignment, all of the Assignor’s duties, liabilities and obligations under, or arising in connection with, such Transferred Interests, and the 
Assignee hereby accepts the same.  

   
2.                                       Warranties . The Assignor does hereby bind itself and its successors and assigns to warrant and forever defend title to all and 

singular the Transferred Interests and all rights and appurtenances thereto unto the Assignee and the Assignee’s successors and assigns, against 
any person whomsoever lawfully, claiming, or to claim same, or any part thereof.  

   
3.                                       Admission as Member . From and after the date hereof, the Assignee shall be admitted as an additional member of the 

Company with respect to the Transferred Interests conveyed, transferred and assigned to the Assignee pursuant to Section 1 of this Assignment, 
and the Assignor hereby expressly consents to the Assignee’s admission to the Company as an additional member thereof.  
   

 



   
4.                                       General Provisions .  
   

(a)                                  Binding Effect . This Assignment will be binding upon, and will inure to the benefit of, the Parties and their 
respective successors, permitted assigns and legal representatives.  

   
(b)                                  Governing Law . This Assignment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the 

State of Delaware without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Delaware or any 
other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the State of Delaware.  

   
(c)                                   Amendment or Modification . This Assignment may be amended, modified or supplemented from time to time only 

by a written agreement executed by each of the Parties.  
   
(d)                                  Counterparts . This Assignment may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all 

of which together shall be deemed to be one and the same agreement. A signed copy of this Assignment delivered by facsimile, email 
or other means of electronic transmission shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original signed copy of this 
Assignment.  

   
(e)                                   Consent to Jurisdiction . The provisions of Section 10.15 of the Contribution Agreement are hereby incorporated 

into this Assignment as if set forth fully herein.  
   
(f)                                    Further Assurances . Assignor covenants and agrees with Assignee that Assignor shall, and shall cause its 

successors and assigns to, execute, acknowledge and deliver such other instruments of conveyance and transfer and take such other 
action as may reasonably be required to more effectively contribute, convey, transfer, assign and deliver to and vest in Assignee, or its 
successors and assigns, and to put Assignee, or its successors and assigns, in possession of the Transferred Interests or otherwise carry 
out the purposes of this Assignment.  

   
[Signature Page Follows]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Assignment has been duly executed by each of the Parties as of the date and year first above written.  
   

   
SIGNATURE PAGE TO ASSIGNMENT OF MEMBERSHIP INTEREST S (ETP RETAIL HOLDINGS, LLC AS ASSIGNOR)  

   

 

   
ASSIGNOR:  

      
   

ETP Retail Holdings, LLC  
      
      
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  

   
   

Title:  
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ASSIGNEE:  

      
   

SUNOCO LP  
      
   

By:  Sunoco GP LLC,  
      

its general partner  
         
         
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  Chris Dial  

   
Title:  Associate General Counsel and Secretary  
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EXHIBIT C 

   
GUARANTEE OF COLLECTION  

   
THIS GUARANTEE OF COLLECTION (this “ Guarantee ”) is made as of [ • ], 2015, by ETP RETAIL HOLDINGS, LLC, a 

Delaware limited liability company (the “ Guarantor ”), to SUNOCO LP, a Delaware limited partnership (“ Sunoco LP ”), and SUNOCO 
FINANCE CORP., a Delaware corporation (“ Finance Corp ” and, together with Sunoco LP, the “ Sunoco Issuers ”) to provide a guarantee 
of collection, on the terms set forth herein, for the benefit of the holders (the “ Holders ”) of the Supported Debt (as hereinafter defined) and 
the trustee (the “ Trustee ”) under the Indenture dated [ • ], 2015 (collectively, the “ Senior Notes Indenture ”) with respect to the $[ • ] 
million aggregate principal amount of the Sunoco Issuers’ [ • ]% Senior Notes due 2023 (together with any senior notes of the Sunoco Issuers 
with substantially identical terms that are issued to the Holders pursuant to a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, the “ Supported Debt ”). The Guarantor and the Sunoco Issuers may hereinafter be referred to individually as a “ Party ” or 
collectively as the “ Parties. ”  

   
RECITALS  

   
WHEREAS, Sunoco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ Sunoco LLC ”), the Guarantor and Sunoco LP, and, solely for 

limited purposes, Energy Transfer Partners, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“ ETP LP ”), have entered into that certain Contribution 
Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2015, as amended (the “ Contribution Agreement ”), pursuant to which the Guarantor has agreed to 
contribute to Sunoco LP thirty-one and fifty-eight/hundredths percent (31.58%) of the membership interests in Sunoco LLC (the “ 
Contribution ”);  

   
WHEREAS, on [ • ], 2015, the Sunoco Issuers issued the Supported Debt;  
   
WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution of this Guarantee, Sunoco LP will distribute to Guarantor the Cash Consideration (as 

such term is defined in the Contribution Agreement) equal to $775,000,013 (the “ Sunoco LP Distribution ”), and in consideration of the 
Sunoco LP Distribution, Guarantor hereby enters into this Guarantee for the benefit of the Holders and the Trustee on the terms and subject to 
the conditions set forth herein; and  

   
WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Contribution, the Guarantor desires to enter into this Guarantee and be bound by the terms and 

conditions set forth herein.  
   

AGREEMENTS  
   

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the 
Parties, the Parties agree as follows:  

   
1.                                       Guarantee .  Subject to the terms herein, the Guarantor guarantees to the Holders and the Trustee the full and prompt 

collection of the principal amount due under the Supported Debt, but not any accrued and unpaid interest thereon or any fees or other amounts 
of any kind whatsoever that shall be due to the Holders by the Sunoco Issuers (the “ Liabilities ”). Notwithstanding anything herein to the 
contrary, the obligations of the Guarantor under this  
   

 



   
Guarantee are obligations solely of the Guarantor and do not constitute a debt or obligation of (and no recourse shall be made with respect to) 
ETP LP, any of its affiliates (other than the Guarantor), or any shareholder, partner, member, officer, director or employee of ETP LP or such 
affiliates (collectively, the “ Non-Recourse Parties ”). No action under or in connection with this Guarantee shall be brought against any Non-
Recourse Party, and no judgment for any deficiency upon the obligations hereunder shall be obtainable against any Non-Recourse Party.  
   

2.                                       Guarantee of Collection . This is a guarantee of collection only and not a guarantee of payment.  Notwithstanding any other 
term or condition of this Guarantee to the contrary, the Guarantor shall not be obligated to make any payment pursuant to this Guarantee unless 
and until each of the following has occurred: (i) the Trustee or other Holder must use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain judgment 
against Sunoco LP and any of its subsidiaries with obligations with respect to the Supported Debt (the “ Guarantor Subsidiaries ”), (ii) the 
Trustee or other Holder must use commercially reasonable efforts to execute on any judgment obtained against Sunoco LP and any of its 
Guarantor Subsidiaries, (iii) following execution of any such judgment, a portion of the sums due under the Supported Debt constituting 
Liabilities must remain unpaid, (iv) if no bankruptcy proceeding has been commenced with respect to Sunoco LP, the Trustee or other Holder 
shall have brought an action in a court of law having proper subject matter jurisdiction against Sunoco LP and any applicable Guarantor 
Subsidiaries to collect such Liabilities, obtained a final and non-appealable judgment by such court against Sunoco LP and any applicable 
Guarantor Subsidiaries in respect of such Liabilities and levied execution of such judgment against the property of Sunoco LP and any 
applicable Guarantor Subsidiaries, and as a result of such execution received less than payment in full in cash or property of such Liabilities, 
and (v) if a bankruptcy proceeding has been commenced with respect to Sunoco LP and any of its applicable Guarantor Subsidiaries, the 
closing of the bankruptcy proceeding after its administration under 11 U.S.C. Section 350(a) shall have occurred and the Trustee or other 
Holder shall have received, after all distributions contemplated by such bankruptcy proceeding or otherwise, less than payment in full in cash 
or property in respect of such Liabilities.  For these purposes, the value of any payment made in property shall be equal to the fair market value 
of such property at the time of such payment.  

   
3.                                       Termination of Guarantee . This Guarantee shall remain in effect and will not terminate until the Liabilities have been paid 

in full.  
   
4.                                       Waivers . The Guarantor waives (i) notice of acceptance of this Guarantee, (ii) all presentments and protests, and (iii) notice 

of dishonor.  
   
5.                                       Obligations Absolute . Except as set forth in this Guarantee, the Guarantor’s obligations are in all respects absolute and 

unconditional and will not be impaired, modified, released or limited by any occurrence or condition whatsoever, including, without limitation, 
(i) any modification, discharge, renewal or extension of the Liabilities or the Supported Debt, or any amendment, modification or stay of the 
Trustee’s or other Holder’s rights under the Supported Debt which may occur in any bankruptcy or reorganization case or proceeding 
concerning the Sunoco Issuers, whether permanent or temporary and whether or not assented to by the Trustee or other Holder, (ii) any notice 
of withdrawal of this Guarantee, at any time and from time to time before, at or after maturity of the Supported Debt, (iii) any determination 
that any signatures on behalf of the Sunoco Issuers on the Supported Debt are not genuine or that the  
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Supported Debt is not the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Sunoco Issuers, or (iv) any defenses that the Sunoco Issuers may have as to 
any sums due under the Supported Debt.  
   

6.                                       Waiver of Subrogation . The Guarantor irrevocably waives, relinquishes and renounces any right of subrogation, 
contribution, indemnity, reimbursement or any claim whatsoever which the Guarantor may have against the Sunoco Issuers or any other 
persons liable on the Supported Debt. The Guarantor will not assert any such claim against the Sunoco Issuers or any other persons liable on 
the Supported Debt, in any proceeding, legal or equitable, including any bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization proceeding. This provision 
will inure to the benefit of and will be enforceable by the Trustee, the Holders, the Sunoco Issuers and any such persons liable on the Supported 
Debt, and their successors and assigns, including any trustee in bankruptcy or debtor-in-possession.  

   
7.                                       Reinstatement of Guaranteed Liabilities . The Guarantor acknowledges and agrees that the Guarantor’s obligations 

hereunder shall apply to and continue with respect to any amount paid to the Trustee and the Holders on the Liabilities which is subsequently 
recovered from the Trustee and the Holders for any reason whatsoever (including, without limitation, as a result of any bankruptcy, insolvency 
or fraudulent conveyance proceeding), notwithstanding the fact that the Liabilities may have been previously paid in full or this Guarantee 
terminated, or both.  

   
8.                                       Assignment . The Trustee and the Holders may, from time to time, whether before or after any withdrawal of this 

Guarantee, without notice to the Guarantor, assign or transfer any or all of the Liabilities or any interest therein; and, notwithstanding any such 
assignment or transfer or any subsequent assignment or transfer thereof, such Liabilities shall be and remain Liabilities for purposes of this 
Guarantee, and each and every immediate and successive assignee or transferee of any of the Liabilities or of any interest therein shall, to the 
extent of the interest of such assignee or transferee in the Liabilities, be entitled to the benefits of this Guarantee to the same extent as if such 
assignee or transferee were the Trustee or other Holder; provided, however , that, unless the Trustee or Holders shall otherwise consent in 
writing, the Trustee and the Holders shall have an unimpaired right, prior and superior to that of any such assignee or transferee, to enforce this 
Guarantee, for the benefit of the Trustee and the Holders, as to that portion of the Liabilities which the Trustee and the Holders have not 
assigned or transferred.  

   
9.                                       Cumulative Rights; No Waiver . Each and every right granted to the Trustee and the Holders hereunder or under any other 

document delivered hereunder or in connection herewith, or allowed it by law or equity, shall be cumulative and may be exercised from time to 
time subject only to the limitations set forth in this Guarantee. No failure on the part of the Trustee and the Holders to exercise, and no delay in 
exercising, any right shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise by the Trustee or other Holder of any right 
preclude any other or future exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.  

   
10.                                Interpretation and Construction . Each reference herein to the Trustee and the Holders shall be deemed to include their 

respective successors and assigns, and each reference to the Sunoco Issuers and the Guarantor and any pronouns referring thereto as used 
herein shall be construed in the singular or plural as the context may require and shall be deemed to include the  
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successors and assigns of the Sunoco Issuers and the Guarantor, all of whom shall be bound by the provisions hereof.  
   

11.                                Continuing Guarantee . Subject to the limitations herein, this instrument is intended to be a full, complete and continuing 
guarantee to the Trustee and the Holders to the extent of and for the Liabilities owing by the Sunoco Issuers to the Trustee and the Holders 
from time to time and to be valid and continuous without other or further notice to the Guarantor, notwithstanding the dissolution of the Sunoco 
Issuers or any other guarantor, until notice in writing of withdrawal of this Guarantee, signed by the parties hereto or any of them, has actually 
been given to the Trustee and the Holders, and then only as to the party or parties signing such notice and to transactions subsequent to the time 
of such notice; provided, however , that no such notice of withdrawal shall affect or impair (a) any of the agreements and obligations of the 
Guarantor hereunder with respect to any and all Liabilities existing at the time of actual receipt of such notice by the Trustee and the Holders 
until paid in full; or (b) the Trustee’s or other Holder’s right to recover all expenses paid or incurred by the Trustee or other Holder endeavoring 
to enforce this Guarantee against the Guarantor. All of the agreements and obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee shall, 
notwithstanding any such notice of withdrawal, remain in effect until all such Liabilities and all such expenses shall have been paid in full.  

   
12.                                Subsequent Guaranties . No subsequent guarantee by the Guarantor or any other person of the Liabilities shall be deemed 

to be in lieu of or to supersede this Guarantee, unless otherwise expressly provided therein.  
   
13.                                Covenants of Sunoco LP .  
   

(a)                                  Repayment or Refinancing of Supported Debt . Without the prior written consent of the Guarantor, Sunoco LP 
shall not be entitled to (i) repay any principal amount of the Supported Debt or (ii) refinance through an exchange offer or otherwise all or any 
portion of the Supported Debt, unless, in the case of (ii) above, Sunoco LP (x) simultaneously replaces the Supported Debt with at least an 
equivalent amount of new indebtedness (such new indebtedness, the “ Refinancing Supported Debt ”) with substantially similar covenants 
providing for no earlier amortization of principal than the amortization contemplated by the applicable maturity date of the Supported Debt 
(any such date, a “ Maturity Date ”) and (y) permits the Guarantor, at its sole discretion, to provide a guarantee of collection of the 
Refinancing Supported Debt, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.  

   
(b)                                  Extinguishment of Supported Debt . Sunoco LP shall use commercially reasonable efforts to extinguish any 

applicable outstanding Supported Debt on the Maturity Date. Sunoco LP shall release the Guarantor from any liability or obligation under this 
Guarantee related to the Supported Debt on the applicable Maturity Date for such Supported Debt and shall enter into and execute such 
documents and instruments as the Guarantor may reasonably request in order to evidence such release.  

   
(c)                                   Finance Corp. Prior to the Maturity Date of the Supported Debt, Finance Corp shall continue to have no material 

assets or any liabilities, other than as a co-issuer of debt securities of Sunoco LP.  
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14.                                Covenants of Guarantor .  
   

(a)                                  Net Worth . The Guarantor hereby represents to Sunoco LP that it will maintain net assets (excluding any interest 
in Sunoco LP held by the Guarantor) with a fair market value equal to or greater than the aggregate principal amount of the Supported Debt and 
in the event the Guarantor disposes of, transfers, or conveys any of its assets, except with respect to distributions permitted in clause (b) below, 
it shall promptly replace such assets with assets having a net fair market value (after taking into account any indebtedness to be assumed by the 
Guarantor in connection with any such transaction) substantially equivalent to or greater than the net fair market value (after taking into 
account any indebtedness to be assumed by the Guarantor in connection with any such transaction) of the disposed assets. Guarantor shall 
provide a certificate to Sunoco LP and the Trustee on an annual basis (beginning on the first anniversary of this Guarantee and until the 
Liabilities have been paid in full) providing that it is in full compliance with this Section 14(a) .  

   
(b)                                  Distributions . The Guarantor shall be entitled to make distributions of available cash with respect to its equity 

interests provided the Guarantor shall not make a distribution of cash or property to the extent such distribution would constitute a Fraudulent 
Conveyance (as defined in Section 16 ) in light of the Guarantor’s obligations under this Guarantee or otherwise impair the Guarantor’s ability 
to satisfy its obligations under this Guarantee.  

   
15.                                Covenants of Sunoco LP and Guarantor to Maintain Tax Treatment . For so long as this Guarantee is outstanding, 

Sunoco LP and the Guarantor hereby agree that:  
   

(a)                                  Unless otherwise required by law, it is the intent of the Parties to treat the Guarantor as the sole partner bearing the 
economic risk of loss with respect to the Supported Debt pursuant to Treasury Regulation § 1.752-2; provided that, notwithstanding the 
foregoing, Sunoco LP shall not be required to take such position in any taxable year to the extent Sunoco LP determines in good faith after 
consulting with tax counsel that such position is not supported by current law or actual facts and circumstances.  

   
(b)                                  It is the intent of the Parties, that the distribution to the Guarantor by Sunoco LP of the Cash Consideration be 

treated as a distribution under Section 731 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and neither Sunoco LP nor any partner of 
Sunoco LP shall take a position inconsistent with such treatment unless otherwise required by law; provided that, notwithstanding the 
foregoing, Sunoco LP shall not be required to take such position in any taxable year to the extent Sunoco LP determines in good faith after 
consulting with tax counsel that such position is not supported by current law or actual facts and circumstances.  

   
(c)                                   Neither Sunoco LP nor the Guarantor shall (i) modify this Guarantee so as to eliminate or limit the ultimate 

recourse liability of the Guarantor with respect to the Supported Debt, or (ii) except as required by the Senior Notes Indenture, cause or permit 
any other corporation, partnership, person or entity to assume, guarantee, indemnify against or otherwise incur any liability with respect to any 
Supported Debt.  
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(d)                                  In the event a subsidiary of Sunoco LP that is regarded as separate and apart from Sunoco LP for U.S. federal 

income tax purposes becomes a Subsidiary Guarantor (as such term is defined in the Senior Notes Indenture) of the Supported Debt or 
otherwise guarantees the Supported Debt, the Guarantor agrees to indemnify such subsidiary for any amounts that the subsidiary is required to 
pay pursuant to its guarantee of the Supported Debt.  

   
(e)                                   In the event a partner of Sunoco LP guarantees or otherwise incurs any liability with respect to the Supported Debt, 

the Guarantor agrees to indemnify such partner for any amounts that the partner is required to pay pursuant to its guarantee or liability with 
respect to the Supported Debt.  

   
16.                                Fraudulent Conveyance . Notwithstanding any provision of this Guarantee to the contrary, it is intended that this Guarantee 

not constitute a Fraudulent Conveyance (as defined below). Consequently, the Guarantor agrees that if this Guarantee would, but for the 
application of this sentence, constitute a Fraudulent Conveyance, this Guarantee shall be valid and enforceable only to the maximum extent that 
would not cause this Guarantee to constitute a Fraudulent Conveyance, and this Guarantee shall automatically be deemed to have been 
amended accordingly at all relevant times. For purposes of this Section 16 , the term “ Fraudulent Conveyance ” means a fraudulent 
conveyance under Section 548 of the United States Bankruptcy Code or a fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer under the provisions of 
any applicable fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer law or similar law of any state, nation or other governmental unit, as in effect from 
time to time.  

   
17.                                Third -Party Beneficiaries . This Guarantee is for the benefit only of the Guarantor, the Sunoco Issuers, the Trustee, the 

Holders and the subsidiaries and partners of Sunoco LP described in Sections 15(d) and 15(e) , and is not intended to confer upon any other 
third party any rights or remedies hereunder, and shall not be construed as for the benefit of any other third party.  

   
18.                                Notices . Any and all notices, requests or other communications hereunder shall be given in writing and delivered by: 

1) regular, overnight, registered or certified mail (return receipt requested), with first class postage prepaid; 2) hand delivery; 3) facsimile 
transmission; or 4) overnight courier service, if to the Guarantor, at the following address or facsimile number for the Guarantor:  

   
ETP Retail Holdings, LLC  
3738 Oak Lawn Avenue  
Dallas, Texas 75219  
Attention: General Counsel  
Facsimile Number: (214) 981-0701  
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If to the Sunoco Issuers, at the following address or facsimile number:  
   
Sunoco LP  
555 East Airtex Drive  
Houston, Texas 77073  
Attention: General Counsel  
Facsimile Number: (361) 693-3725  
   

or at such other address or number as shall be designated by the Guarantor or Sunoco LP in a notice to the other Party to this Guarantee. All 
such communications shall be deemed to have been duly given: (A) in the case of a notice sent by regular mail, on the date actually received by 
the addressee; (B) in the case of a notice sent by registered or certified mail, on the date receipted for (or refused) on the return receipt; (C) in 
the case of a notice delivered by hand, when personally delivered; (D) in the case of a notice sent by facsimile, upon transmission subject to 
telephone confirmation of receipt; and (E) in the case of a notice sent by overnight mail or overnight courier service, the date delivered at the 
designated address, in each case given or addressed as aforesaid.  
   

19.                                Separability . Should any clause, sentence, paragraph, subsection or section of this Guarantee be judicially declared to be 
invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such decision will not have the effect of invalidating or voiding the remainder of this 
Guarantee, and the part or parts of this Guarantee so held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable will be deemed to have been stricken herefrom, 
and the remainder will have the same force and effectiveness as if such stricken part or parts had never been included herein.  

   
20.                                Counterparts . This Guarantee may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate 

counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the 
same agreement; signature pages may be detached from multiple separate counterparts and attached to a single counterpart so that all signatures 
are physically attached to the same counterpart. Delivery of an executed signature page by facsimile or electronic transmission shall be as 
effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart.  

   
21.                                Governing Law . THIS GUARANTEE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS 
TO THE EXTENT THE LAWS OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION WOULD BE REQUIRED THEREBY.  

   
22.                                Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial . The Guarantor irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of any 

New York State court or federal court of the United States of America sitting in New York County, and any appellate court from any thereof, 
for the purposes of any proceeding arising out of this Guarantee or the transactions contemplated hereby (and agrees that no such proceeding 
relating to this Guarantee or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be brought by it except in such courts). The Guarantor irrevocably and 
unconditionally waives (and agrees not to plead or claim) any objection to the laying of venue of any proceeding arising out of this Guarantee 
or the transactions contemplated hereby in any New  
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York State court or federal court of the United States of America sitting in New York County, and any appellate court from any thereof, or that 
any such proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. The Guarantor also agrees that any final and non 
appealable judgment against it in connection with any proceeding shall be conclusive and binding on it and that such award or judgment may 
be enforced in any court of competent jurisdiction, either within or outside of the United States. A certified or exemplified copy of such award 
or judgment shall be conclusive evidence of the fact and amount of such award or judgment. TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY 
APPLICABLE LAW, ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING TO ENFORCE OR TO DEFEND ANY RIGHTS UNDER THIS GUARANTEE 
SHALL BE TRIED BEFORE A COURT AND NOT BEFORE A JURY.  
   

23.                                Entire Agreement . This Guarantee constitutes the entire agreement with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes 
all prior agreements and understandings, oral or written, between the parties related thereto.  

   
[ Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows ]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Guarantee as of the date and year first written above.  

   

   
Signature Page  

Guarantee of Collection  
   

 

   
ETP RETAIL HOLDINGS, LLC  

      
         
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  

   
   

Title:  
   

         
         
   

SUNOCO LP  
         
   

By:  Sunoco GP LLC, its general partner  
         
         
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  

   
   

Title:  
   

         
         
   

SUNOCO FINANCE CORP.  
         
         
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  

   
   

Title:  
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EXHIBIT D-1 

  
SUPPORT AGREEMENT  

   
This SUPPORT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”) is made as of [ • ], 2015 (the “ Effective Date ”), by and among Sunoco, Inc. 

(R&M), a Pennsylvania corporation (the “ Support Provider ”), Sunoco LP, a Delaware limited partnership (“ Sunoco LP ”), Sunoco Finance 
Corp., a Delaware corporation (“ Sunoco LP Finance ” and, together with Sunoco LP, the “ Sunoco Issuers ”), and ETP Retail Holdings, LLC, 
a Delaware limited liability company (“ Guarantor ”).  The Support Provider, Sunoco Issuers and Guarantor may hereinafter be referred to 
individually as a “ Party ” or collectively as the “ Parties .”  

   
PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:  

   
A .                                     S unoco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ( “ Sunoco LLC ”), Guarantor and Sunoco LP, and, solely for limited 

purposes, Energy Transfer Partners, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“ ETP “), have entered into that certain Contribution Agreement, 
dated as of March 23, 2015, as amended (the “ Contribution Agreement ”), pursuant to which Guarantor has agreed to contribute to Sunoco LP 
31.58% of the membership interests in Sunoco LLC (the “ Contribution ”).  

   
B.                                     In connection with and in order to facilitate the Contribution, pursuant to the Indenture dated [ • ], 2015 (the “ Indenture ”) , 

the Sunoco Issuers issued [ • ] senior notes due 2023 (the “ Supported Debt ”).  
   
C.                                     Pursuant to the terms of the Contribution Agreement, at the closing of the Contribution on the date hereof, (i) Sunoco LP 

distributed to Guarantor, in partial consideration for the Contribution, $775,000,013 million in cash, financed entirely from the proceeds of the 
Supported Debt (the “ Cash Consideration ”) and (ii) Guarantor executed and delivered a guarantee dated as of even date herewith, providing 
for a guarantee of collection (but not of payment) for the principal amount due under the Supported Debt (the “ ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee 
”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A .  

   
D.                                     Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Guarantor is distributing to the Support Provider, a portion of the Cash 

Consideration equal to $[ • ] (the “ R&M Distribution ” and the proportion of the total Cash Consideration reflected by such R&M 
Distribution, expressed as a percentage, the “ R&M Distribution Percentage ”).  Accordingly, in consideration of the R&M Distribution, the 
Support Provider desires to enter into this Agreement to provide support to Guarantor in furtherance of the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee in 
support of the Supported Debt, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.  

   
E.                                      The Sunoco Issuers and Guarantor desire to enter into this Agreement and be bound by the terms and conditions set forth 

herein.  
   
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the 

Parties, the Parties agree as follows:  
   
1.                                       Support .  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including but not limited to Sections 2 and 3 below, the 

Support Provider hereby provides support to Guarantor  
   

 



   
and agrees to contribute cash to Guarantor in such amounts as necessary to guarantee collection of the aggregate principal amount of the 
Supported Debt pursuant to the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the obligations of the Parties 
under this Agreement are obligations solely of the Parties and do not constitute a debt or obligation of (and no recourse shall be made with 
respect to) ETP, any of its affiliates (other than the Parties hereto), or any shareholder, partner, member, officer, director or employee of ETP or 
such affiliates (collectively, the “ Non-Recourse Parties ”).  No action under or in connection with this Agreement shall be brought against any 
Non-Recourse Party, and no judgment for any deficiency upon the obligations hereunder shall be obtainable against any Non-Recourse Party.  

   
2.                                       Support Payment Conditions .  Notwithstanding any other term or condition of this Agreement to the contrary, the Support 

Provider shall be obligated to make contributions of cash to Guarantor pursuant to this Agreement to enable Guarantor to pay any and all 
amounts of the Supported Debt due and payable pursuant to the terms and conditions of the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee.  

   
3.                                       Cap .  Notwithstanding any other term or condition of this Agreement to the contrary, it is agreed that the Support Provider’s 

maximum liability under this Agreement with respect to the Supported Debt shall not exceed the R&M Distribution Percentage, multiplied by 
the positive difference (if any) between (i) the principal amount of Supported Debt, minus (ii) the sum of (A) all payments of principal made by 
or on behalf of the Sunoco Issuers in respect of such Supported Debt, plus (B) the fair market value of any property received or cash proceeds 
collected or any consideration otherwise realized (including by way of set off) from or for the account of the Sunoco Issuers pursuant to, or in 
connection with, the principal amount of Supported Debt, including, but not limited to, any property or cash proceeds collected or realized from 
the exercise of any rights and remedies at law or in equity that the holders of such Supported Debt may have against the Sunoco Issuers or any 
collateral securing such Supported Debt, plus (C) any principal amount of such Supported Debt which is forgiven or otherwise voluntarily 
compromised by the holders of such Supported Debt (such amount, the “ Support Cap ”).  

   
The Support Provider shall have no obligation to make a payment hereunder with respect to any accrued and unpaid interest or any 

other costs, fees, expenses, penalties, charges or other amounts of any kind whatsoever that may be owed by Guarantor or any Sunoco Issuer, 
whether on or related to the Supported Debt or otherwise.  

   
4.                                       Termination of Agreement .  This Agreement shall remain in effect and will not terminate until the earlier to occur of 

(a) termination or expiration of the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee and (b) payment by the Support Provider of the maximum amount due by 
the Support Provider under Section 3 hereof, as such amount may be limited by Section 10 hereof.  

   
5.                                       Notices; Defenses; Etc .  The Sunoco Issuers and Guarantor hereby agree to provide the Support Provider with notice 

promptly following any alleged default by any Sunoco Issuer under the documents evidencing the Supported Debt or by Guarantor under the 
documents evidencing the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee, and the Support Provider shall be entitled to receive information regarding, and 
make reasonable requests for information with respect to, the actions the holders of the Supported Debt have taken against the Sunoco Issuers 
with respect to  
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the Supported Debt or Guarantor with respect to the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee.  By entering into this Agreement, the Support Provider is 
not waiving any defense, set-off or counterclaim available to Guarantor or the Sunoco Issuers with respect to the Supported Debt nor is the 
Support Provider waiving its rights with respect to diligence, presentment, demand for performance, notice of protest, notice of dishonor, 
default or non-payment, or notice of acceptance of this Agreement.  
   

6.                                       Covenants of Sunoco LP and Guarantor .  
   

(a)                                  Repayment or Refinancing of Supported Debt .  Without the prior written consent of the Support Provider, Sunoco 
LP shall not be entitled to (i) repay any principal amount of a tranche of the Supported Debt or (ii) refinance through an exchange offer or 
otherwise all or any portion of the Supported Debt, unless, in the case of (ii) above, Sunoco LP (x) simultaneously replaces the Supported Debt 
with at least an equivalent amount of new indebtedness (such new indebtedness, the “ Refinanced Supported Debt ”) with substantially similar 
covenants providing for no earlier amortization of principal than the amortization contemplated by the applicable maturity date of any 
Supported Debt (any such date, a “ Maturity Date ”), (y) permits Guarantor at its sole discretion to guarantee the Refinanced Supported Debt on 
the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee and (z) permits Support Provider at its sole discretion to 
provide support to Guarantor in furtherance of the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee of the Refinanced Supported Debt, on the terms and subject 
to the conditions set forth herein.  

   
(b)                                  Actions Upon Maturity Date .  Upon the Maturity Date for the Supported Debt, and payment in full of the aggregate 

principal amount of Supported Debt, no additional ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee shall be permitted to be made by Guarantor with respect to 
such Supported Debt.  Any Supported Debt subject to the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee may be retired or refinanced with debt that is not 
subject to the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee commencing at any time on or after the scheduled Maturity Date for such Supported Debt.  

   
(c)                                   Extinguishment of Supported Debt .  Sunoco LP shall use commercially reasonable efforts to extinguish any 

applicable outstanding Supported Debt on the Maturity Date.  Guarantor shall release the Support Provider from any liability or obligation 
under this Agreement related to the Supported Debt on the applicable Maturity Date for such Supported Debt and shall enter into and execute 
such documents and instruments as the Support Provider may reasonably request in order to evidence such release.  

   
(d)                                  Sunoco LP Finance Corp .  Prior to the Maturity Date of the Supported Debt, Sunoco LP Finance shall continue to 

have no material assets or any liabilities, other than as a co-issuer of debt securities of Sunoco LP.  
   
(e)                                   Guarantor Limited Activities .  Without the prior written consent of Support Provider, Guarantor shall not (i) create, 

incur, assume or permit to exist any Indebtedness (as defined below) other than the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee or (ii) consummate any 
transactions other than the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee of the Supported Debt.  As used in this Section 6(d), “Indebtedness” shall mean 
(A) all obligations for borrowed money, (B) all obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, (C) all  
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obligations under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property or assets, (D) all obligations issued or assumed as the 
deferred purchase price of property or services, (E) all guarantees of Indebtedness of others, (F) all capital lease obligations, (G) all obligations 
with respect to hedging and swap agreements, (H) the principal component of all obligations, contingent or otherwise, as an account party in 
respect of letters of credit and (I) the principal component of all obligations in respect of bankers’ acceptances.  
   

7.                                       Covenants of Support Provider .  
   

(a)                                  Net Worth .  Support Provider hereby represents to Guarantor and Sunoco LP that it will maintain net assets 
(excluding any interest in Guarantor and Sunoco LP held by Support Provider) with a fair market value equal to or greater than the amount of 
the Support Cap and in the event Support Provider disposes of, transfers, or conveys any of its assets, except with respect to distributions 
permitted in clause (b) below, it shall, if necessary, promptly replace such assets so as to have net assets (excluding any interest in Guarantor 
and Sunoco LP held by Support Provider) with a fair market value equal to or greater than the amount of the Support Cap. Support Provider 
shall provide a certificate to Guarantor and the Trustee on an annual basis (beginning on the first anniversary of this Agreement and until the 
Supported Debt has been paid in full) providing that it is in full compliance with this Section 7(a) .  

   
(b)                                  Distributions .  Support Provider shall be entitled to make distributions of available cash with respect to its equity 

interests provided Support Provider shall not make a distribution of cash or property to the extent such distribution would constitute a 
Fraudulent Conveyance (as defined in Section 10) in light of Support Provider’s obligations under this Agreement or otherwise impair Support 
Provider’s ability to satisfy its obligations under this Agreement.  

   
8.                                       Covenants of the Parties to Maintain Tax Treatment .  For so long as any ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee is outstanding, 

the Parties hereto hereby agree that:  
   

(a)                                  At the Sunoco LP level, unless otherwise required by law, it is the intent of the Parties to treat Guarantor as the sole 
partner bearing the economic risk of loss with respect to the Supported Debt pursuant to Treasury Regulation § 1.752-2; provided that, 
notwithstanding the foregoing, Sunoco LP shall not be required to take such position in any taxable year to the extent Sunoco LP determines in 
good faith after consulting with tax counsel that such position is not supported by current law or actual facts and circumstances.  

   
(b)                                  It is the intent of the Parties that the distribution to Guarantor by Sunoco LP of the Cash Consideration be treated as 

a distribution under Section 731 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code ”), and neither Sunoco LP nor any partner of 
Sunoco LP shall take a position inconsistent with such treatment unless otherwise required by law; provided that, notwithstanding the 
foregoing, Sunoco LP shall not be required to take such position in any taxable year to the extent Sunoco LP determines in good faith after 
consulting with tax counsel that such position is not supported by current law or actual facts and circumstances.  
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(c)                                   At the Guarantor level, unless otherwise required by law, it is the intent of the Parties to treat the Support Provider 

as bearing the economic risk of loss with respect to the Supported Debt in an amount equal to the Supported Debt distributed to it pursuant to 
the R&M Distribution in accordance with Treasury Regulation § 1.752-2; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, Guarantor shall not be 
required to take such position in any taxable year to the extent Guarantor determines in good faith after consulting with tax counsel that such 
position is not supported by current law or actual facts and circumstances.  

   
(d)                                  It is the intent of the Parties to treat the R&M Distribution as a distribution under Section 731 of the Code, and 

neither Guarantor nor any partner of Guarantor shall take a position inconsistent with such treatment unless otherwise required by law; 
provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, Guarantor shall not be required to take such position in any taxable year to the extent Guarantor 
determines in good faith after consulting with tax counsel that such position is not supported by current law or actual facts and circumstances.  

   
(e)                                   Neither Sunoco LP nor Guarantor shall (i) modify the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee so as to eliminate or limit the 

ultimate recourse liability of the Support Provider with respect to the Supported Debt, (ii) merge or consolidate with, or take any action that 
would cause, Guarantor to become a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes or (iii) except as required by the Indenture, cause or 
permit any other corporation, partnership, person or entity to assume, guarantee, indemnify against or otherwise incur any liability with respect 
to any Supported Debt.  

   
(f)                                    In the event a subsidiary of Sunoco LP that is regarded as separate and apart from Sunoco LP for U.S. federal 

income tax purposes becomes a Subsidiary Guarantor (as such term is defined in the Indenture) of the Supported Debt or otherwise guarantees 
the Supported Debt, the Support Provider agrees to indemnify such subsidiary for any amounts that the subsidiary is required to pay pursuant to 
its guarantee of the Supported Debt, on the same basis and subject to the same limits as with respect to the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee.  

   
(g)                                   In the event a partner of Sunoco LP guarantees or otherwise incurs any liability with respect to the Supported Debt, 

Guarantor agrees to indemnify such partner for any amounts that the partner is required to pay pursuant to its guarantee or liability with respect 
to the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee.  

   
9.                                       Waiver of Subrogation . The Support Provider irrevocably waives, relinquishes and renounces any right of subrogation, 

contribution, indemnity, reimbursement or any claim whatsoever which the Support Provider may have against the Sunoco Issuers or any other 
persons liable on the Guarantee or the Supported Debt. The Support Provider will not assert any such claim against the Sunoco Issuers or any 
other persons liable on the Guarantee or the Supported Debt, in any proceeding, legal or equitable, including any bankruptcy, insolvency or 
reorganization proceeding. This provision will inure to the benefit of and will be enforceable by the Trustee, the Holders, the Sunoco Issuers 
and any such persons liable on the Guarantee or the Supported Debt, and their successors and assigns, including any trustee in bankruptcy or 
debtor-in-possession.  
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10.                                Fraudulent Conveyance .  Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, it is intended that this 

Agreement not constitute a Fraudulent Conveyance (as defined below).  Consequently, the Support Provider agrees that if this Agreement 
would, but for the application of this sentence, constitute a Fraudulent Conveyance, this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable only to the 
maximum extent that would not cause this Agreement to constitute a Fraudulent Conveyance, and this Agreement shall automatically be 
deemed to have been amended accordingly at all relevant times.  For purposes of this Section 10, the term “Fraudulent Conveyance” means a 
fraudulent conveyance under Section 548 of the United States Bankruptcy Code or a fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer under the 
provisions of any applicable fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer law or similar law of any state, nation or other governmental unit, as 
in effect from time to time.  

   
11.                                Cumulative Rights; No Waiver .  Each and every right granted to Support Provider hereunder or under any other document 

delivered hereunder or in connection herewith, or allowed it by law or equity, shall be cumulative and may be exercised from time to time 
subject only to the limitations set forth in this Agreement.  No failure on the part of Support Provider to exercise, and no delay in exercising, 
any right shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise by Support Provider of any right preclude any other or future 
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.  

   
12.                                Amendments; Waivers .  
   

(a)                                  Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, this Agreement may not be modified, amended or waived except by 
an instrument or instruments in writing signed by each of the Parties hereto.  

   
(b)                                  The Parties hereby agree that no provision of Section 1 hereof may be modified, amended or waived without the 

prior written consent of a majority of the noteholders or lenders under the Indenture if such modification, amendment or waiver would 
materially and adversely reduce the benefits to such noteholders or lenders of the support contemplated by Section 1 hereof with respect to such 
Supported Debt.  

   
13.                                Successors and Assigns .  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their 

respective successors and assigns.  Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Support Provider from merging or consolidating with or into 
any other person so long as the surviving person agrees to be bound by the terms of this Agreement.  

   
14.                                Third-Party Beneficiaries .  This Agreement is for the benefit only of the Support Provider, the Sunoco Issuers, and 

Guarantor, the trustee under the Indenture, the holders of the Supported Debt, and the subsidiaries of Sunoco LP described in Section 8(d) and 
is not intended to confer upon any other third party any rights or remedies hereunder, and shall not be construed as for the benefit of any other 
third party.  

   
15.                                Notices .  Any and all notices, requests or other communications hereunder shall be given in writing and delivered by: (a)  

regular, overnight, registered or certified mail (return receipt requested), with first class postage prepaid; (b)  hand delivery; (c)  facsimile 
transmission;  
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or (d)  overnight courier service, if to the Support Provider, at the following address or facsimile number for the Support Provider:  

   
Sunoco, Inc. (R&M)  
3738 Oak Lawn Avenue  
Dallas, Texas 75219  
Attention:  General Counsel  
Facsimile Number:  (214) 981-0701  
   
if to any Sunoco Issuer, at the following address or facsimile number for Sunoco LP:  
   
Sunoco LP  
555 East Airtex Drive  
Houston, Texas 77073  
Attention:  General Counsel  
Facsimile Number:  (361) 693-3725  
   
if to Guarantor, at the following address or facsimile number for Guarantor:  
   
ETP Retail Holdings, LLC  
3738 Oak Lawn Avenue  
Dallas, Texas 75219  
Attention:  General Counsel  
Facsimile Number:  (214) 981-0701  
   

or at such other address or number as shall be designated by the Support Provider, any Sunoco Issuer or Guarantor in a notice to the other 
Parties to this Agreement.  All such communications shall be deemed to have been duly given: (A)  in the case of a notice sent by regular mail, 
on the date actually received by the addressee; (B)  in the case of a notice sent by registered or certified mail, on the date receipted for (or 
refused) on the return receipt; (C)  in the case of a notice delivered by hand, when personally delivered; (D)  in the case of a notice sent by 
facsimile, upon transmission subject to telephone confirmation of receipt; and (E)  in the case of a notice sent by overnight mail or overnight 
courier service, the date delivered at the designated address, in each case given or addressed as aforesaid.  
   

16.                                Separability .  Should any clause, sentence, paragraph, subsection or section of this Agreement be judicially declared to be 
invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such decision will not have the effect of invalidating or voiding the remainder of this 
Agreement, and the part or parts of this Agreement so held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable will be deemed to have been stricken 
herefrom, and the remainder will have the same force and effectiveness as if such stricken part or parts had never been included herein.  

   
17.                                Counterparts .  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate 

counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the 
same agreement; signature pages may be detached from multiple separate counterparts and attached to  
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a single counterpart so that all signatures are physically attached to the same counterpart.  Delivery of an executed signature page by facsimile 
or electronic transmission shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart.  

   
18.                                Section Headings .  Section headings appearing herein are included solely for convenience of reference and are not intended 

to affect the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.  
   
19.                                Entire Agreement .  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter 

hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, oral or written, between the Parties related thereto.  
   
20.                                Governing Law .  THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS 
TO THE EXTENT THE LAWS OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION WOULD BE REQUIRED THEREBY.  

   
21.                                Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial .  The Parties irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of any New 

York State court or federal court of the United States of America sitting in New York County, and any appellate court from any thereof, for the 
purposes of any proceeding arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby (and each agrees that no such proceeding 
relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be brought by it except in such courts).  The Parties irrevocably and 
unconditionally waive (and agree not to plead or claim) any objection to the laying of venue of any proceeding arising out of this Agreement or 
the transactions contemplated hereby in any New York State court or federal court of the United States of America sitting in New York County, 
and any appellate court from any thereof, or that any such proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.  
Each of the Parties also agrees that any final and non appealable judgment against a Party in connection with any proceeding shall be 
conclusive and binding on such Party and that such award or judgment may be enforced in any court of competent jurisdiction, either within or 
outside of the United States.  A certified or exemplified copy of such award or judgment shall be conclusive evidence of the fact and amount of 
such award or judgment.  TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING TO 
ENFORCE OR TO DEFEND ANY RIGHTS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE TRIED BEFORE A COURT AND NOT BEFORE A 
JURY.  

   
[Signature Page Follows]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement is duly executed and delivered by the authorized signatories set forth below, to be 

effective as of the Effective Date.  
   

   

 

   
SUNOCO, INC. (R&M)  

      
      
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  

   
   

Title:  
   

         
         
   

SUNOCO LP  
         
   

By: Sunoco GP LLC, its general partner  
         
         
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  

   
   

Title:  
   

         
         
   

SUNOCO FINANCE CORP.  
         
         
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  

   
   

Title:  
   

         
         
   

ETP RETAIL HOLDINGS, LLC  
         
         
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  

   
   

Title:  
   



   
EXHIBIT A  

   
GUARANTEE OF COLLECTION  

   

 



  
EXHIBIT D-2 

  
SUPPORT AGREEMENT  

   
This SUPPORT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”) is made as of [ • ], 2015 (the “ Effective Date ”), by and among Atlantic 

Refining & Marketing Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “ Support Provider ”), Sunoco LP, a Delaware limited partnership (“ Sunoco LP ”), 
Sunoco Finance Corp., a Delaware corporation (“ Sunoco LP Finance ” and, together with Sunoco LP, the “ Sunoco Issuers ”), and ETP Retail 
Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“ Guarantor ”).  The Support Provider, Sunoco Issuers and Guarantor may hereinafter be 
referred to individually as a “ Party ” or collectively as the “ Parties .”  

   
PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:  

   
A.                                     Sunoco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ( “ Sunoco LLC ”), Guarantor and Sunoco LP, and, solely for limited 

purposes, Energy Transfer Partners, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“ ETP “), have entered into that certain Contribution Agreement, 
dated as of March 23, 2015, as amended (the “ Contribution Agreement ”), pursuant to which Guarantor has agreed to contribute to Sunoco LP 
31.58% of the membership interests in Sunoco LLC (the “ Contribution ”).  

   
B.                                     In connection with and in order to facilitate the Contribution, pursuant to the Indenture dated [ • ], 2015 (the “ Indenture ”) , 

the Sunoco Issuers issued senior notes due 2023 (the “ Supported Debt ”).  
   
C.                                     Pursuant to the terms of the Contribution Agreement, at the closing of the Contribution on the date hereof, (i) Sunoco LP 

distributed to Guarantor, in partial consideration for the Contribution, $775,000,013 million in cash, financed entirely from the proceeds of the 
Supported Debt (the “ Cash Consideration ”) and (ii) Guarantor executed and delivered a guarantee dated as of even date herewith, providing 
for a guarantee of collection (but not of payment) for the principal amount due under the Supported Debt (the “ ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee 
”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A .  

   
D.                                     Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Guarantor is distributing to the Support Provider, a portion of the Cash 

Consideration equal to $[ • ] (the “ Atlantic Distribution ” and the proportion of the total Cash Consideration reflected by such Atlantic 
Distribution, expressed as a percentage, the “ Atlantic Distribution Percentage ”).  Accordingly, in consideration of the Atlantic Distribution, 
Support Provider desires to enter into this Agreement to provide support to Guarantor in furtherance of the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee in 
support of the Supported Debt, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.  

   
E.                                      The Sunoco Issuers and Guarantor desire to enter into this Agreement and be bound by the terms and conditions set forth 

herein.  
   
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by the 

Parties, the Parties agree as follows:  
   
1.                                       Support .  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including but not limited to Sections 2 and 3 below, the 

Support Provider hereby provides support to Guarantor  
   

 



   
and agrees to contribute cash to Guarantor in such amounts as necessary to guarantee collection of the aggregate principal amount of the 
Supported Debt pursuant to the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the obligations of the Parties 
under this Agreement are obligations solely of the Parties and do not constitute a debt or obligation of (and no recourse shall be made with 
respect to) ETP, any of its affiliates (other than the Parties hereto), or any shareholder, partner, member, officer, director or employee of ETP or 
such affiliates (collectively, the “ Non-Recourse Parties ”).  No action under or in connection with this Agreement shall be brought against any 
Non-Recourse Party, and no judgment for any deficiency upon the obligations hereunder shall be obtainable against any Non-Recourse Party.  

   
2.                                       Support Payment Conditions .  Notwithstanding any other term or condition of this Agreement to the contrary, the Support 

Provider shall be obligated to make contributions of cash to Guarantor pursuant to this Agreement to enable Guarantor to pay any and all 
amounts of the Supported Debt due and payable pursuant to the terms and conditions of the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee.  

   
3.                                       Cap .  Notwithstanding any other term or condition of this Agreement to the contrary, it is agreed that the Support Provider’s 

maximum liability under this Agreement with respect to the Supported Debt shall not exceed the Atlantic Distribution Percentage, multiplied 
by the positive difference (if any) between (i) the principal amount of Supported Debt, minus (ii) the sum of (A) all payments of principal made 
by or on behalf of the Sunoco Issuers in respect of such Supported Debt, plus (B) the fair market value of any property received or cash 
proceeds collected or any consideration otherwise realized (including by way of set off) from or for the account of the Sunoco Issuers pursuant 
to, or in connection with, the principal amount of Supported Debt, including, but not limited to, any property or cash proceeds collected or 
realized from the exercise of any rights and remedies at law or in equity that the holders of such Supported Debt may have against the Sunoco 
Issuers or any collateral securing such Supported Debt, plus (C) any principal amount of such Supported Debt which is forgiven or otherwise 
voluntarily compromised by the holders of such Supported Debt (such amount, the “ Support Cap ”).  

   
The Support Provider shall have no obligation to make a payment hereunder with respect to any accrued and unpaid interest or any 

other costs, fees, expenses, penalties, charges or other amounts of any kind whatsoever that may be owed by Guarantor or any Sunoco Issuer, 
whether on or related to the Supported Debt or otherwise.  

   
4.                                       Termination of Agreement .  This Agreement shall remain in effect and will not terminate until the earlier to occur of 

(a) termination or expiration of the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee and (b) payment by the Support Provider of the maximum amount due by 
the Support Provider under Section 3 hereof, as such amount may be limited by Section 10 hereof.  

   
5.                                       Notices; Defenses; Etc .  The Sunoco Issuers and Guarantor hereby agree to provide the Support Provider with notice 

promptly following any alleged default by any Sunoco Issuer under the documents evidencing the Supported Debt or by Guarantor under the 
documents evidencing the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee, and the Support Provider shall be entitled to receive information regarding, and 
make reasonable requests for information with respect to, the actions the holders of the Supported Debt have taken against the Sunoco Issuers 
with respect to  
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the Supported Debt or Guarantor with respect to the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee.  By entering into this Agreement, the Support Provider is 
not waiving any defense, set-off or counterclaim available to Guarantor or the Sunoco Issuers with respect to the Supported Debt nor is the 
Support Provider waiving its rights with respect to diligence, presentment, demand for performance, notice of protest, notice of dishonor, 
default or non-payment, or notice of acceptance of this Agreement.  
   

6.                                       Covenants of Sunoco LP and Guarantor .  
   

(a)                                  Repayment or Refinancing of Supported Debt .  Without the prior written consent of the Support Provider, Sunoco 
LP shall not be entitled to (i) repay any principal amount of a tranche of the Supported Debt or (ii) refinance through an exchange offer or 
otherwise all or any portion of the Supported Debt, unless, in the case of (ii) above, Sunoco LP (x) simultaneously replaces the Supported Debt 
with at least an equivalent amount of new indebtedness (such new indebtedness, the “ Refinanced Supported Debt ”) with substantially similar 
covenants providing for no earlier amortization of principal than the amortization contemplated by the applicable maturity date of any 
Supported Debt (any such date, a “ Maturity Date ”), (y) permits Guarantor at its sole discretion to guarantee the Refinanced Supported Debt on 
the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee and (z) permits Support Provider at its sole discretion to 
provide support to Guarantor in furtherance of the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee of the Refinanced Supported Debt, on the terms and subject 
to the conditions set forth herein.  

   
(b)                                  Actions Upon Maturity Date .  Upon the Maturity Date for the Supported Debt, and payment in full of the aggregate 

principal amount of Supported Debt, no additional ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee shall be permitted to be made by Guarantor with respect to 
such Supported Debt.  Any Supported Debt subject to the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee may be retired or refinanced with debt that is not 
subject to the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee commencing at any time on or after the scheduled Maturity Date for such Supported Debt.  

   
(c)                                   Extinguishment of Supported Debt .  Sunoco LP shall use commercially reasonable efforts to extinguish any 

applicable outstanding Supported Debt on the Maturity Date.  Guarantor shall release the Support Provider from any liability or obligation 
under this Agreement related to the Supported Debt on the applicable Maturity Date for such Supported Debt and shall enter into and execute 
such documents and instruments as the Support Provider may reasonably request in order to evidence such release.  

   
(d)                                  Sunoco LP Finance Corp .  Prior to the Maturity Date of the Supported Debt, Sunoco LP Finance shall continue to 

have no material assets or any liabilities, other than as a co-issuer of debt securities of Sunoco LP.  
   
(e)                                   Guarantor Limited Activities .  Without the prior written consent of Support Provider, Guarantor shall not (i) create, 

incur, assume or permit to exist any Indebtedness (as defined below) other than the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee or (ii) consummate any 
transactions other than the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee of the Supported Debt.  As used in this Section 6(d), “Indebtedness” shall mean 
(A) all obligations for borrowed money, (B) all obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, (C) all  
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obligations under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property or assets, (D) all obligations issued or assumed as the 
deferred purchase price of property or services, (E) all guarantees of Indebtedness of others, (F) all capital lease obligations, (G) all obligations 
with respect to hedging and swap agreements, (H) the principal component of all obligations, contingent or otherwise, as an account party in 
respect of letters of credit and (I) the principal component of all obligations in respect of bankers’ acceptances.  
   

7.                                       Covenants of Support Provider .  
   

(a)                                  Net Worth .  Support Provider hereby represents to Guarantor and Sunoco LP that it will maintain net assets 
(excluding any interest in Guarantor and Sunoco LP held by Support Provider) with a fair market value equal to or greater than the amount of 
the Support Cap and in the event Support Provider disposes of, transfers, or conveys any of its assets, except with respect to distributions 
permitted in clause (b) below, it shall, if necessary, promptly replace such assets so as to have net assets (excluding any interest in Guarantor 
and Sunoco LP held by Support Provider) with a fair market value equal to or greater than the amount of the Support Cap. Support Provider 
shall provide a certificate to Guarantor and the Trustee on an annual basis (beginning on the first anniversary of this Agreement and until the 
Supported Debt has been paid in full) providing that it is in full compliance with this Section 7(a) .  

   
(b)                                  Distributions .  Support Provider shall be entitled to make distributions of available cash with respect to its equity 

interests provided Support Provider shall not make a distribution of cash or property to the extent such distribution would constitute a 
Fraudulent Conveyance (as defined in Section 10) in light of Support Provider’s obligations under this Agreement or otherwise impair Support 
Provider’s ability to satisfy its obligations under this Agreement.  

   
8.                                       Covenants of the Parties to Maintain Tax Treatment .  For so long as any ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee is outstanding, 

the Parties hereto hereby agree that:  
   

(a)                                  At the Sunoco LP level, unless otherwise required by law, it is the intent of the Parties to treat Guarantor as the sole 
partner bearing the economic risk of loss with respect to the Supported Debt pursuant to Treasury Regulation § 1.752-2; provided that, 
notwithstanding the foregoing, Sunoco LP shall not be required to take such position in any taxable year to the extent Sunoco LP determines in 
good faith after consulting with tax counsel that such position is not supported by current law or actual facts and circumstances.  

   
(b)                                  It is the intent of the Parties that the distribution to Guarantor by Sunoco LP of the Cash Consideration be treated as 

a distribution under Section 731 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code ”), and neither Sunoco LP nor any partner of 
Sunoco LP shall take a position inconsistent with such treatment unless otherwise required by law; provided that, notwithstanding the 
foregoing, Sunoco LP shall not be required to take such position in any taxable year to the extent Sunoco LP determines in good faith after 
consulting with tax counsel that such position is not supported by current law or actual facts and circumstances.  
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(c)                                   At the Guarantor level, unless otherwise required by law, it is the intent of the Parties to treat the Support Provider 

as bearing the economic risk of loss with respect to the Supported Debt in an amount equal to the Supported Debt distributed to it pursuant to 
the Atlantic Distribution in accordance with Treasury Regulation § 1.752-2; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, Guarantor shall not 
be required to take such position in any taxable year to the extent Guarantor determines in good faith after consulting with tax counsel that such 
position is not supported by current law or actual facts and circumstances.  

   
(d)                                  It is the intent of the Parties to treat the Atlantic Distribution as a distribution under Section 731 of the Code, and 

neither Guarantor nor any partner of Guarantor shall take a position inconsistent with such treatment unless otherwise required by law; 
provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, Guarantor shall not be required to take such position in any taxable year to the extent Guarantor 
determines in good faith after consulting with tax counsel that such position is not supported by current law or actual facts and circumstances.  

   
(e)                                   Neither Sunoco LP nor Guarantor shall (i) modify the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee so as to eliminate or limit the 

ultimate recourse liability of the Support Provider with respect to the Supported Debt, (ii) merge or consolidate with, or take any action that 
would cause, Guarantor to become a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes or (iii) except as required by the Indenture, cause or 
permit any other corporation, partnership, person or entity to assume, guarantee, indemnify against or otherwise incur any liability with respect 
to any Supported Debt.  

   
(f)                                    In the event a subsidiary of Sunoco LP that is regarded as separate and apart from Sunoco LP for U.S. federal 

income tax purposes becomes a Subsidiary Guarantor (as such term is defined in the Indenture) of the Supported Debt or otherwise guarantees 
the Supported Debt, the Support Provider agrees to indemnify such subsidiary for any amounts that the subsidiary is required to pay pursuant to 
its guarantee of the Supported Debt, on the same basis and subject to the same limits as with respect to the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee.  

   
(g)                                   In the event a partner of Sunoco LP guarantees or otherwise incurs any liability with respect to the Supported Debt, 

Guarantor agrees to indemnify such partner for any amounts that the partner is required to pay pursuant to its guarantee or liability with respect 
to the ETP Retail Holdings Guarantee.  

   
9.                                       Waiver of Subrogation . The Support Provider irrevocably waives, relinquishes and renounces any right of subrogation, 

contribution, indemnity, reimbursement or any claim whatsoever which the Support Provider may have against the Sunoco Issuers or any other 
persons liable on the Guarantee or the Supported Debt. The Support Provider will not assert any such claim against the Sunoco Issuers or any 
other persons liable on the Guarantee or the Supported Debt, in any proceeding, legal or equitable, including any bankruptcy, insolvency or 
reorganization proceeding. This provision will inure to the benefit of and will be enforceable by the Trustee, the Holders, the Sunoco Issuers 
and any such persons liable on the Guarantee or the Supported Debt, and their successors and assigns, including any trustee in bankruptcy or 
debtor-in-possession.  
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10.                                Fraudulent Conveyance .  Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, it is intended that this 

Agreement not constitute a Fraudulent Conveyance (as defined below).  Consequently, the Support Provider agrees that if this Agreement 
would, but for the application of this sentence, constitute a Fraudulent Conveyance, this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable only to the 
maximum extent that would not cause this Agreement to constitute a Fraudulent Conveyance, and this Agreement shall automatically be 
deemed to have been amended accordingly at all relevant times.  For purposes of this Section 10, the term “Fraudulent Conveyance” means a 
fraudulent conveyance under Section 548 of the United States Bankruptcy Code or a fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer under the 
provisions of any applicable fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer law or similar law of any state, nation or other governmental unit, as 
in effect from time to time.  

   
11.                                Cumulative Rights; No Waiver .  Each and every right granted to Support Provider hereunder or under any other document 

delivered hereunder or in connection herewith, or allowed it by law or equity, shall be cumulative and may be exercised from time to time 
subject only to the limitations set forth in this Agreement.  No failure on the part of Support Provider to exercise, and no delay in exercising, 
any right shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise by Support Provider of any right preclude any other or future 
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.  

   
12.                                Amendments; Waivers .  
   

(a)                                  Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, this Agreement may not be modified, amended or waived except by 
an instrument or instruments in writing signed by each of the Parties hereto.  

   
(b)                                  The Parties hereby agree that no provision of Section 1 hereof may be modified, amended or waived without the 

prior written consent of a majority of the noteholders or lenders under the Indenture if such modification, amendment or waiver would 
materially and adversely reduce the benefits to such noteholders or lenders of the support contemplated by Section 1 hereof with respect to such 
Supported Debt.  

   
13.                                Successors and Assigns .  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their 

respective successors and assigns.  Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Support Provider from merging or consolidating with or into 
any other person so long as the surviving person agrees to be bound by the terms of this Agreement.  

   
14.                                Third-Party Beneficiaries .  This Agreement is for the benefit only of the Support Provider, the Sunoco Issuers, and 

Guarantor, the trustee under the Indenture, the holders of the Supported Debt, and the subsidiaries of Sunoco LP described in Section 8(d) and 
is not intended to confer upon any other third party any rights or remedies hereunder, and shall not be construed as for the benefit of any other 
third party.  

   
15.                                Notices .  Any and all notices, requests or other communications hereunder shall be given in writing and delivered by:  (a)  

regular, overnight, registered or certified mail (return receipt requested), with first class postage prepaid; (b)  hand delivery; (c)  facsimile 
transmission;  
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or (d)  overnight courier service, if to the Support Provider, at the following address or facsimile number for the Support Provider:  
   

Altnatic Refining & Marketing Corp.  
3738 Oak Lawn Avenue  
Dallas, Texas 75219  
Attention:  General Counsel  
Facsimile Number:  (214) 981-0701  
   
if to any Sunoco Issuer, at the following address or facsimile number for Sunoco LP:  
   
Sunoco LP  
555 East Airtex Drive  
Houston, Texas 77073  
Attention:  General Counsel  
Facsimile Number:  (361) 693-3725  
   
if to Guarantor, at the following address or facsimile number for Guarantor:  
   
ETP Retail Holdings, LLC  
3738 Oak Lawn Avenue  
Dallas, Texas 75219  
Attention:  General Counsel  
Facsimile Number:  (214) 981-0701  
   

or at such other address or number as shall be designated by the Support Provider, any Sunoco Issuer or Guarantor in a notice to the other 
Parties to this Agreement.  All such communications shall be deemed to have been duly given:  (A)  in the case of a notice sent by regular mail, 
on the date actually received by the addressee; (B)  in the case of a notice sent by registered or certified mail, on the date receipted for (or 
refused) on the return receipt; (C)  in the case of a notice delivered by hand, when personally delivered; (D)  in the case of a notice sent by 
facsimile, upon transmission subject to telephone confirmation of receipt; and (E)  in the case of a notice sent by overnight mail or overnight 
courier service, the date delivered at the designated address, in each case given or addressed as aforesaid.  
   

16.                                Separability .  Should any clause, sentence, paragraph, subsection or section of this Agreement be judicially declared to be 
invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such decision will not have the effect of invalidating or voiding the remainder of this 
Agreement, and the part or parts of this Agreement so held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable will be deemed to have been stricken 
herefrom, and the remainder will have the same force and effectiveness as if such stricken part or parts had never been included herein.  

   
17.                                Counterparts .  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties hereto in separate 

counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the 
same agreement; signature pages may be detached from multiple separate counterparts and attached to  
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a single counterpart so that all signatures are physically attached to the same counterpart.  Delivery of an executed signature page by facsimile 
or electronic transmission shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart.  
   

18.                                Section Headings .  Section headings appearing herein are included solely for convenience of reference and are not intended 
to affect the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.  

   
19.                                Entire Agreement .  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter 

hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, oral or written, between the Parties related thereto.  
   
20.                                Governing Law .  THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO APPLICABLE PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS 
TO THE EXTENT THE LAWS OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION WOULD BE REQUIRED THEREBY.  

   
21.                                Consent to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial .  The Parties irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of any New 

York State court or federal court of the United States of America sitting in New York County, and any appellate court from any thereof, for the 
purposes of any proceeding arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby (and each agrees that no such proceeding 
relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby shall be brought by it except in such courts).  The Parties irrevocably and 
unconditionally waive (and agree not to plead or claim) any objection to the laying of venue of any proceeding arising out of this Agreement or 
the transactions contemplated hereby in any New York State court or federal court of the United States of America sitting in New York County, 
and any appellate court from any thereof, or that any such proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum.  
Each of the Parties also agrees that any final and non appealable judgment against a Party in connection with any proceeding shall be 
conclusive and binding on such Party and that such award or judgment may be enforced in any court of competent jurisdiction, either within or 
outside of the United States.  A certified or exemplified copy of such award or judgment shall be conclusive evidence of the fact and amount of 
such award or judgment.  TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING TO 
ENFORCE OR TO DEFEND ANY RIGHTS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE TRIED BEFORE A COURT AND NOT BEFORE A 
JURY.  

   
[Signature Page Follows]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement is duly executed and delivered by the authorized signatories set forth below, to be 

effective as of the Effective Date.  
   

   
Signature Page to Support Agreement  
   

 

   
ATLANTIC REFINING & MARKETING CORP.  

      
      
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  

   
   

Title:  
   

      
      
   

SUNOCO LP  
      
   

By:   Sunoco GP LLC, its general partner  
      
      
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  

   
   

Title:  
   

      
      
   

SUNOCO FINANCE CORP.  
      
      
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  

   
   

Title:  
   

      
      
   

ETP RETAIL HOLDINGS, LLC  
      
      
   

By:  
   

   
Name:  

   
   

Title:  
   



   
EXHIBIT A  

   
GUARANTEE OF COLLECTION  

   



Exhibit 23.1 
   

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS   
   

We have issued our report dated March 16, 2015, with respect to the consolidated and combined financial statements of Sunoco, LLC as of 
December 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the years then ended included in this Current Report of Sunoco LP on Form 8-K.  We hereby consent to 
the incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration Statements of Sunoco LP on Form S-3 (File No. 333-192335) and on Form S-8 
(File No. 333-184035).  
   

   

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP  
   

      
Dallas, Texas  

   

March 23, 2015  
   



Exhibit 99.1 
NEWS RELEASE  

   

   
Sunoco LP and Energy Transfer Partners Announce  

$816 Million Dropdown of Interest in Fuel Distribution Business  
   

•                   Transaction to give SUN greater geographic and channel diversification  
   
•                   Transaction is immediately cash flow accretive to SUN and ETP  
   
•                   Anticipated drop downs continue on overall expected timing schedule  
   

HOUSTON and DALLAS , March 23, 2015 - Sunoco LP (NYSE: SUN) and Energy Transfer Partners, L.P. (NYSE: ETP) announced today 
the second dropdown of a portion of ETP’s retail business to SUN.  
   
SUN has agreed to acquire from ETP Retail Holdings, an affiliate of ETP, a 31.58 percent equity interest in Sunoco, LLC, which distributes 
approximately 5.3 billion gallons per year of motor fuel to customers in the east, midwest and southeast regions of the U.S. The transaction is 
valued at approximately $816 million.  SUN will pay $775 million in cash and issue $40.8 million of SUN common units to ETP Retail 
Holdings, based on the five-day volume-weighted average price of SUN’s common units as of March 20, 2015.  SUN expects to fund the 
acquisition using proceeds from the private offering of senior notes that was also announced in a separate news release today.  
   
Sunoco, LLC distributes motor fuels across more than 26 states in the east, midwest and southeast regions of the United States to:  
   

•                   Sunoco Inc. (owned by ETP) for resale at 440 company-operated Sunoco and APlus branded convenience stores and other retail fuel 
outlets.  

   
•                   882 Sunoco-branded dealer locations under long-term fuel supply agreements.  
   
•                   Other fuel distributors of Sunoco-branded fuel that supply an additional 3,640 third-party retail fuel outlets.  
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•                   Approximately 400 other commercial customers under spot or short-term contracts.  
   

Management expects that substantially all of the income from SUN’s interest in Sunoco, LLC will be qualifying income.  
   
The transaction is expected to close in April, subject to customary closing conditions and completion of financing arrangements. It is expected 
to be immediately accretive to distributable cash flow of both SUN and ETP for 2015 and beyond.  
   
“This transaction gives us new exposure to customers in 26 states from Maine to Florida to Louisiana, where the Sunoco fuel brand is very 
strong, complementing our current base of wholesale customers in the Southwest and Hawaii,” said Robert W. Owens, President and Chief 
Executive Officer of Sunoco LP. “We will also enhance our sales channel portfolio with additional jobbers — who supply fuel to independent 
retailers — in our mix of customers,” he said.  
   
For additional information on the transaction and pro forma financial information, please refer to filings made by SUN and ETP today on 
Form 8-K with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.  
   
Sunoco LP (NYSE: SUN) is a master limited partnership (MLP) that primarily distributes motor fuel to convenience stores, independent 
dealers, commercial customers and distributors. SUN also operates more than 150 convenience stores and retail fuel sites.  SUN’s general 
partner is a wholly owned subsidiary of ETP. While primarily engaged in natural gas, natural gas liquids, crude oil and refined products 
transportation, ETP also operates a retail business with a network of more than 5,500 company or independently operated retail fuel outlets and 
convenience stores through its wholly owned subsidiaries, Sunoco, Inc. and Stripes LLC.  For more information, visit the Sunoco LP website at 
www.SunocoLP.com.  
   
Energy Transfer Partners, L.P. (NYSE: ETP) is a master limited partnership owning and operating one of the largest and most diversified 
portfolios of energy assets in the United States. ETP currently owns and operates approximately 35,500 miles of natural gas and natural gas 
liquids pipelines. ETP owns 100% of Panhandle Eastern Pipe Line Company, LP (the successor of Southern Union Company) and a 70% 
interest in Lone Star NGL LLC, a joint venture that owns and operates natural gas liquids storage, fractionation and transportation assets. ETP 
also owns the general partner, 100% of the incentive distribution rights, and approximately 67.1 million common units in Sunoco Logistics 
Partners L.P. (NYSE: SXL), which operates a geographically diverse portfolio of crude oil and refined products pipelines, terminalling and 
crude oil acquisition and marketing assets. ETP owns 100% of Sunoco, Inc. and 100% of Susser Holdings Corporation. Additionally, ETP 
owns the general partner, 100% of the  
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incentive distribution rights and approximately 43% of the limited partner interests in Sunoco LP (NYSE: SUN) (formerly Susser Petroleum 
Partners LP), a wholesale fuel distributor and convenience store operator. ETP’s general partner is owned by ETE. For more information, visit 
the Energy Transfer Partners, L.P. web site at www.energytransfer.com.  
   
Forward-Looking Statements  
   
This news release contains “forward-looking statements” which may describe Sunoco LP’s (“SUN”) objectives, expected results of operations, 
targets, plans, strategies, costs, anticipated capital expenditures, potential acquisitions, new store openings and/or new dealer locations, 
management’s expectations, beliefs or goals regarding proposed transactions between ETP and SUN, the expected timing of those transactions 
and the future financial and/or operating impact of those transactions, including the anticipated integration process and any related benefits, 
opportunities or synergies.  These statements are based on current plans, expectations and projections and involve a number of risks and 
uncertainties that could cause actual results and events to vary materially, including but not limited to: execution, integration, environmental 
and other risks related to acquisitions (including the Sunoco, LLC drop-down, and future drop-downs) and our overall acquisition strategy; 
competitive pressures from convenience stores, gasoline stations, other non-traditional retailers and other wholesale fuel distributors located in 
SUN’s and Sunoco, LLC’s markets; dangers inherent in storing and transporting motor fuel; SUN’s or Sunoco, LLC’s ability to renew or 
renegotiate long-term distribution contracts with customers; changes in the price of and demand for motor fuel; changing consumer preferences 
for alternative fuel sources or improvement in fuel efficiency; competition in the wholesale motor fuel distribution industry; seasonal trends; 
severe or unfavorable weather conditions; increased costs; environmental laws and regulations; dangers inherent in the storage of motor fuel; 
reliance on suppliers to provide trade credit terms to adequately fund ongoing operations; acts of war and terrorism; dependence on information 
technology systems; SUN’s and ETP’s ability to consummate any proposed transactions, or to satisfy the conditions precedent to the 
consummation of such transactions; successful development and execution of integration plans; ability to realize anticipated synergies or cost-
savings and the potential impact of the transactions on employee, supplier, customer and competitor relationships; and other unforeseen factors. 
For a full discussion of these and other risks and uncertainties, refer to the “Risk Factors” section of SUN’s and ETP’s most recently filed 
annual reports on Form 10-K. These forward-looking statements are based on and include our estimates as of the date hereof. Subsequent 
events and market developments could cause our estimates to change. While we may elect to update these forward-looking statements at some 
point in the future, we specifically disclaim any obligation to do so, even if new information becomes available, except as may be required by 
applicable law.  
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Contacts  
   

   
# # #  

   
4  

Sunoco LP  
   

Energy Transfer Partners, L.P.  
         
Scott Grischow  

   
Brent Ratliff, Vice President, Investor Relations  

Director — Investor Relations and Treasury  
   

(214) 981-0700  
(361) 884-2463, scott.grischow@susser.com  

   
brent.ratliff@energytransfer.com  

         
Dennard-Lascar Associates  

   
Granado Communications  

Anne Pearson  
   

Vicki Granado  
(210) 408-6321, apearson@dennardlascar.com  

   
(214) 599-8785, vicki@granadopr.com  



EXHIBIT 99.2 
   

SUNOCO, LLC BUSINESS  
   

Sunoco, LLC (“Sunoco LLC”) is a Delaware limited liability company formed on June 1, 2014 by Sunoco, Inc. (“Sunoco Inc”) and its 
subsidiaries. Sunoco LLC is primarily engaged in the wholesale distribution of motor fuels across more than 26 states throughout the East 
Coast and Southeast regions of the United States from Maine to Florida and from Florida to Louisiana. Sunoco LLC purchases motor fuel 
through its supply and trading group primarily from independent refiners and major oil companies, along with other major market participants, 
and distributes it to (i) Sunoco R&M for resale at its approximately 440 company-operated Sunoco and APlus branded convenience stores and 
other retail fuel outlets, primarily in the East Coast and Southeast regions of the United States; (ii) 882 Sunoco branded dealer locations 
pursuant to long-term fuel supply agreements; (iii) other wholesale distributors of Sunoco branded fuel that supply to an additional 3,640 
independently operated third-party retail fuel outlets and (iv) approximately 400 other commercial customers on a spot or short-term contract 
basis. Sunoco LLC also receives rental income from approximately 425 properties that it leases or subleases to third-party operators and 
receives income from the manufacture and wholesale sale of race fuels from its Marcus Hook, Pennsylvania manufacturing plant.  

   
In connection with its formation, Sunoco LLC entered into a 10-year motor fuel supply agreement under which Sunoco LLC is the 

exclusive supplier of motor fuel for Sunoco Inc’s company-operated locations at a fixed profit margin of four cents per gallon. In addition, 
Sunoco LLC has entered into a perpetual license agreement with Sunoco Inc providing Sunoco LLC with an exclusive license to be the 
wholesale distributor of Sunoco branded motor fuel. Sunoco LLC’s branded dealer and branded wholesale distributor contracts generally have 
both time and volume commitments that establish contract duration. On average, the branded dealer contracts for third-party sites have an 
initial term of approximately 8 years, with an estimated, volume-weighted term remaining on those contracts of approximately 4 years. These 
contracts typically include (i) delivered pricing that reflects a support level relative to posted street pricing among competition within a zone 
(often referred to as “dealer tank wagon” pricing), or (ii) delivered pricing at the rack rate, plus transportation costs, taxes and a fixed, volume-
based fee. On average, Sunoco LLC’s branded wholesale distributor agreements have an initial term of approximately 9 years, with a volume-
weighted term remaining on those contracts of approximately 5.6 years. These contracts typically provide pricing that is fixed to Sunoco LLC’s 
posted fuel prices at the rack rate, less any appropriate commercial discounts. During the year ended December 31, 2014, Sunoco LLC sold 1.1 
billion gallons of motor fuel to Sunoco Inc’s company-operated locations, 1.2 billion gallons of motor fuel to contracted branded dealers, 2.4 
billion gallons of motor fuel to branded wholesale distributors and 0.6 billion gallons of motor fuel, including race fuel, to other commercial 
customers. As of December 31, 2014, Sunoco LLC received third-party rental income from 99 sites it subleased and 326 sites it leased to third-
party operators and another 326 properties it owned in fee.  

   
Sunoco LLC purchases unbranded motor fuel through its supply and trading group primarily from independent refiners and major oil 

companies, along with other major market participants. Sunoco LLC’s supply organization utilizes various sourcing options that span broad 
geographies, and include pipeline-based, rail, truck and waterborne options, which allows Sunoco LLC to optimize cost and availability of 
supply. We believe that Sunoco LLC has limited exposure to fluctuating commodity prices because it optimizes its sourcing options, generally 
passes the cost of the fuel that it distributes through to its customers and otherwise hedges its physical inventory to minimize commodity 
market risk.  

   
For the year ended December 31, 2014, Sunoco LLC estimates that approximately 99.9% of the gross profit generated by Sunoco LLC 

constituted “qualifying income” within the meaning of Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.  
   
For the year ended December 31, 2014, Sunoco LLC generated Adjusted EBITDA of approximately $307 million and net income of 

approximately $37 million. Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2014, Sunoco Inc accounted for approximately 14% of Sunoco 
LLC’s gross margins and 20% of Sunoco LLC’s motor fuel volumes sold.  

   
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS  

   
Revolving Credit Facility Commitments  
   

Our revolving credit facility includes an accordion feature that allows us to increase the commitments thereunder from $1.25 billion to 
up to $1.5 billion.  We expect to exercise this accordion feature and request a $250 million increase in our revolving credit facility 
commitments.  We expect that the administrative agent under our revolving credit facility will arrange a syndicate of lenders willing to hold the 
requested incremental revolving commitments, but there can be no assurance that the administrative agent will be successful in arranging 
commitments for this incremental facility.  

   
PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

   
The summary pro forma financial information presented below is derived from our unaudited pro forma combined financial 

statements. The pro forma financial information gives effect to (i) the consummation of our acquisitions of Mid-Atlantic Convenience Stores, 
LLC in October 2014 and Aloha Petroleum, Ltd. in December 2014 and the related financings and (ii) the consummation of our pending 
acquisition of Sunoco LLC and the related financing with a combination of debt and the issuance to ETP Retail of 795,482 million common 
units representing limited partner interests in us.  The unaudited pro forma financial information is based on certain assumptions and do not 
purport to be indicative of the results which actually would have been achieved if the proposed transactions listed above had been 
consummated on the dates indicated or of results that may be achieved in the future.  
   

 



   

   

(1)                                 We define EBITDA as net income before net interest expense, income tax expense and depreciation, amortization and accretion 
expense. Adjusted EBITDA further adjusts EBITDA to reflect certain other non-recurring and non-cash items, including adjustments 
for unrealized gains and losses on commodity derivatives and inventory fair value adjustments. We define distributable cash flow as 
Adjusted EBITDA less cash interest expense, current income tax expense, maintenance capital expenditures and other non-cash 
adjustments. EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow are not financial measures calculated in accordance with 
GAAP. The following table presents a reconciliation of net income to EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and distributable cash flow:  

   

   

(a)                                  Adjustment includes MACS’ recasted results of operations for the period September 1, 2014 through September 30, 2014 (the date of 
common control), as further adjusted for depreciation, amortization and accretion, interest expense, income tax expense and other non-
cash items, in accordance with the Adjusted EBITDA definition.  

   

      Historical  
   Pro Forma  

   
      Predecessor  

   Combined  
         

      Year Ended  
         Year Ended  

   

      
December 31,  

2012(2)  
   

December 31,  
2013  

   2014(3)  
   

December 31,  
2014  

   
      (in thousands, except gross profit per gallon)  

   
                  (unaudited)  

   (unaudited)  
   

Other Financial Data:  
                       

Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Sunoco LP(1)  
   31,695 

   51,884 
   122,313 

   307,218 
   

Distributable cash flow attributable to Sunoco LP(1)  
   10,457 

   47,678 
   92,488 

   196,517 
   

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges  
   11.92x 

   9.47x 
   4.38x 

   2.61x 
   

Operating Data:  
                       

Total motor fuel gallons sold  
   1,449,946 

   1,571,034 
   2,011,963 

   4,145,415 
   

Average motor fuel gross profit per gallon  
   2.8¢ 

   3.7¢ 
   7.0¢ 

   9.6¢ 
   

      Historical  
   Pro Forma  

   
      Predecessor  

   Combined  
         

      January 1, 2012  
   September 25, 2012  

   Year Ended  
   Year Ended  

   

      
through  

September 24, 2012  
   

through  
December 31, 2012  

   
December 31,  

2013  
   2014  

   
December 31,  

2014  
   

      (in thousands)  
   

                        (unaudited)  
   (unaudited)  

   
Net income  

   $ 8,420 
   $ 9,150 

   $ 37,027 
   $ 57,786 

   $ 123,215 
   

Depreciation, amortization and accretion  
   5,735 

   1,296 
   8,687 

   26,955 
   108,014 

   
Interest expense, net  

   269 
   540 

   3,471 
   14,329 

   77,452 
   

Income tax expense (benefit)  
   4,809 

   224 
   440 

   2,352 
   12,158 

   
EBITDA  

   19,233 
   11,210 

   49,625 
   101,422 

   320,839 
   

Non-cash compensation expense  
   810 

   101 
   1,935 

   6,080 
   7,128 

   
Loss on disposal of assets and impairment 

charge  
   229 

   112 
   324 

   2,631 
   717 

   
Unrealized gains on commodity derivatives  

   —
   —

   —
   (1,433 )  (932 ) 

Inventory fair value adjustments  
   —

   —
   —

   13,613 
   189,818 

   
Adjusted EBITDA  

   $ 20,272 
   $ 11,423 

   $ 51,884 
   $ 122,313 

   $ 517,570 
   

Adjusted EBITDA attributable to 
noncontrolling interest  

   —
   —

   —
   —

   (210,352 ) 
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to Sunoco 

LP  
   $ 20,272 

   $ 11,423 
   $ 51,884 

   $ 122,313 
   $ 307,218 

   
Cash interest expense  

        439 
   3,090 

   12,029 
   73,464 

   
Income tax expense (current)  

        71 
   302 

   3,275 
   13,081 

   
Maintenance capital expenditures  

        456 
   814 

   5,196 
   16,917 

   
MACS acquisition adjustment(a)  

        —
   —

   8,282 
   8,282 

   
Earnings attributable to noncontrolling 

interest  
        —

   —
   1,043 

   (1,043 ) 
Distributable cash flow attributable to 

Sunoco LP  
        $ 10,457 

   $ 46,678 
   $ 92,488 

   $ 196,517 
   



Exhibit 99.3 
   

Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants  
   

The Board of Directors  
Sunoco, LLC  
   

We have audited the accompanying consolidated and combined financial statements of Sunoco, LLC (a Delaware Limited Liability 
Company), which comprise the consolidated and combined balance sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated and combined 
financial statements.  

   
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements  
   

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and combined financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated and combined financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

   
Auditor’s responsibility  
   

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and combined financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and combined financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.  

   
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated and combined 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated and combined financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and combined financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated and combined financial statements.  

   
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  
   

Opinion  
   

In our opinion, the consolidated and combined financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Sunoco, LLC as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

   
/s/ Grant Thornton LLP  
Dallas, Texas  
March 16, 2015  
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Sunoco, LLC  

   
Consolidated and Combined Balance Sheets  

   
(Dollars in millions)  

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated and combined financial statements.  
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December 31,  

2014  
   

December 31,  
2013  

   
ASSETS  

             
Current Assets:  

             
Cash  

   $ —
   $ —

   
Advances to affiliated companies  

   396 
   141 

   
Accounts receivable, net  

   130 
   156 

   
Accounts receivable, affiliated companies  

   54 
   —

   
Inventories (See Note 3)  

   276 
   466 

   
Other current assets  

   41 
   30 

   
Total current assets  

   897 
   793 

   
Property, plant and equipment  

   441 
   402 

   
Accumulated depreciation and amortization  

   (46 )  (24 )  
      395 

   378 
   

Intangible assets, net  
   186 

   190 
   

Other non-current assets  
   2 

   1 
   

Total assets  
   $ 1,480 

   $ 1,362 
   

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  
             

Current Liabilities:  
             

Accounts payable  
   $ 197 

   $ 248 
   

Accounts payable, affiliated companies  
   141 

   60 
   

Accrued and other current liabilities  
   193 

   189 
   

Deferred income taxes, current portion  
   —

   128 
   

Total current liabilities  
   531 

   625 
   

Deferred income taxes, non-current portion  
   —

   168 
   

Other deferred credits and liabilities  
   2 

   —
   

Total liabilities  
   533 

   793 
   

Equity:  
             

Members’ equity  
   947 

   569 
   

Total equity  
   947 

   569 
   

Total liabilities and equity  
   $ 1,480 

   $ 1,362 
   



   
Sunoco, LLC  

   
Consolidated and Combined Statements of Comprehensive Income  

   
(Dollars in millions)  

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated and combined financial statements.  
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Years Ended  
December 31,  

   
      2014  

   2013  
   

Revenues:  
             

Sales and other operating revenue  
   $ 12,720 

   $ 14,543 
   

Sales to affiliates  
   2,907 

   3,079 
   

Consumer excise taxes  
   1,715 

   1,719 
   

Total revenues  
   17,342 

   19,341 
   

Costs and expenses:  
             

Cost of products sold (See Note 3)  
   11,100 

   11,767 
   

Purchases from affiliates  
   4,229 

   5,447 
   

Operating expenses  
   133 

   127 
   

Consumer excise taxes  
   1,715 

   1,719 
   

Selling, general and administrative  
   34 

   32 
   

Depreciation and amortization  
   51 

   48 
   

Total costs and expenses  
   17,262 

   19,140 
   

Operating income  
   80 

   201 
   

Gain (loss) on disposal of assets  
   2 

   (1 )  
Income before income tax expense  

   82 
   200 

   
Income tax expense  

   45 
   66 

   
Net income  

   $ 37 
   $ 134 

   



   
Sunoco, LLC  

   
Consolidated and Combined Statements of Equity  

   
(Dollars in millions)  

   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated and combined financial statements.  
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Members’   

Equity  
   

Balance, December 31, 2012  
   $ 360 

   
Contributions from Sunoco (See Note 7)  

   75 
   

Net income  
   134 

   
Balance, December 31, 2013  

   569 
   

Contributions from Sunoco (See Note 7)  
   341 

   
Net income  

   37 
   

Balance, December 31, 2014  
   $ 947 

   



   
Sunoco, LLC  

   
Consolidated and Combined Statements of Cash Flows  

   
(Dollars in millions)  

   
   
   

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated and combined financial statements.  
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Years Ended  
December 31,  

   
      2014  

   2013  
   

Cash flows from operating activities:  
             

Net income  
   $ 37 

   $ 134 
   

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:  
             

Depreciation and amortization  
   51 

   48 
   

Deferred income taxes  
   12 

   (9 )  
LIFO valuation adjustment  

   176 
   (3 )  

Net change in operating assets and liabilities:  
             

Accounts receivable, net  
   26 

   153 
   

Accounts receivable, affiliated companies  
   (54 )  —

   
Inventories  

   14 
   37 

   
Accounts payable  

   (51 )  16 
   

Accounts payable, affiliated companies  
   81 

   (48 )  
Accrued and other current liabilities  

   4 
   6 

   
Other operating  

   (10 )  1 
   

Net cash provided by operating activities  
   286 

   335 
   

Cash flows from investing activities:  
             

Capital expenditures  
   (71 )  (36 )  

Proceeds from dispositions  
   7 

   8 
   

Net cash used in investing activities  
   (64 )  (28 )  

Cash flows from financing activities:  
             

Affiliates—Sunoco, Inc.  
   (222 )  (307 )  

Net cash used in financing activities  
   (222 )  (307 )  

Change in cash  
   —

   —
   

Cash, beginning of period  
   —

   —
   

Cash, end of period  
   $ —

   $ —
   

Non-Cash Transactions:  
             

Non-cash contribution (See Note 7)  
   $ 341 

   $ 75 
   



   
Sunoco, LLC  

   
Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements  

   
(Dollars in millions)  

   
1. Operations and Organization:  
   

Sunoco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, (the “Company,” “we” or “our”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of ETP Retail 
Holdings, LLC (“Retail Holdings”) which is a subsidiary of Energy Transfer Partners, L.P. (“ETP”). The Company was formed by 
Sunoco, Inc. (“Sunoco”) on June 1, 2014, at which time Sunoco contributed certain retail assets (the “Contributed Assets”) of its subsidiaries to 
the Company. Pursuant to the contribution agreement, Sunoco contributed substantially all of its wholesale motor fuel distribution business 
which included:  

   
•                   dealer, distributor and fuel supply agreements,  
   
•                   fuel supply agreements to distribute motor fuel to Sunoco convenience stores and other retail fuel outlets,  
   
•                   real property owned in fee,  
   
•                   leases and subleases under which it was a tenant, and  
   
•                   leases and subleases under which it was a landlord.  
   
All of the Contributed Assets were recorded at Sunoco’s book value as this transaction is considered to be a reorganization of entities 

under common control. The Contributed Assets are qualifying for purposes of tax status determinations. Sunoco subsequently contributed its 
interest in the Company to Retail Holdings.  

   
The Company is primarily engaged in the wholesale distribution of motor fuels to Sunoco and third parties across 26 states. Sunoco 

operates approximately 440 convenience stores and retail fuel outlets under the proprietary Sunoco brand, primarily in the east coast and 
southeast regions of the United States. The Company also distributes motor fuel to approximately 4,500 Sunoco-branded retail fuel outlets 
operated by third parties under long-term contracts. The Company also supplies approximately 400 other commercial customers on a spot or 
short-term contract basis.  

   
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:  
   
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation  
   

The consolidated and combined financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The consolidated and combined financial statements of 
the Company include accounts of all wholly-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  

   
On October 5, 2012, Sunoco was acquired by Energy Transfer Partners, L.P. (“ETP”). As a result of this transaction, Sunoco became a 

consolidated entity of ETP and applied “push-down” accounting, which required its assets and liabilities to be adjusted to fair value on the 
closing date, October 5, 2012. The Contributed Assets were adjusted accordingly.  

   
ETP management, along with the assistance of a third party valuation firm, determined the estimated fair value of its assets and 

liabilities as of the date of acquisition by ETP. The following table summarizes the final allocation of the assets and liabilities of the Company:  
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October 5,  

2012  
   

Current assets  
   $ 1,037 

   
Property, plant and equipment  

   381 
   

Intangible assets  
   184 

   
Current liabilities  

   (1,070 ) 
Total assets and liabilities  

   $ 532 
   



   
The final allocation of the assets and liabilities attributed to the Company as of October 5, 2012 was determined based on the 

Company’s percentage of Sunoco consolidated assets and liabilities.  
   
The accompanying consolidated and combined financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Regulation S-X, Article 3, 

General Instructions to Financial Statements , and Staff Bulletin (“SAB”) Topic 1B., Allocation of Expenses and Related Disclosures in 
Financial Statements of Subsidiaries, Divisions or Lesser Business Components of Another Entity .  

   
The accompanying financial statements reflect the Company and its subsidiaries beginning upon the formation of the Company; all 

prior periods reflect the Contributed Assets on a combined basis.  
   
For the periods prior to the formation of the Company on June 1, 2014, the combined financial statements reflect the operations and 

financial position of the Contributed Assets. Certain expenses incurred by Sunoco are only indirectly attributable to the Contributed Assets. As 
a result, certain assumptions and estimates are made in order to allocate a reasonable share of such expenses to the Contributed Assets, so that 
the accompanying consolidated and combined financial statements reflect substantially all costs of doing business.  

   
The Company has allocated various corporate overhead expenses to the Contributed Assets based on percentage of property, plant and 

equipment, cost of goods sold, margin and headcount. These allocations are not necessarily indicative of the cost that the Contributed Assets 
would have incurred by operating as an independent stand-alone entity. As such, the consolidated and combined financial statements may not 
fully reflect what the Contributed Assets’ financial position, results of operations and cash flows would have been had the Contributed Assets 
operated as a stand-alone company during the periods presented.  

   
Use of Estimates  
   

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

   
Cash  
   

The Company considers cash and cash equivalents to include investments with original maturities of three months or less. As of 
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the Company held cash and restricted cash that, at times, may be uninsured or in deposit accounts 
that exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance limit.  

   
Accounts Receivable  
   

The Company extends credit to customers after a review of various credit indicators. Depending on the type of customer and its risk 
profile, security in the form of prepayments, letter of credit or mortgages may be required. Management records reserves for bad debt by 
computing a proportion of average write-off activity over the past five years in comparison to the outstanding balance in accounts receivable. 
This proportion is then applied to the accounts receivable balance at the end of the reporting period to calculate a current estimate of what is 
uncollectible. The allowance computation may then be adjusted to reflect input provided by the credit department and business line managers 
who may have specific knowledge of uncollectible items. The credit department and business line managers make the decision to write off an 
account, based on understanding of the potential collectability.  

   
Inventories  
   

Fuel inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Fuel inventory cost is determined using the last-in, first-out method 
(“LIFO”). Under this methodology, the cost of fuel sold consists of actual acquisition cost, which includes transportation and storage costs. 
Such costs are adjusted to reflect increases or decreases in inventory quantities which are valued based on changes in the LIFO inventory 
layers.  

   
At December 31, 2014 and 2013, a lower of cost or market adjustment was applied to fuel inventories due to a decline in commodity 

prices. The write down was calculated based upon current replacement costs. See Note 3 for additional information.  
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Property and Equipment  
   

Property and equipment, including leasehold improvements, are carried at cost or at the fair value of the assets as of the acquisition 
date, if acquired as part of a business combination. Depreciation for financial reporting purposes is computed by the straight-line method over 
the shorter of estimated useful asset lives or lease terms of the respective assets.  

   
Impairment of Long-lived Assets  
   

The Company reviews long-lived assets, including definite-lived intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in 
business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. An asset is considered impaired when the 
undiscounted estimated net cash flows expected to be generated by an asset are less than its carrying amount. The impairment recognized is the 
amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the estimated value of the impaired asset.  

   
Revenue Recognition  
   

The Company derives its revenue from the sale of fuel. Revenue is recognized at the time of sale or when fuel is delivered to the 
customer.  

   
Refined product exchange transactions, which are entered into primarily to acquire refined products of a desired quantity or at a 

desired location, are netted in cost of products sold in the consolidated and combined statements of operations.  
   

Motor Fuel Taxes  
   

Consumer excise taxes on sales of refined products are included in both revenues and costs and expenses in the consolidated and 
combined statements of operations, with no effect on net income.  

   
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities  
   

From time to time, the Company uses futures, forwards and other derivative instruments to hedge a variety of price risks. Such 
derivative instruments are used to achieve ratable pricing to convert certain expected refined product purchases to fixed or floating prices, to 
lock in what the Company considers to be acceptable margins for various refined products.  

   
While all of these derivative instruments represent economic hedges, these derivatives are not designated as hedges for accounting 

purposes. Such derivatives include certain contracts that were entered into and closed during the same accounting period and contracts for 
which there is not sufficient correlation to the related items being economically hedged.  

   
All of these derivatives are recognized in the balance sheets at their fair value. Changes in fair value of derivative instruments that 

have not been designated as hedges for accounting purposes are recognized in net income as they occur.  
   

Income Taxes  
   

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method as if the Company were a separate taxpayer during the period that 
its operations were included as part of a federal consolidated tax return filing group with its parent company. Under this method, deferred tax 
assets and liabilities of the Company are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using 
enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax 
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rate is recognized in earnings in the period that includes the enactment date.  

   
Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts more likely than not to be realized. 

The determination of the provision for income taxes requires significant judgment, use of estimates, and the interpretation and application of 
complex tax laws. Significant judgment is required in assessing the timing and amounts of deductible and taxable items and the probability of 
sustaining uncertain tax positions. The benefits of uncertain tax positions are recorded in our financial statements only after determining a 
more-likely-than-not probability that the uncertain tax positions will withstand challenge, if any, from taxing authorities. Then, the tax benefit 
recognized is the largest amount of benefit, determined on a cumulative probability basis, which is more likely than not to be realized upon 
ultimate  

   
F-8  

 



   
settlement. When facts and circumstances change, we reassess these probabilities and record any changes through the provision for income 
taxes.  

   
Under the separate entity method, the Company is assumed to file a separate return with the taxing authority, thereby reporting its 

taxable income or loss and paying the applicable tax to or receiving the appropriate refund from its parent. However, since there is no tax-
sharing agreement in place between the Company and its parent, any taxes payable or receivable on current taxable income or loss at the end of 
each reporting date is treated as a capital contribution or dividend.  

   
On June 1, 2014, the Company was re-structured to become treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes. Since 

income taxes are not provided for partnerships, no income taxes are reflected in the financial statements for operations conducted subsequent to 
this date. Also, since there is no tax-sharing agreement providing for the payment or refund of income taxes on the date the operations were 
contributed to the partnership, any remaining current or deferred taxes payable or receivable as of this date are treated as a capital contribution 
or dividend. Similarly, all liabilities related to uncertain income tax liabilities are treated as capital contributions as of June 1, 2014.  

   
Fair Value Measurements  
   

The Company uses fair value measurements to measure, among other items, purchased assets and derivative contracts. The Company 
also uses such measurements to assess impairment of properties, equipment and intangible assets. The guidance does not apply to inventory 
pricing.  

   
We determine the fair value of our assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurement by using the highest possible “level” of 

inputs. Level 1 inputs are observable quotes in an active market for identical assets and liabilities. We consider the valuation of commodity 
derivatives transacted through a clearing broker with a published price from the appropriate exchange as a Level 1 valuation. Level 2 inputs are 
inputs observable for similar assets and liabilities. Level 3 inputs are unobservable.  

   
Fair Value of Financial Instruments  
   

The carrying amounts recorded for cash, accounts receivable, certain other current assets, accounts payable, and accrued expenses and 
other current liabilities in the consolidated and combined financial statements approximate fair value because of the short-term maturity of the 
instruments.  

   
3. Inventories:  
   

Inventories consisted of the following:  
   

   
As a result of declining commodity prices and increases in costs of goods sold, the Company recorded write downs to fuel inventory 

in the amounts of $176 and $70 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The total carrying value of the 
Company’s fuel inventories was less than average cost by approximately $24 million at December 31,2014. The total carrying amount of the 
Company’s fuel inventories approximated average cost at December 31, 2013.  

   
4. Property, Plant and Equipment:  
   

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:  
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December 31,  

2014  
   

December 31,  
2013  

   
Refined distillate  

   $ 99 
   $ 153 

   
Refined gasoline  

   158 
   294 

   
Other refined products  

   19 
   19 

   
Total inventories  

   $ 276 
   $ 466 

   

      
December 31,  

2014  
   

December 31,  
2013  

   
Land  

   $ 198 
   $ 198 

   
Buildings and improvements (useful lives of 2 - 45 years)  

   148 
   121 

   
Equipment (useful lives of 2 - 20 years)  

   59 
   57 

   
Construction work-in-process  

   36 
   26 

   
      441 

   402 
   

Less—Accumulated depreciation  
   (46 )  (24 ) 

Property, plant and equipment, net  
   $ 395 

   $ 378 
   



   
Total depreciation expense on property, plant and equipment included in depreciation and amortization consisted of the following:  

   

   
5. Intangible Assets, Net:  
   

The Company has finite-lived intangible assets that are amortized over the respective lives of the agreement or over the period of time 
the assets are expected to contribute directly or indirectly to the Company’s future cash flows. Intangible assets consisted of the following:  
   

   
Total amortization expense on finite-lived intangibles included in depreciation and amortization consisted of the following:  

   

   
Amortization of intangibles included in depreciation and amortization is estimated for the next five years to be:  

   

   
6. Accrued and Other Current Liabilities:  
   

Accrued and other current liabilities consisted of the following:  
   

   
F-10  

 

      
Years Ended  
December 31,  

   
      2014  

   2013  
   

Reported in depreciation and amortization  
   $ 26 

   $ 25 
   

      December 31, 2014  
   December 31, 2013  

   

      
Gross Carrying  

Amount  
   

Accumulated  
Amortization  

   
Gross Carrying  

Amount  
   

Accumulated  
Amortization  

   
Amortizable intangible assets:  

                       
Customer relationships, contracts and agreements (5 to 

11 years)  
   $ 257 

   $ (71 )  $ 237 
   $ (47 ) 

Total amortizable intangible assets  
   $ 257 

   $ (71 )  $ 237 
   $ (47 ) 

Total intangible assets  
   $ 257 

   $ (71 )  $ 237 
   $ (47 ) 

      
Years Ended  
December 31,  

   
      2014  

   2013  
   

Reported in depreciation and amortization  
   $ 26 

   $ 23 
   

Years Ending December 31:  
         

2015  
   $ 26 

   
2016  

   26 
   

2017  
   26 

   
2018  

   26 
   

2019  
   26 

   

      
December 31,  

2014  
   

December 31,  
2013  

   
Customer advances and deposits  

   $ 20 
   $ 20 

   
Accrued capital expenditures  

   16 
   16 

   
Accrued wages and benefits  

   8 
   10 

   
Taxes payable other than income taxes  

   104 
   93 

   
Price risk management  

   7 
   3 

   
Other  

   38 
   47 

   
Total accrued and other current liabilities  

   $ 193 
   $ 189 

   



   
7. Income Taxes  
   

The components of the federal and state income tax expense (benefit) were summarized as follows:  
   

   
A reconciliation of income tax expense (benefit) at the U.S. statutory rate to the income tax expense (benefit) attributable to 

continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:  
   

   
Deferred taxes result from the temporary differences between financial reporting carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing assets 

and liabilities. The table below summarizes the principal components of the deferred tax assets (liabilities) as follows:  
   

   
The following table sets forth the changes in unrecognized tax benefits:  
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Years Ended  
December 31,  

   
      2014  

   2013  
   

Current expense (benefit):  
             

Federal  
   $ 28 

   $ 60 
   

State  
   5 

   15 
   

Total  
   33 

   75 
   

Deferred expense (benefit):  
             

Federal  
   $ 10 

   $ (7 ) 
State  

   2 
   (2 ) 

Total  
   12 

   (9 ) 
Total income tax expense  

   $ 45 
   $ 66 

   

      
Years Ended  
December 31,  

   
      2014  

   2013  
   

Income tax expense (benefit) at US statutory rate of 35%  
   $ 29 

   $ 71 
   

Increase (reduction) in income taxes resulting from:  
             

State income taxes (net of federal income tax effects)  
   4 

   8 
   

Domestic manufacturing deduction  
   (1 )  (4 ) 

Biodiesel blending credit  
   9 

   (9 ) 
Losses accruing no tax benefit  

   4 
   —

   
Income tax expense  

   $ 45 
   $ 66 

   

      
December 31,  

2014  
   

December 31,  
2013  

   
Deferred income tax assets:  

             
Provision for losses  

   $ —
   $ 14 

   
Valuation allowance  

   —
   —

   
Net deferred income tax assets  

   —
   14 

   
Deferred income tax liabilities:  

             
Property, plant, and equipment  

   —
   114 

   
Inventories  

   —
   142 

   
Intangible assets  

   —
   54 

   
Total deferred income tax liabilities  

   —
   310 

   
Net deferred income tax liabilities  

   —
   296 

   
Less: current portion of deferred income tax liabilities, net  

   —
   128 

   
Non-current portion of deferred income tax liabilities, net  

   $ —
   $ 168 

   



   

   
The Company has historically included certain government incentive payments as taxable income on its federal and state income tax 

returns. In connection with the Company’s 2004 through 2011 open statute years, its parent has proposed to the IRS that these government 
incentive payments be excluded from federal taxable income. If the Company’s parent is fully successful with its claims, it will receive tax 
refunds of approximately $371 million. However, due to the uncertainty surrounding the claims, a reserve of $371 million was established for 
the full amount of the claims. Due to the timing of the expected settlement of the claims and the related reserve, the receivable and the reserve 
for this issue have been netted in the financial statements as of December 31, 2013. However, since there is no tax sharing agreement in place 
between the Company and its parent, if the claim is successful, the Company will have no claim to any refunds, and accordingly both the 
refund receivable and the reserve liability were treated as capital contributions as of June 1, 2014 upon the re-structuring of the Company as a 
partnership for federal and state income tax purposes.  

   
Our policy is to accrue interest expense and penalties on income tax underpayments (overpayments) as a component of income tax 

expense. During 2014, we did not recognize any interest or penalties due to the offsetting nature of the issue as described above.  
   
The Company’s parent has been examined by the IRS for tax years through 2012. However, statutes remain open for tax years 2007 

and forward due to carryback of net operating losses and/or claims regarding government incentive payments discussed above. All other issues 
are resolved. Though we believe the tax years are closed by statute, tax years 2004 through 2006 are impacted by the carryback of net operating 
losses and under certain circumstances may be impacted by adjustments for government incentive payments. As discussed above, the Company 
has no obligations to or claims against its parent as with respect to any audit adjustments resulting from audit since there is no tax-sharing 
agreement in place.  

   
The Company’s parent also has various state and local income tax returns in the process of examination or administrative appeal in 

various jurisdictions. We believe the appropriate accruals or unrecognized tax benefits have been recorded for any potential assessment with 
respect to these examinations for the period represented in these financial statements. However, as described above, the Company has no 
obligations to or claims against its parent as with respect to any audit adjustments resulting from audit since there is no tax-sharing agreement 
in place.  

   
Pursuant to the treatment of taxes accrued on current earnings under the separate entity method, $75 million and $33 million were 

contributed to capital at the end of 2013 and at June 1, 2014, to extinguish the current tax liabilities. This was recorded as a non-cash 
contribution to equity.  

   
As a result of the restructuring on June 1, 2014, there was an extinguishment of outstanding deferred taxes and uncertain tax liabilities 

in the amount of $309 million. This was recorded as a non-cash contribution to equity.  
   

8. Related Party Transactions:  
   

The Company is a party to supply agreements with Sunoco LP, formerly Susser Petroleum Partners, LP, and Mid-Atlantic 
Convenience Store, LLC. Both entities are consolidated subsidiaries of ETP. The terms of the supply agreements are generally the same terms 
that would be available to unrelated third parties. Receivables to the Company under these agreements are included in accounts receivable, 
affiliated companies in our consolidated and combined balance sheets. Sales under these agreements are included in sales to affiliates in our 
consolidated and combined statements of comprehensive income.  

   
The Company is also a party to a supply agreement with Philadelphia Energy Solutions (“PES”). Sunoco owns a 33% non-operating 

noncontrolling interest in PES. The terms of the supply agreement are generally the same terms that would be available to unrelated third 
parties. Payables to PES under these agreements are included in accounts payable, affiliated companies in our consolidated and combined 
balance sheets. Purchases under these agreements are included in purchases from affiliates in our consolidated and combined statements of 
comprehensive income.  

   
We are party to various agreements with Sunoco Logistics L.P. for pipeline, terminalling and storage services. We also have 

agreements for the purchase and sale of fuel. Receivables and payables under these agreements are included in accounts receivable from and 
accounts payable to affiliated companies. Purchases and sales under these agreements are  
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December 31,  

2014  
   

December 31,  
2013  

   
Balance at beginning of year  

   $ 371 
   $ —

   
Additions attributable to tax positions taken in the current year  

   —
   371 

   
Reductions attributable to tax positions taken in prior years  

   (371 )  —
   

Balance at end of year  
   $ —

   $ 371 
   



   
included in purchases from and sales to affiliates. The terms of these agreements are generally the same terms that would be available to 
unrelated third parties.  

   
The Company is party to a supply agreement with Sunoco. Under this agreement, the Company is the exclusive distributor of motor 

fuel to Sunoco’s existing convenience stores. Pursuant to the agreement, pricing is cost plus a fixed margin of four cents per gallon. Sales under 
this agreement are included in sales to affiliates. There are generally no receivables under this agreement.  

   
The Company has a treasury services agreement with Sunoco. Pursuant to this agreement, the Company participates in Sunoco’s 

centralized cash management program. Under this program, all of the Company’s cash receipts and cash disbursements are processed, together 
with those of Sunoco and its other subsidiaries, through Sunoco’s cash accounts with a corresponding credit or charge to the affiliated account.  

   
9. Leases:  
   

We have certain non-cancelable leases for property and equipment, which require fixed monthly rental payments and expire at various 
dates through 2056. The table below reflects rental expense under these operating leases included in operating expenses in the accompanying 
consolidated and combined statements of comprehensive income and rental expense recovered through related sublease rental income:  
   

   
Future minimum lease commitments for such leases are:  

   

   
10. Subsequent Events  
   

Subsequent events have been evaluated through March 16, 2015, the date the consolidated and combined financial statements were 
available to be issued.  
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Years Ended  
December 31,  

   
      2014  

   2013  
   

Rental expense  
   $ 28 

   $ 29 
   

Less: Sublease rental income  
   (13 )  (10 ) 

Rental expense, net  
   $ 15 

   $ 19 
   

Years Ending December 31:  
         

2015  
   $ 26 

   
2016  

   13 
   

2017  
   11 

   
2018  

   11 
   

2019  
   10 

   
Thereafter  

   113 
   

Future minimum lease commitments  
   184 

   
Less: Sublease rental income  

   (16 ) 
Net future minimum lease commitments  

   $ 168 
   



Exhibit 99.4 
   

SUNOCO LP  
   

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
   

Introduction  
   

The following unaudited pro forma combined financial statements of Sunoco LP (“SUN”), formerly Susser Petroleum Partners LP, 
reflects the pro forma impacts of multiple transactions, each of which is described in the following sections. Our unaudited pro forma financial 
statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014, reflect the following transactions:  

   
•                   The previously reported October 1, 2014 acquisition of Mid-Atlantic Convenience Stores, LLC (“MACS”) from Energy Transfer 

Partners, L.P. (“ETP”), the owner of our general partner and a 42.8% limited partner interest in us, for total consideration 
consisting of (i) $556 million in cash, subject to adjustment for working capital, and (ii) 3,983,540 of our common units (the 
“MACS Acquisition”);  

   
•                   The previously reported December 16, 2014, acquisition of Aloha Petroleum, Ltd. (“Aloha”) for cash consideration of 

$240 million, subject to a post-closing earn-out and certain closing adjustments (the “Aloha Acquisition”); and  
   
•                   The proposed acquisition of a 31.58% interest in Sunoco, LLC from ETP Retail Holdings, LLC (“ETP Retail”), which is wholly 

owned by ETP, for total consideration consisting of approximately $775.0 million in cash and $40.8 million of our common units, 
including the proposed issuance of notes in this offering (the “Sunoco LLC Acquisition”).  

   
The historical financial information included in the column entitled “SUN” was derived from the audited consolidated financial 

statements included in SUN’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. The unaudited pro forma condensed 
combined statement of operations assumes that the above transactions were consummated as of January 1, 2014. The unaudited pro forma 
condensed combined balance sheet assumes that the Sunoco LLC Acquisition was completed as of December 31, 2014. The MACS 
Acquisition and Aloha Acquisition are already reflected in our audited balance sheet as of December 31, 2014. The pro forma results of the 
MACS Acquisition and Aloha Acquisition were previously provided in our Current Report on Form 8-K/A on March 2, 2015.  

   
MACS Acquisition  
   

On September 25, 2014, SUN entered into a contribution agreement with MACS, ETC M-A Acquisition LLC (“ETC”) and ETP, 
whereby SUN agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstanding membership interests of MACS from ETC for $556 million in cash, subject to 
adjustment for working capital, and 3,983,540 SUN common units. SUN initially financed the cash portion of the purchase price by utilizing 
availability under its revolving credit facility, subsequently raising net proceeds of $405 million from the sale of 9.1 million common units 
which were used to repay revolver borrowing. The MACS Acquisition was completed on October 1, 2014.  

   
SUN is accounting for the acquisition of MACS as a transfer of net assets between entities under common control. As such, the 

MACS assets acquired from ETP have been recorded by SUN at ETP’s historic carrying value, and SUN has included the activities of MACS 
in its 2014 audited financial statements as of the September 1, 2014 date of common control for accounting purposes. Financial statements for 
MACS were previously provided as attachments 99.2 and 99.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K/A on October 21, 2014.  

   
Aloha Acquisition  
   

On September 25, 2014, SUN and Susser Petroleum Property Company LLC (“Propco”), a wholly owned subsidiary of SUN, entered 
into a purchase and sale agreement in which SUN and Propco agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of 
Aloha for base consideration of $240 million in cash, subject to a post-closing earn-out and certain closing adjustments. Consummation of the 
Aloha Acquisition occurred on December 16, 2014. SUN financed the purchase of Aloha by utilizing availability under its revolving credit 
facility. SUN’s management currently plans to contribute certain assets from Propco to SUN at a future date; however, the impact of this 
discretionary management action is not included in the accompanying pro forma combined financial information.  
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The pro forma adjustments reflect a preliminary purchase price allocation. The carrying values of assets and liabilities (excluding 

intangibles and non-current liabilities) in this preliminary estimate were assumed to approximate their fair values. Our identifiable intangible 
assets consist primarily of dealer relationships. The amount of goodwill preliminarily recorded represents the excess of our estimated enterprise 
value over the fair value of our assets and liabilities. The value of certain assets and liabilities are preliminary in nature, and are subject to 
adjustment as additional information is obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. As a result, material 
adjustments to this preliminary allocation may occur in the future. Management is reviewing the valuation and confirming the results to 
determine the final purchase price allocation.  

   
Sunoco LLC Acquisition  
   

On March 23, 2015, we entered into a contribution agreement with ETP Retail and ETP to acquire a 31.58% membership interest in 
Sunoco, LLC, for total consideration of $775 million in cash and $40.8 million of our common units. We will have a 50.1% voting interest in 
Sunoco, LLC. The Sunoco LLC Acquisition is expected to close in early April 2015.  

   
SUN will account for the Sunoco LLC Acquisition as a transfer of net assets under common control, and therefore will record the 

acquired assets at ETP’s historic carrying value. Additionally, SUN will recast its historical financial statements to include the operations of 
Sunoco, LLC as of the September 1, 2014 date of common control for accounting purposes. Because we will have a controlling interest in 
Sunoco LLC as a result of our 50.1% voting interest, our pro forma financial results and balance sheet reflect the results of Sunoco LLC on a 
consolidated basis, which means that, except as otherwise indicated, our pro forma financial results and balance sheet reflect 100% of the assets 
and operations of Sunoco LLC, even though our pro forma economic interest is only 31.58%.  

   
Adjustments for the above-listed transactions are presented in in the following schedules, and further described in the notes to the 

unaudited pro forma combined financial statements. Certain information normally included in the financial statements prepared in accordance 
with GAAP has been condensed or omitted in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. The unaudited pro forma combined 
financial statements and accompanying notes should be read in conjunction with the historical financial statements and related notes thereto.  

   
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements do not purport to be indicative of the results of operations or 

financial position that we actually would have achieved if the transactions had been consummated on the dates indicated, nor do they project 
our results of operations or financial position for any future period or date.  
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SUNOCO LP  

   
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEE T  

   
As of December 31, 2014  

   
(Dollars in thousands)  
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      Historical  
   

Pro Forma  
Adjustments  

         Pro Forma  
  

      SUN  
   Sunoco LLC  

   Sunoco LLC  
         Combined  

  

ASSETS:  
                            

Cash and cash equivalents  
   $ 67,151 

   $ —
   $ —

         $ 67,151 
  

Advances to affiliated companies  
   —

   396,376 
   (389,376 )  (k)  

   7,000 
  

Accounts receivable, net of allowance  
   64,082 

   129,598 
   —

         193,680 
  

Accounts receivable affiliates  
   36,716 

   54,316 
   (66,291 )  (k)  

   24,741 
  

Inventories, net  
   48,646 

   276,408 
   —

         325,054 
  

Other current assets  
   8,546 

   40,735 
   —

         49,281 
  

Total current assets  
   225,141 

   897,433 
   (455,667 )  

      666,907 
  

Property and equipment, net  
   905,465 

   394,814 
   —

         1,300,279 
  

Goodwill  
   863,458 

   —
   —

         863,458 
  

Intangible assets, net  
   172,108 

   185,796 
   13,500 

   (l)  
   371,404 

  

Deferred tax asset—long-term  
   14,893 

   —
   —

         14,893 
  

Other noncurrent assets  
   16,416 

   1,718 
   —

         18,134 
  

Total Assets  
   $ 2,197,481 

   $ 1,479,761 
   $ (442,167 )  

      $ 3,235,075 
  

LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS ’  EQUITY:  
                            

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  
   $ 95,932 

   $ 390,188 
   $ —

         $ 486,120 
  

Accounts payable affiliates  
   3,112 

   140,900 
   (66,291 )  (k)  

   77,721 
  

Current maturities of long-term debt  
   13,757 

   —
   —

         13,757 
  

Other current liabilities  
   41,881 

   —
   —

         41,881 
  

Total current liabilities  
   154,682 

   531,088 
   (66,291 )  

      619,479 
  

Revolving line of credit  
   683,378 

   —
   (11,500 )  (m)  

   671,878 
  

Long term debt  
   173,383 

   —
   800,000 

   (n)  
   973,383 

  

Other noncurrent liabilities  
   49,306 

   1,756 
   —

         51,062 
  

Total Liabilities  
   1,060,749 

   532,844 
   722,209 

         2,315,802 
  

Noncontrolling interest  
   (5,644 )  —

   381,466 
   (o)  

   375,822 
  

Partners’ equity  
   1,142,376 

   946,917 
   (1,545,842 )  (p)  

   543,451 
  

Total Liabilities and Partners’  Equity  
   $ 2,197,481 

   $ 1,479,761 
   $ (442,167 )  

      $ 3,235,075 
  



   
SUNOCO LP  

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF  OPERATIONS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014  

(Dollars in thousands)  
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      Historical  
   Pro Forma Adjustments  

         

Pro Forma  
Combined,  

Before  
Sunoco LLC  

   Historical  
   

Pro Forma  
Adjustments  

         

Pro Forma  
Combined,  

After  
Sunoco LLC  

   
      SUN  

   MACS (a)  
   Aloha (b)  

   Adjustments  
         Transaction  

   Sunoco, LLC  
   Sunoco, LLC  

         Acquisition  
   

Revenues:  
                                                       

Merchandise sales  
   $  52,275 

   $  88,616 
   $  47,084 

              $  187,975 
   $  —

   $  —
         $  187,975 

   
Motor fuel sales—third parties  

   2,216,665 
   1,006,520 

   620,633 
   (48,958 )  (c)  

   3,794,860 
   14,067,955 

   (1,389,265 )  (q) 
   16,473,550 

   
Motor fuel sales—affiliated  

   3,074,236 
   —

   —
              3,074,236 

   3,232,383 
   (325,877 )  (q) 

   5,980,742 
   

Other Income  
   38,840 

   16,319 
   20,042 

              75,201 
   40,721 

   —
         115,922 

   
Total revenues  

   5,382,016 
   1,111,455 

   687,759 
   (48,958 )  

      7,132,272 
   17,341,059 

   (1,715,142 )  
      22,758,189 

   
Cost of Sales:  

                                                       
Merchandise  

   38,820 
   64,234 

   34,292 
              137,346 

   —
   —

         137,346 
   

Motor fuel  
   5,163,628 

   950,958 
   557,684 

   (48,958 )  (c)  
   6,623,312 

   17,044,158 
   (1,715,142 )  (q) 

   21,952,328 
   

Other  
   3,642 

   —
   1,576 

              5,218 
   —

   —
         5,218 

   
Total Cost of Sales  

   5,206,090 
   1,015,192 

   593,552 
   (48,958 )  

      6,765,876 
   17,044,158 

   (1,715,142 )  
      22,094,892 

   
Gross Profit  

   175,926 
   96,263 

   94,207 
   —

         366,396 
   296,901 

   —
         663,297 

   
Operating Expenses:  

                                                       
Selling, general and administrative  

   71,873 
   37,965 

   64,827 
              174,665 

   167,210 
   —

         341,875 
   

Loss (gain) on disposal of assets and 
impairment charge  

   2,631 
   295 

   241 
              3,167 

   (2,450 )  —
         717 

   
Depreciation, amortization and 

accretion  
   26,955 

   20,536 
   9,772 

   204 
   (d) 

   57,467 
   50,547 

   —
         108,014 

   
Acquisition transaction costs  

   —
   —

   523 
   (523 )  (d) 

   —
   —

   —
         —

   
Total operating expenses  

   101,459 
   58,796 

   75,363 
   (319 )  

      235,299 
   215,307 

   —
         450,606 

   
Income from operations  

   74,467 
   37,467 

   18,844 
   319 

         131,097 
   81,594 

   —
         212,691 

   
Other income (expense):  

                                                       
Interest expense, net  

   (14,329 )  (6,802 )  (2,696 )  (2,181 )  (e)  
   (28,306 )  —

   (1,688 )  (l)  
   (77,452 )  

                     2,696 
   (f)  

             542 
   (m) 

        
                     (4,994 )  (g) 

             (48,000 )  (n) 
        

Other miscellaneous  
   —

   —
   134 

              134 
   —

   —
         134 

   
Total other income (expense)  

   (14,329 )  (6,802 )  (2,562 )  (4,479 )  
      (28,172 )  —

   (49,146 )  
      (77,318 )  

Income before income tax  
   60,138 

   30,665 
   16,282 

   (4,160 )  
      102,925 

   81,594 
   (49,146 )  

      135,373 
   

Income tax (expense) benefit  
   (2,352 )  (0 )  (6,607 )  (3,199 )  (h) 

   (12,158 )  (44,862 )  44,862 
   (r)  

   (12,158 )  
Net Income  

   57,786 
   30,665 

   9,675 
   (7,359 )  

      90,767 
   36,732 

   (4,284 )  
      123,215 

   
Less: Net income attributable to 

noncontrolling interest  
   (1,043 )  (2,086 )  —

   —
         (3,129 )  —

   (55,826 )  (o)  
   (58,955 )  

Net income attributable to Sunoco LP  
   $  56,743 

   $  28,579 
   $  9,675 

   $  (7,359 )  
      $  87,638 

   $  36,732 
   $  (60,110 )  

      $  64,260 
   

Net income per limited partner unit:  
                                                       

Common—basic  
   $  1.96 

                        $  2.29 
                   $  1.59 

   
Common—diluted  

   $  1.96 
                        $  2.29 

                   $  1.58 
   

Subordinated—(basic and diluted)  
   $  1.96 

                        $  2.29 
                   $  1.59 

   
Weighted average limited partner units 

outstanding (diluted):  
                                                       

Common units—basic  
   14,206,536 

             9,872,520 
   (i)  

   24,079,056 
        795,482 

   (s)  
   24,874,538 

   
Common units—equivalents  

   17,112 
                        17,112 

                   17,112 
   

Common units—diluted  
   14,223,648 

             9,872,520 
   (i)  

   24,096,168 
        795,482 

         24,891,650 
   

Subordinated units  
   10,939,436 

                        10,939,436 
                   10,939,436 

   



   
SUNOCO LP  

   
NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED FINANCIAL STA TEMENTS  

   
As previously presented in our Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on March 2, 2015, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined 

statement of operations presented above gives effect to the MACS Acquisition and the Aloha Acquisition as if all of these transactions had 
been consummated as of January 1, 2014.  

   
(a)                                  To reflect the addition of MACS operating results for the eight months ended August 31, 2014. These amounts reflect the unaudited 

results for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, reduced by the results for the month of September 2014 which has already been 
reflected in our audited results of operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2014. We previously filed audited financial 
statements for MACS in our Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on October 21, 2014. Additional information regarding the MACS 
Acquisition may be found in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2015.  

   
(b)                                  To reflect the operating results for Aloha for the 11.5 months ended December 15, 2014. These amounts reflect the unaudited results 

for the nine months ended September 30, 2014, included as Exhibit 99.2 in our Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on March 2, 2015, 
plus Aloha’s results of operations for the period October 1, 2014 through December 15, 2014. Aloha’s results for the period 
December 16, 2014 through December 31, 2014 are included in SUN’s 2014 results. We previously filed audited financial statements 
for Aloha in our Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on October 21, 2014. Additional information regarding the Aloha Acquisition 
may be found in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Form 10-K filed on February 27, 2015.  

   
(c)                                   To conform the Aloha accounting policies for the presentation of motor fuel taxes as gross in motor fuel sales and motor fuel cost of 

sales, to SUN’s accounting policy to present wholesale motor fuel taxes net in motor fuel sales and motor fuel cost of sales.  
   
(d)                                  To reflect the acquisition of Aloha by Propco to include the amortization on the estimated fair value of the trade name over 15 years, 

and elimination of non-recurring acquisition expenses.  
   
(e)                                   To reflect interest expense on the $150.8 million draw on our revolving credit facility required in excess of equity issuance net 

proceeds to finance the cash payment made to ETP for the acquisition of MACS. Interest on the revolving credit facility is calculated 
to reflect 8 months of interest based on a variable rate. The borrowing rate as of February 27, 2014 of 2.2% is assumed for the entire 
period presented.  

   
(f)                                    To remove historical interest expense related to Aloha’s $32.2 million of debt that was repaid concurrent with the closing of the 

Aloha Acquisition.  
   
(g)                                   To reflect interest expense on the funding of Aloha Acquisition with a $240 million draw on our revolving credit facility. Assumed 

interest rate of 2.2%, reflecting our 30-day LIBOR borrowing cost as of February 27, 2014, resulting in annual pro forma interest 
expense of $5.0 million. A 0.125% change in the interest rate would impact annual interest expense by $0.3 million.  

   
(h)                                  To reflect the estimated income tax provision for the portion of MACS operations that is included in Propco’s results of operations, at 

an estimated combined federal and state statutory tax rate of 39.6%.  
   
(i)                                      To adjust the weighted average common units outstanding for the issuance of approximately 4.0 million units to ETP in 

October 2014, and the issuance of a total of approximately 9.1 million units to the public in October and November 2014, as if they 
had been issued on January 1, 2014 for purposes of calculating pro forma earnings per unit.  

   
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements presented above further gives effect to the Sunoco LLC 

Acquisition as if this transaction had been consummated as of January 1, 2014 for the unaudited pro forma condensed statement of operations, 
and as of December 31, 2014 for the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet.  
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(k)                                  To eliminate $66.3 million intercompany accounts receivable and payable between Sunoco LP and Sunoco LLC, and to adjust 

advances to affiliated companies to reflect cash deemed distributed to parent on formation and actually distributed subsequent to 
formation.  

   
(l)                                      To reflect an estimated $13.5 million loan issuance expenses related to the new senior notes to be recorded as an intangible asset with 

an eight year amortization, and $1.7 million amortization expense included in non-cash interest expense.  
   
(m)                              To reflect a partial paydown of the revolving credit facility with proceeds of the senior notes offering in excess of cash required for 

the Sunoco LLC Acquisition, including $13.5 million estimated loan issuance expenses. The related reduction in interest expense 
assumes the rate as of March 13, 2015 of 2.2% for the entire period.  

   
(n)                                  To reflect the issuance of $800.0 million senior notes. Cash interest expense is estimated assuming the notes are issued at par and at a 

6.0% coupon. A .0125% change in the interest rate would impact annual interest expense by $1.0 million.  
   
(o)                                  To reflect the 68.42% non-controlling interest in Sunoco, LLC.  
   
(p)                                  To reflect the acquisition of Sunoco, LLC from ETP. The net adjustment to partners’ equity is comprised of the following 

adjustments (in millions):  
   

   
(q)                                  To conform the Sunoco, LLC accounting policies for the presentation of motor fuel taxes as gross in motor fuel sales and motor fuel 

cost of sales, to SUN’s accounting policy to present wholesale motor fuel taxes net in motor fuel sales and motor fuel cost of sales.  
   
(r)                                     To eliminate income tax expense prior to June 1, 2014, at which time Sunoco LLC was formed and ceased being a taxable entity.  
   
(s)                                    To reflect the issuance of an estimated 0.8 million common units to ETP.  
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Eliminate historic partners’  equity  
   $ (946.9 ) 

Issuance of units in exchange for 31.58% net assets acquired  
   176.1 

   
Deemed distribution  

   (775.0 ) 
Net adjustment to partners’ equity  

   $ (1,545.8 ) 


